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CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE VICTIMS IN THE
__COURTS

WEDNESDAY, MAY 2, 1984

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE,

COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:38 a.m., in room
SD-226, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Arlen Specter (chair-
man of the subcommittee) presiding.

Staff present: Mary Louise Westmoreland, chief counsel and staff
director; Mike Wootten, staff counsel (full committee); Scott Wal-
lace, counsel; and Tracy McGee, chief clerk .

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. ARLEN SPECTER, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA, CHAIRMAN, SUBCOM-
MITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE
Senator SPECTER. This session of the Juvenile Justice Subcommit-

tee of the Judiciary Committee will now begin.
We have delayed the start of the proceedings for just a moment

or two, so that we could clear up some ground rules. We are going
to be having testimony from two women about allegations of sexual
abuse involving their children. The request has been made by these
women who will testify that they not be photographed full-face, or
face at all. They will be identified as Mrs. Jones and Mrs. Smith, to
protect their identities, although tl.e testimony that they will give
will be real, and their statements of what has happened in their
family lives.

Similarly, the request has been made of the still photographers
that face pictures not be taken. These are requests; these are not
orders. This subcommittee does not have the authority to make any
directions or any orders, but to the extent that the media will coop-
erate with that, the subcommittee will appreciate it, and the
women will appreciate it.

The subject matter of this hearing is sexual abuse of children,
and it is a second hearing in a current series, and one of many,
which the Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice has held over the
course of the past 31/2 years.

The scope of this testimony today will be to examine some prob-
lems which have only recently come to light in the kind of volume
which will be testified about here today. They involve allegations of
sexual abuse by parents or stepparents of children, in rather stark,
and rather dramatic, and rather amazing terms.

(1)



It is a problem which has largely been swept under the rug and
has not been discussed and has not been analyzed. Only recently, it
has come to he written about in an extensive matter.

Today, one of our witnesses will be Judge Younger from the Su-
perior Court in Pomona, ('alit., who will testify about a case where
a 1 -year-old individual, Robert Moody, was convicted of voluntary
manslaughter after killing his father, because, as the defendant
said, the father had sexually abused the father's daughters, had
beat his sons, and had forced his wife into prostitution. The result
of that case was an unusual probationary period, with the require-
ment for 2 years in public service, doing construction work at refu-
gee camps in Hong Kong.

A second case which we will consider today will be through the
testimony 3f Deputy District Attorney Ken Kobrin, of Salina
County, CA. on a very unusual case where a 12-year-old girl com-
plained of sexual abuse by a stepfather who was a doctor, and then
declined to testify,, fearing that her story would further hurt the
family, and silt was fearful of testifying in a roomful of strangers.
When the child refused to testify, she was held in contempt and
held in custody for S days, so that the unusual result occurred that
the victim/witness was incarcerated. Eventually the case was
dropped. We are going to be hearing from Deputy District Attorney
Kobrin on that subject.

We are going to be hearing from two mothers in unusual settings
where. in circumstances arising out of custody disputes, the allega-
tions have been madeand I call them allegations not because I
disbelieve them, but not that I do believe them, because these are
things we have to hearwhere the fathers, under visitation rights,
are alleged to have sexually abused the children. There is substan-
tial corroborating evidence about the physical condition of a young
woman-child to corroborate what she has said.

One official from D.C. Children's Hospital Sexual Abuse Program
has recently reported that he has dealt with about a dozen such
cases in the last ti months. The chief of pediatrics at Baltimore's
Lutheran Hospital and chairman of the Governor's Task Force on
Child Abuse of Maryland has complained that the courts in that
jurisdiction, which handle divorce and related issues, like custody
matters. have virtually ignored the abuse issue in their treatment
of these cases.

They represent extremely strong charges; if true, or partially
true, outrageous conduct. The real question is what is to be done
about them. An attorney who is representing one of the mothers
will he questioned about the current disclosure of such matters, as
to whether this is a recent phenomenon, whether it has been going
on 14 a long time, or just what the situation is or may be.

I know that from my own experience as a prosecuting attorney
in Philadelphia in the sixties and early seventies, that while I
heard shout just about everything under the Sun, not all of which
could be proved, this kind of conduct was not a matter which was
reported.

It seems doubtful if anything is really totally new, but there may
be an iSSU as to why these matters are coming into prominence at
this time, but there is no doubt that there is a widespread problem,
that it ought not to be swept under the rug, that it ought to be
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seen for %vim' it is, awl corrective action taken, perhaps through
the funding ellOrts of the Office ()I' Juvenile Justice and Delinquen-
cy Prevention.

With that inn:Auction, I would like to call a witness whom we
will identify as Mrs. Smith. I would like to ask her attorney,
Donald Bersoff, Esq., to accompany her to the witness table.

Mrs. Smith, as I understand it, it is your preference that you not
be photographed'?

Mrs. Swat. Yes, it is.
Senator St lx-rmt. All right. We appreciate your coming, Mrs.

Smith. We know that this is not an easy matter, but we believe,
after having conducted an investigation of the matter preliminar-
ily, that you have important testimony which ought to be heard.

Please proceed at this time to tell us just what your situation is
and what happened to your children.

STATEMENT OF MRS. SMITH. ACCOMPANIED BY DR. DOvAI,D N.
BERSOFF, ATTORNEY, ENNIS, FRIEI)MAN. BERSOFP & EWING.
WASHINGTON, I)('

Mrs. Swill. Thank you.
I appreciate this opportunity to speak to you today about the

sexual abuse of children by their noncustodial parents during visi-
tation periods.

For over 1 year now, my efforts to protect my daughters have
left me totally frustrated and angry. I have been separated from
my husband since December 30, 1952, and prior to our separation,
he was verbally abusive and physically violent toward the children
and me. In the 2 months prior to his leaving the house, he picked
up my older daughter and threatened to kill her, and he knocked
out my younger daughter, who repeatedly blacks out since that in-
cident.

Senator SPErrEti. What are the ages of your two daughters?
Mrs. SMITH. My children are at this time 3 years old and 4 years

old.
When my husband left the house, the children were 11/2 and 3.
Senator SPECTER. And your husband left the house when, again?
Mrs. SMITH. In December 1952, December 30.
Senator SPECTER. December 1952.
Mrs. SMITH. That is correct.
Senator SPECTER. You may proceed.
Mrs. SMITH. 1 turned to the legal system for help. I sought legal

counsel to obtain supervised visitation, and I was advised at that
time that the courts would not consider this motion because or the
divorce. No one bothered to consider what was in the best interest
ol'the children.

Mommy, please make daddy stop hurting me, is a cry that I
cannot ignore, just as I could not ignore the fact that my children
all of a sudden were becoming withdrawn, they were reverting to
fetal positions. they were afraid, they were crying, and clinging,
they were having urinary problems, and nightmares. I had an inci-
dent where my older daughter, upon hearing the word, "Daddy,"
picked up a pen and stabbed through two kitchen chairs. And this
is when she was 3 years old. That is a lot of anger in a little child.

0
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The children were hitting dolls, and they were violently refusing
to go with their lather. They were screaming.

My 3-year-old daughter required prescription vaginal soaks after
each visitation with her father, ana my 2-year-old daughter could
not move her legs after a visit with her father.

Senator SPECTER. What physical signs, if any, did you observe
which led to those vaginal soaks, as you have described them?

Mrs. SMITH. I noticed that my daughter would come home, and
her vagina was red and swollen. She was unable to urinate for up
to a 24-hour period and then urination was painful.

Senator SPECTER. How old was she at the time?
Mrs. SMITH. She WE.3 3 years old.
Senator SPECTER. And how frequently did that occur?
Mrs. SMITH. This occurred every visitation that she had with her

father.
Senator SPECTER. And what did you do for that problem?
Mrs. SMITH. I consulted a pediatrician. Of course, she was seeing

one regularly. He prescribed vaginal soaks for her. So that every
time that child came home from a visitation, she was required to
have 20-minute soaks three times a day in a bathtub.

Senator Sexrri.:x. Was there any statement made by your daugh-
ter as to the cause?

Mrs. SMITH. No; there wasn't. And that is one of the problems. I
kept askingmy children kept telling me: "Daddy is hitting me,
Daddy is hurting me. Make Daddy stop."

And I would say: "Tell me what Daddy is doing." And the chil-
dren would become totally silent. They would become totally with-
drawn.

I was told that fathers are allowed to hit their children.
I was told that the court would just label this problem as that of

another woman trying to get even with her estranged husband.
No court will listen to you.
And unfortunately, I found that is true. The courts will not

listen to me or my children, or to the expert medical witnesses I
have to back up the alleged sexual abuse of two very minor chil-
dren.

On October 29, 1983. my oldest daugher disclosed to me what her
father was doing to her. This was the first time she had come home
that I had asked her to: "Show me what Daddy is doing to you,"
rather than saying to her: "Tell me what Daddy is doing to you."

My daughter walked in from a visitation. She could not stand up
straight. She was doubled over. She was rolling back and forth on
the floor. She could not urinate, and she was lying there, writhing
in pain, saying: "Daddy hit me, Daddy hurt me.

I said: "Where did Daddy hit you ?"
She said: "Daddy hit my sissy. '
I said: "That is very hard to do. Would you show Mommy how

somebody could hit your sissy?"at which point, my daughter
showed me. She lay back and she spread her legs apart, and she
took her linger and she showed me exactly how Daddy was hitting
her.

Senator SPECTER. And what did she show you?
Mrs. SMITH. She took her finger and she began rubbing up and

down on her vagina. And then she just started screaming.



The children have had a terrible problem disclosing what has
happened. It has come out that they have been threatened that if
they talk, Mo.:ny will be taken away, Mommy will be killed, they
will be physically hurt, Daddy will come and get them at night
when they are alone in their roomsthe threats are just unbeliev-
able. It is emotional abuse that is impossible for a child.

Senator SPECTER. Did the children complain to you of specific
threats by their father?

Mrs. SMITH. Since October 29, the children have definitely com-
plained of specific threats. Until that point, all they could get out
was: "Daddy is hitting me, Daddy is hurting me. Make Daddy
stop." And then they would sort of gasp and say: "I can't talk."

Senator SPECTER. Now, as a result of that report, what action, if
any, did you take?

Mrs. SMITH. As a result of thatwell, first of all, I was unable to
take any action at the time, because I was advised by my former
attorney that if I reported this incident, it would be totally ignored;
I would be, again, another woman in a divorce situation, making
an accusation against the man.

I would like, at this time, to clarify the point that Dr. Donald
Bersoff became my attorney in this sexual-abuse issue on March
16, 1984, which was 5 months after this disclosure was made.

My children were being seen at the time in treatment by a coun-
selor, because I was having so many problems with visitation I did
not know what to do.

Senator SPECTER. Did you tell the attorney about the corroborat-
ing evidence that you had, about the physical swelling and the
trips to the doctor?

Mrs. SMITH. Yes; I did. Unfortunately, the doctor did not list
these in the correct way. He would list: "Trouble urinating; urine
culture." There were throat cultures. We had constant urine cul-
tures and constant throat cultures, constant problem urinating.

Senator SPECTER. Did your attorney talk to the doctor?
Mrs. SMITH. No; he did not.
Senator SPECTER. Did you accept your attorney's advice?
Mrs. SMITH. No; I did not accept my attorney's advice.
Senator SPECTER. What happened next?
Mrs. SMITH. I started going from person to person, trying to get

help. I took my children to the counselor that they were seeing. My
daughter pointed out on a doll, with her finger, to the counselor,
what was being done, pushing her finger between the doll's legs,
back and forth. That counselor reported this to Protective Services
of Montgomery County. Montgomery County Protective Services
came out to the house two times on the day it was reported and on
the next day to talk to the childrenwho were terrified at that
point and did nothing. They withdrew totally. And rather than con-
tinue seeing them, trying to get a relationship with them so they
would talk, they just stopped.

I was brought into the circuit court before Master James Ryan
on December 7 because my husband had requested specified visita-
tion rights. I had stopped visitation rights altogether as of October
29. I had no court-acceptable evidence to present, and therefore, I
was forced to agree to visitation.

1U



Senator Sem-rmi. Did you tell the master about what had oc-
curred to your daughters?

Mrs. SNIITH. I was not allowed to do that. I was advised by my
attorney and by protective services and by the counselor that I was
seeing that I had no evidence that I could present, and therefore, I
could not make those allegations.

Senator SPECTER. You accepted that advice?
Mrs. SMITH. No; I did not. When the master asked me to agree to

visitation, I hesitated. And at that point, the master told me that if
I did not agree to this visitation, I would not like his decision.

Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Smith, it sounds surprising to me that
anyone could conclude that you did not have evidence. You had
your observations. You had the children's statements to you. You
had the physical corroboration. But you are saying that those who
were counseling you discouraged you from bringing this matter to
the attention of the master.

Mrs. SMITH. That is correct. I was told that mother's words don't
count for anything.

Senator Se Emi. That was because you were in a divorce contest
with your husband, and the issue was custody and visitation.
'Therefore, the credibility was not sufficient even to bring that to
the master's attention?

Mrs. SMITH. That is absolutely correct. That is just what I was
told. And nobody seemed to care about the fact that my children
were in danger, my children were being sexually abused. I did not
understand how this was even a custody issue at this point. It
seems to me the safety of little children is involved here. It has
nothing to do with custody. Unfortunately, in the law, it does.

Senator SPECTF:R. Well, there is a great deal more than any of
that involved. There is the question of criminal conduct involved.
That kind of conduct, if true, states a crime, and a very serious
crime.

Mrs. SMITH. Oh, well, further down the line, I have had contact
with what the criminal system will do about this, also.

Senator SPECTER. All right. Proceed, and tell us what happened.
Mrs. SMITH. On December 16, I submitted a petition to the court

to terminate the visitation rights of the father, with a letter from
the psychiatrist to whom my daughter had disclosed information.
To date, that petition has not been heard. And frankly, the only
continent I have gotten about that from everyone, including the
masters. is: "This has never been done in the State of Maryland"
terminating a father's rights. And if it has never been done, it is
time it was done.

Senator cl,.Errp:ti. Do you mean terminating a father's visitation
rights on these grounds?

Mrs. SMITH. On grounds of sexual abuse, that is correct. They
claim that no father's visitation rights have ever been terminated.

Then, on .January 26, I was again in the circuit court. This time,
I was charged with contempt for refusing visitation. I was again
seen in front of Master James Ryan. He found me not guilty of con-
tempt: however. he ordered visitation, and he ordered visitation
with the abuser's mother or sister to be presentwhich is not ade-
quate protection for any child who is being sexually and emotional-
ly abused. You are talking about possibly the only two people in



the world who will never realize or never think that a man would
do something like this his mother and his sister. They would
never adequately protect my children.

And no one took into consideration the fact that my children
were terribly emotionally abused, and they are unable to handle
visitation at this point.

The next day, I was in juvenile court in an action brought by
protective services. We were seen by a judge who listened to testi-
mony very shortly, briefly, from the psychiatrist who had seen the
girls, and he terminated the father's visitation for 30 days or until
an adjudication hearing.

Senator SPECTER. At this time, protective services was advancing
the evidence about the abuse that you have already testified to?

Mrs. Smme. That is correctwell, no testimony had been
brought in the circuit court yet about abuse. That has not been al-
lowed to date into the circuit court.

nator SPECTER. But protective servie.e had raised the issue
the evidence was present, if the court would hear it?

Mrs. Smmt. That is correct.
On February 14. I was brought back into the circuit court in

Montgomery County, again in front of Master James Ryan, again
charged with contempt for refusing visitation. 1 was found not
guilty. Ilowever, visitation was ordered. And how a master can find
that I am not guilty of believing my children are being sexually
abused and then order them out with the abuser is just beyond me.

However, I was also charged with court costs and legal fees at
that hearing.

On February 22, we went back into juvenile court, and this was
the scheduled ac;udication hearing. At that hearing, my husband
stood up, and he appealed on a technicality that this would be
changing a law from the circuit court concerning custody. The
judge had the opportunity to accept this appeal or not accept it. He
accepted the appeal, and therefore, no hearing took place. And
now, we are awaiting a hearing in the special court of appeals in
Maryland.

Senator SPECTER. What was the issue then before the juvenile
court? It was not the visitation rights, there?

Mrs. SMITH. Well, yes, it was the visitation rights, and this was
the adjudicatii hearing for evidence to be presented on sexual
abuse. Protective Services brought them in as children in need of
assistance.

Senator SPECTER. Well, Dr. Bersoff, perhaps you can clear that
up. Were there two courts involved here'?

Dr. BERsoir. Yes. It ended up being a jurisdictional dispute.
Senator Sektmt. And the first court had the issue of visitation

rights.
Dr. BEksoiev. That is right, and the domestic relations litigation,

genera I ly.
Senator Sekrrkk. On the divorce issue.
Dr. BEIM /FF. On the divorce issue. which involved. of course, cus-

tody and visitation.
Senator And the second court, the juvenile court, had

what issue?
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Dr. limis(wr. Well, there was a petition in the juvenile court to
declare the children "in reed of assistance." The court agreed that,
in fact, they were in need of assistance. They kept physical custody
with my client and issued a no contact order for 30 days, that is,
that the father could not visit for 30 days. But then, what hap-
pened was a jurisdictional dispute between the circuit court and
the juvenile court of Montgomery County, and eventually, the juve-
nile court decided to give way to jurisdiction to the circuit court.

So there is still a question, however, in situatiGno like this, of
who has primary jurisdiction. .At this point, at least, it appears as
if the circuit court does, the one that is handling the domestic rela-
tions litigation, so that eventuaDy, that 30-day no contact order
was dissolved. And right now, the (Ally entity that has jurisdiction
and is making orders is the domesti; relations court in Montgom-
ery County.

Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Smith, would you proceed, please?
Mrs. SMITH. Yes.
On March 20, we were back again in the circuit court, again in

front of Master Ryan, and again I was charged with contempt for
refusing visitation. This time, I was found guilty. I was ordered
intc detention for 10 days. Visitation was ordered, and I was
charged with legal fees and court costs.

Senator SPErrytt. But you did not serve the detention?
Mrs. SMITH. No, I did not serve the detention yet. That is still

coming up.
Senator SPECTER. Is it still an outstanding order?
Mrs. SMITH. Oh, yes, it is.
Dr. BERSOFF. The master has the right to order visitation, but he

does not have the right to issue a contempt order. He can only
make a proposed recommendation as to contempt.

Senator SPECTER. So the court has not yet ruled on the master's
recommendation for a contempt citation with 10 days in jail.

Dr. BERSOF. That is correct. We filud a motion to hear this case
anew in the trial court, essentially, asking for a review and appeal
of the master's order, and that is still outstanding.

Mrs. SMITH. Two days after that court procedure, my oldest
daughter disclosed to the police on tape. On April 24, last week, we
had two more hearings in circuit court. In the morning, Dr. Bersoff
brought a motion to remove Elizabeth Tennerly, the guardian ad
litem for the children. This was brought in front of a judge. The
judge did not even listen to Dr. Bersofrs pleadings. He denied the
removal of this attorney, and again, he ordered me to pay court
costs.

In the afternoon, I was in front of Master James Ryan again, be-
cause the father has requested more visitation with the children
and a reduction of support payments. Master Ryan has ruled that
visitation continue, that he is to have an additional 3 hours with
the children during the week, and child support payments from the
father have been terminated.

The courts have to date failed to protect my children. We live in
a constan, crisis situation. We under the threat of this man
coming every week to take these children out for visitation.

Senator SPECTER. Is he still coming to take them out for visita-
tion?

3
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Mrs. SMITH. IIe has yet to come to the house and actually try,
since December 11. However, he calls every week, and I do live
under the threat of him coming.

Senator SPECTER. But he has a right, as of this time, to come
each week for visitation.

Mrs. SMITH. He has a right, that is correct. And, even though he
never came to the house and attempted to take the children out, he
has still been able to charge me with contempt for refusing visita-
tion.

I have been told before each court date, except the last one, on
April 24, 1984, exactly what the outcome of the trial will be. I ques-
tion how a court can legally decide a pleading before evidence is
presented. I have not yet been allowed to present evidence into
court concerning the allegea abuse.

I feel that my children and I have been denied due process of
law. The State's attorney refuses to bring criminal charges against
my husband in spite of the overwhelming evidence available to
him.

Senator SPECTER. Have you filed criminal charges ?
Mrs. SMITH. I am not allowed to file criminal charges in Mary-

land. This must be done by the State's attorney.
Senator SPECTER. Well, you have filed a complaint with your

State's attorney.
Mrs. SMITH. Well, yes, this has been brought, and the State's at-

torney has on tape a disclosure from my daughter.
Senator SPECTER. What is the status of that complaint?
Mrs. SMITH. The State's attorney Mr. Barry Hamilton, told me

that he is not going Lo prosecute this man criminally, because after
all, we are talking about a 4-year-old child and a 2-year-old child,
and they could never be legally competent witnesses. And he told
someone else that he is absolutely not going to do this, because it
has never been done in Montgomery County, and it certainly has
never been done to a white-collar workerwhich is not very com-
forting to me or my daughters.

Senator SPECTER. Dr. Bersoff, have you had contact with the
public prosecutor?

Dr. BERSOFF. The State's attorney, yes; we have, indicating that
we have reports from protective services, from a psychiatrist and a
psychologist, both of whom have evaluated the children. And essen-
tially, what my client reports is what the State's attorney said,
that no court in Maryland has ever heard a 4 year-old, and no
court will, and when a father is denying these charges, it would be
a waste of time to take this to a jury, and using his prosecutorial
discretion, has decided, at least at this point, not to do soeven in-
cluding the fact that there is a statement made by one of the chil-
dren on an audiotape to a female police officer, talking relatively
explicitly about what she believes her father has done. But even
with all of that evidence, the State's attorney to this point has re-
fused to file criminal charges or consider doing so.

Senator SPECTER. Proceed. please, Mrs. Smith.
Mrs. SMITH. Thank you.
This case has been closed and sealed, supposedly to protect the

children. I did not ask for this to be done. The alleged abuser asked
for this to be done. And in reality, all it has done is to protect the
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abuser. It has prevented us from speaking up and from getting
help.

My children need protection, and all children need protection.
And I am thankful that this subcommittee believes it is important
to help the children who are the tragic victims of sexual abuse.

Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. So what you are saying is that up to this

moment, you have not been permitted in any court to present the
evidence by the children on the charges of sexual abuse.

Mrs. Snirrit. That is correct.
Senator SPECTER. And the visitation rights continue until this

moment, although your husband has not sought to exercise them
since December 1983.

Mrs. SMITH. That is correct.
Senator SPECTER. And that his obligation to support his daugh-

ters under Maryland law has been suspended.
Mrs. SMITH. That is correct.
Senator SPECTER. And why was that done? Regardless of the con-

troversy between a husband and wife, the obligation to support the
children continues.

Mrs. SMITH. Well, the father lost his job, accepted another job for
quite a lot less money than he is capable of earning, and he has
gone into the courts and said, "This is all I can earn." And his
actual request to the court was that he need only pay $400 a month
in total for support of the children.

Senator SPECTER. Well, was that granted, and if so.
Mrs. SMITH. No, that was not granted. He is still to pay the mort-

gage on the house and the insurance and whatever he was ordered
to pay.

Senator SPECTER. So he does have some continuing obligations to
support.

Mrs. SMITH. Yes, he does. But in actual fact, the only money that
I received a month coming into the house was the $300 cash that
he was ordered to pay in support of the children.

Senator SPECTER. I do not understand. Is the order in effect that
he will pay some dollars for the children's support?

Mrs. SMITH. The master just ruled that he is not responsible for
paying that at this point in time.

Senator SPECTER. So, does he have any obligation to pay anything
toward their support now?

Mrs. SMITH. Well, if you consider where they are living, the
mortgage on the house, yes.

Senator SPECTER. The mortgage, but that is all?
Mrs. SMITH. He is obligated to pay that, but of course, he has not

pail that as of last month. He told- me that he would not do that.
And I am now waiting to be evicted from my house, which I am
sure will happen shortly. He is to be paying medical bills for the
children, but I have $1,600 worth of back medical bills that have
not been paid. He is to be paying all insurance on the house, but I
have had to borrow money to pay for certain insurances. He is to
pay the water, which he has paid, and he is to pay the electric bill,
which to date, he has paid.

Senator SPECTER. All right. Thank you very much, Mrs. Smith.
1)r. Bersoff, you are a psychologist as well as an attorney.

15,
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Dr. lipatsoFto. Yes, 1 am.
Senator Se EcrEa. And you have, as I understand it, substantial

experience in the overall issue of abuse of children, as well as
being a practicing attorney.

Dr. BERSOFF. That is correct.
Senator SPECTER. Would you outline briefly your qualifications in

that regard?

STATEMENT OF UK. DONALD N. BERSOFF

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, I received my doctorate in psychology about
24) years ago, and have specialized in families, children, and school
psychology, and have done assessment with children and families.
About a dozen years ago, I decided to try to combine my interest in
the legal aspects of psychology. I went to law school and have been
practicing as an attorney for the last 8 or 9 years.

Senator SPECTER. Dr. Bersoff, before moving to your generalized
observations on this subject, what is happening in this case? Why
can't Mrs. Smith get somebody to hear the evidence of child abuse?
It seems incredible to me. A 4-year-old person may be competent
under some circumstances. Have you presented any authority to
the district attorney as to the law on competency?

Dr. BERSOFF. I think the district attorney knows the general prin-
ciples, does not believe that the general principles can be imple-
mented.

One of the basic problems in this case- -
Senator SPECTER. But there is authority for a 4 year-old testify-

i ng.
Dr. BERSOFF. That is exactly right. In fact, I gave him a citation

to a New Jersey case of a 4-year-old who is the sole witness and
victim to sodomy, and that 4-year-old was allowed to testify. The
principle with regard to testifying is whether children have suffi-
cient intelligence and ability to give reliable and relevant testimo-
ny that could be of assistance to the court. And I believe, on the
basis of my knowledge as a psychologist, and also my experience as
an attorney, that young children in fact can give accurate descrip-
tions of what they have experienced, if the questions that they are
asked are direct, simple, and framed in the language of the child.

Senator SPECTER. Have you interviewed these children?
Dr. BERSOFF. I have seen the children, and of course, I have been

involved with representing children in custody disputes before.
Senator SPECTER. What is your legal judgment as to the compe-

tency of these children to testify?
Dr. BERSOFF. Well, I think that based on what they have said to

others, what others have reported to me, and what I have seen
myself, that these children could be competent witnesses. The diffi-
culty is getting these children heard.

But it is not on'y the courts' naivete about child development
that is preventing the evidence being presented. In Maryland,
under a recent decision, children who are involved in custody dis-
putes, in which they have seen mental health professionals, must
hove an attorney appointed for them as the guardian ad litem. And
for some reason, which I cannot fathom, but which the courts seem
to accept, the children's lawyer in this case, who has never seen

16
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the children and never interviewed the children, has decided that
she will not waive for the children the psychologist/psychiatrist pa-
tient privilege. So, since these children have made statements to a
psychiatrista very experienced and sophisticated and sensitive
psychiatristand to a psychologist at Children's Hospital in the
Sex Abuse Unit, about this material, the guardian ad litem has
said that she will not allow the testimony to come in in order to
protect the children's therapist-patient privilege.

Senator SPECTER. Well, is there a requirement that the psycholo-
gist and psychiatrist be available to testify in order to have the
children competent as witnesses?

Dr. BERSOFF. No --
Senator SPECTER. So why is the waiver indispensable to the pro-

ceeding?
Dr. BERSOFF. Well, the mental health professionals have inter-

viewed these children extensively. The children have made explicit
statements about what they believe their father is doing. In the
face of the fact that the courts are not going to listen to the chil-
dren, the next best evidence is the testimony of these mental
health professionals.

Senator SPECTER. Will the mental health professionals be compe-
tent to testify as to hearsay?

Dr. BEasorr. I would certainlythe basis for their opinions
would be admissible. Strictly speaking, it is not being submitted for
the truth of the statement, but to undergird the opinions of the
professionals.

Senator SPECTER. I would think there would have to be an evi-
dentiary base of the children's testimony before the professionals
could give opinions.

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, I am not sure what you are saying, but the
evidentiary basis, as I see it, is the material that they have told to
the psychologist and the psychiatrist.

Senator SPECTER. But if the issue is, were the children molested,
how could the psychologist and psychiatrist testify to that?

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, first of all, they have observed the children,
and during their observations, the children have engaged in very
infrequent kind of play with what are called anatomically correct
dolls-- -

Senator SPECTER. But the problem with the testimony of the psy-
chiatrist and the psychologist, it is hearsay, what they have heard
from the children. So that I would not see how they could testify to
the underlying fact as to what happened to the children, what the
children have told them happened to the children.

Dr. REasoFF. Well, again, I think there are a couple of bases. One
is, as I said, that in order to support the underlying opinions, the
information that they have received would not be hearsay, that is,
it is not admitted for the truth, but rather, to justify the opinions
of the professionals.

Senator Sygrnot. Well, what opinions, then, would they be called
upon to testify to?

Dr. BERSOFF. Whether, to a reasonable or psychological or medi-
cal certainty, they believe that on the basis of their interviews with
these children, the children, in fact, have been abused.

17
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I think there is also a second basis for admitting their testimony.
I think that in a divorce proceeding, the children are nominal par-
ties. Their custody and their visitation is at issue; their future is at
issue, and as a party, their statements could be admitted as well.

And also, if the court would like to construct some means to
interview these children, I do not think that my client would object
to their being interviewed. I think there are ways to construct
courtrooms and to construct situations so that the children, in fact,
could be interviewed very sensitively. For example, in some
courts- -

Senator SPECTER. Well, that seems to me to be the central ques-
tion.

Dr. BERSOFF. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. I do not follow the *.estimony of the psychiatrist

and the psychologist; it seems to me to be highly questionable with-
out the preliminary testimony of the children. And the critical
aspect is the testimony of the children, because only the children
can testify firsthand as to what happened. Mrs. Smith can testify
as to corroboration. She can testify as to what she observed about
the reddening and about the physical situation that she saw.

Do you anticipate an effort, Dr. Bersoff, to have these children
testify before the relevant courts in this case?

Dr. BERSOFF. I think if it would be permitted, I certainly think it
would be helpful.

Senator SPECTER. Do you intend to press it?
Dr. BERSOFF. Yes; I intend to do so. The experience with the

State's attorney has been disheartening.
Senator SPECTER. Well, aside from the State's attorney, you have

these other proceedings.
Dr. BERSOFF. That is correct.
Senator SPECTER. You have two courts that you are in where you

may be able to persuade a judge to listen to you, or at least make a
preliminary determination as to competence.

Dr. BERSOFF. If the court would allow it, I think that certainly, it
would be very helpful. Whether the court, of course, will believe
their testimony or discount it, or consider it fabricated, of course, is
up to the court. But I think it would be very important. I think we
have not taken children's ability to perceive, to testify, seriously
enough, and I think that that is a major problem in the courts
'around the country.

Senator SPECTER. Mr. Bersoff, let me raise a related question
with you. The Children's Caucus last week held some hearings with
a view to propose television coverage for the Manhattan Beach
child abuse situation, and the issue has arisen as to how to handle
that. It arose in part out of hearings which the Criminal Law Sub-
committee last week held on the Big Dan New Bedford rape case,
about showing the victim on the screen, and the question about the
chilling effects on children who are witnesses.

One of the suggestions which has been made is to have the chil-
dren videotaped outside of the court proceeding and outside of the
presence of the defendants, but with the defendants able to see the
video show at the precise moment the child is testifying. Then, the
cross-examination would be possible, as required under our system
of kw, by the attorney for the defendant, who might be present,

113- - R5 -
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but the concerti has hegira expressed about the intimidating aspect
of having the defendants there, and there is an intimidating aspect
about having a father, or a stepfather, or some relative present.

One of the things that we are interested in is the constitutional
right to confrontation, which is a very fundamental right and a
very important right, to assure a defendant's rights.

What is your opinion or judgment as to the propriety of having a
child testify on closed-circuit television, without the physical pres-
ence of the defendant? Do you think that that would comport with
the constitutional requirement of confrontation?

Dr. BERSOFF. Obviously, you have raised a very thorny issue. You
have to balance the interests of the children and of the mother,
who is making the complaint against the interests of the father, or
of the potential defendant.

I think the way you have described it would be pretty much in
tune with what the Constitution demands. I think that probably,
one additional facet might be the father's presence behindor
whoever the suspected abuser isbehind a one-way mirror, so that
the father or whoever it is, and the attorney, could view the testi-
mony and in a sense be present, without having the children di-
rect;y face the parent. And I certainly think, however, that there
has to be, in order to comport with the right of confrontation or
cross-examination, the opportunity for the opposing attorney to
cross-examinethe children should be examined under oathand
to see, in fact, whether they know whether there is a difference be-
tween a truth and a lie.

So, if' interviewed under oath, with proper considerations for the
rights of the accused abuser, I think that videotaping could be used
in the courtroom, if we have the videotaping done under specially
constructed environments, and being interviewed and questioned
by either sensitive professionals or attorneys who have been guided
by sensitive professionals who are experienced in these matters.

Senator SPECTER. Dr. Bersoff, you are an expert in this field.
There has been a rash of notoriety recently on issues relating to
child abuse. The two cases that we are going to hear about later
today, about the 19-year-old who killed his father because the
father was sexually abusing the daughters in the family; the case
about the 12-year-old girl who was held in confinement after she
comp'ained about sexual molestation by a stepfather; an extensive
article in the Washington Post on March 24 of this year which re-
ports the findings of the D.C. Children's Hospital Sexual Abuse
Program; the findings of the chief of pediatric's at Baltimore's Lu-
theran Hospital; the chairman of Maryland's Governor's Task
Force on Child Abuse; the extensive article in the New York Times
on April 1 of this year captioned, "Sexual Abuse of Children Draws
Experts; Increasing Concern Nationwide"is this a recent phe-
nomenon, or a phenomenon IA hich has more occurrences now as op-
posed to a prior period?

I had commented earlier about my own experience as a prosecut-
ing attorney in the sixties and early seventies, where these kinds of
complaints were not presented. While a district attorney cannot
necessarily bring all the cases that are presented to him, in a city
like Philadelphia, we hear just about everything. This is not a line
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which I heard, during that period of time. But today, it appears to
be a rampant problem.

Do you think it is of recent origin, or at least in this magnitude
and intensity, is of recent origin?

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, as a scientist, I have to say that it would be
hard for me to come out with any conclusions. The prevalence of
abuse is unknown. I know it is more common than is generally be-
lieved. My guess would be that it is not more rampant, but the re-
porting of it is more rampant. I think that-- -

Senator SPECTER. We very frequently use the expression, "the tip
of the iceberg." But the size of the tip may have some relationship
to the rest of the iceberg. Certainly, if this is a tip, there is certain-
ly more of a tip showing.

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, I think that is right. I think there are a
number of factors that I would sayI would certainly think that
generally, the concern about children's rights which has developed
in the last decade has been important. Certainly, the women's
rights movement. I think legally, the breakdown of intrafamily tort
immunity. I think the breakdown of the parent-child privilege; the
willingness of people like my client to talk about these things,
whereas they were not willing to beforeI think all of these things
have led to the statistics that we now have, which in fact show that
it might be the tip of the iceberg. I know there is one report that
only 2 percent of intralamily sexual abuse is reported to the police.
So if' that is true, there is a whole lot more going on that we do not
know.

Senator Se EcTEk. There is one more factor that I would like your
judgment on. That is, there has been a dramatic change in the ma-
terials available on the newstand, the sexually explicit materials. A
drastic change occurred in the late sixties and early seventies as to
what you can buy and see: Couples in sexually explicit positions;
children in the nude, in sexually explicit positions. This subcom-
mittee has recently reported out a child pornography bill, and we
have had very extensive hearings. I can recall very well the kinds
of cases which were brought, flimsily, by prosecutors in the early
sixtie', which amounted to virtually nothing, and then the whole
stream of movies"God Created Woman," "Curious Yellow"and
then the laws were very materially changed, and today, on any
newsstand. you can buy all sorts of materials which are not sugges-
t kit% but they are pictoral.

The question which I think would require some analysis, and I
do not know the answer. is to whether that might be contributing,
to suggesting conduct with fathers and children which might not
have been so readily in mind in the past.

Dr. BEksiwt,. Well. I think that certainly is a reasonable hypothe-
sis. I (hi not think we know yet what the relationship between ob-
scene or pornographic material and overt behavior is. I think it is
still a guess. I think, rather than seeing the problem more as envi-
ronmental. I believe that it is more related to the person who is
doing the abuse himself. There may be rationalizations -for exam-
ple. pornoifraphic material, or hostility toward the mother, or the
failure of the mother to be as loving as the father would want
those are all excuses that put the responsibility outside the person
who is doing the abuse. My personal opinion is that we have to
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look at the person himself. And as my client has said, in this case,
the filther has not admitted that it is going on, and that may be
correct. But as she has said, one of the things that we do know is
that when the parent does admit the problem and seeks help, that
there is a significant amelioration of it.

Now, I would look to the person who is doing it rather than to
stimuli outside of the person.

Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Smith and Dr. Bersoff, would you keep
your seats? Our second mother arrived shortly after you started to
testify.

[The prepared statement of Dr. Bersoff follows:I
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PREPARED STATEMENT OF DONALD N. BERSOFF

It is an honor to have the opportunity to submit this statement and I

am especially appreciative that the Subcommittee believes the issue of the

proper adjudication of sexual abuse of children is important enough to hold

hearings on the matter. I am Donald Bersoff, one of the attorneys

representing the mother you have just heard from. In addition to being a

member of a law firm in Washington, D.C., I have taught and practiced

psychology. I received my doctorate in the latter field almost 20 years ago,

specializing in problems related to children, families, and schooling. One of

my major interests as both a lawyer and psychologist is children.

Nevertheless, I rarely invrlve myself in domestic relations litigation and my

client currently has exceAeut representation in that regard. Because of my

background, however, the children's mother asked me to become involved

concerning the sexual abuse issues in the case.

You have already heard from the mother herself concerning the

frustrations she has felt in'attempting to get the courts, the state's

attorney's office, and the children's appointed lawyer to take her childre 'i's

claims seriously enough to take some action. The particular case you have

Just heard about probably epitomizes every major problem that confronts

children when claims of sexual abuse are made in the context of domestic

relations litigation.

First, in the case of very young children, as here, it is one of the

parents who surfaces the allegations. When those allegations are raised in a

divorce situation, the legal system tends to discount themes a ploy by the

complaining party to gain financial or other advantage over the parent

suspected of sexual abuse. Masters and judges who have become inured and

cynical as a result of their involvement in emotional, contentious, domestic

relations cases become resistant to these claims and, unfortunately, fail to

take them ,riously. Although there is no doubt that some complaining parents

coerce their children to fabricate claims of sexual abuse for the parents' own

ends, there are enough specific psychological, as well as physical,

indications of abuse to separate the genuine from the false claims. Some of

the symptoms children exhibit are withdrawal from others, sleep disturbances,

regression to a more infantile level of development, sexually-oriented play
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with dolls, depression, and school problems. In essence, they appear very

much like other victims of severe stress, most particularly like women who

have been raped. As a result of sensitive interviewing by mental health

professionals and their subsequent testimony, judges ought to be able to sort

out the spurious from the genuine claim. However, they have to be willing to

listen to that testimony and very often they choose not to.

Second, courts are very naive about child development. They do not

believe that preschool children, as in this case, are reliable reporters of

events or can differentiate fact from fantasy, truth from lies. As a result,

young children are, in almost all cases, not permitted to testify. Many state

statutes hold that children below a certain age, 10-12, are presumed

incompetent to testify. The basic test for competency is whether children

have sufficient intelligence and ability to give reliable and relevant

testimony that could be of assistance to the court. Social science evidence

indicates that young children can give accurate descriptions of what they have

experienced if questions are direct, simple, and framed in the language of the

child. Furthermore, on certain memory tasks Children as young as age 4-5 are

able to perform as well as adults. Certainly, Children can look incompetent

in the face of inappropriate questioning by attorneys and judges asking long

and complex questions. But, if done with some sophistication about children's

language development, preschool children can be excellent witnesses. Yet,

most states will not allow such evidence if the child is of preschool age.

Like Ralph Ellison's hero, children remain Invisible Persons whose

testimony is rarely credited. For example, in this case, despite the fact

that both of the mother's children talked quite explicitly about the conduct

of their father to two experienced and sensitive mental health

professionals--a psychologist and a psychiatrist--and one of them gave a

audio-recorded statement to a female police officer, the state's attorney

refused to move toward charging the father with sexual abuse in the light of

the father's denials. His rationale was that no jury would convict the father

based on the children's statements or the testimony of the professionals in

the face of the adult's denials. Yet one could hypothesize quite reasonably

that children have less incentive to lie than do adults. As a Los Angeles

police officer stated in USA Today on April 6th, "When children report
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something, go into any detail about sexual activities, you'd better believe it

happened."

Third, lawyers appointed to represent children In divorce

proceedings, ostensibly to protect their interests, often act adversely to or

in ignorance of those interests. For example, in the case of my client. the

children described explicit instances of sexual abuse by their father to the

two mental health professionals I spoke of earlier whom they saw for

evaluation and treatment. A lawyer was appointed for the children to decide

whether to waive the psychiatrist/psychologist-patient privilege. The lawyer

was well aware of those statements as well as a report by the Montgomery

County Protective Services Unit recommending that the father should not be

permitted visitation, even under supervision by his relatives. Yet, the

children's lawyer refused to waive the privilege prohibiting the professionals

from testifying at two recent hearings. ;ry rationale for blocking the

testimony was that it would be 41* premature to admit it and it would be

harmful to the children not to visit their father. As a result of this

failure to waive, the mother was held in contempt for refusing to permit

visitation, as the court had earlier ordered, and she is now faced with a 10

day jail sentence. Furthermore, the father's attorney has since filed a

motion requesting more time for visitation with the children.

I do not impugn the motives of the children's attorney in this case.

I just think her judgment is seriously faulty and her rationale for refusing

to waive the privilege irrational. The privilege is designed to protect

patients who do not wish to disclose personal communications in a legal

proceeding. There is every probability that a young, sexually abused child

unable to defend herself against an abusing father, would want the court to

hear her testimony. Yet, the children's lawyer has never interviewed her

clients to ask them whether they wished to continue to visit their father or

whether their disclosures should be presented to the court. She has merely

represented them in terms she perceives to be in their interest without ever

attempting to discern what, in fact, their true interests are. When I moved

to have the children's lawye reolaced with a more sensitive and sophisticated

one. the court ruled that her judgment was sound and intelligent.
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Lastly, the law has created a strong presumption in favor of family

privacy and so any investigation into parent-child relationships is often done

gingerly. For example, sexual activity that does not produce evidence of

disease or forcible entry is reinterpreted as mere fondling between a loving

father and his daughter. I wholeheartedly support the principle of minimal

state intervention in family relationships, and we should recognize that the

primary custodians of children are parents, not the government. But, the

Supreme Court recognized 40 years ago that although parents can make martyrs

of themselves, they may not make martyrs of their children. Under that

principle, every state legislature in the United States has established child

abuse reporting statutes. Nevertheless, while we have enforced those statutes

in cases of physical abuse, we have not done nearly so well in cases of sexual

abuse.

I have only briefly sketched major problems gleaned from my

experience. In terms of solutions, I cen suggest a few, also briefly. First,

it would be helpful to have specially trained police officers and

prosecutorial staff to investigate allegations of sexual abuse and interview

children. There is a major training role for clinical, school, and

developmental psychologists in this regard.

Second, we should develop specially constructed environments in which

to interview children. It would be very helpful to place children in

comfortable, familiar settings, have them talk to sensitive professionals and

police officers, and have those interviews recorded on video tape. In this

way, the tape could be used several times which would prevent repetitive

interrogation in frightening surroundings like a police station or courtroom.

Third, we need to educate those who populate the legal system that

claims of sexual abuse are not mere ploys by a querulous, self-interested

party in a divorce but is a serious problem that is traditionally

underestimated and underreported. The prevalence of sexual abuse is unknown

but a variety of estimates in the literature indicate that about 20-30% of

females have had sexual contact with males prior to age 16. One study asserts

that only 2% of intrafamily sexual abuse is reported to the police. The

recent revelations of sexual abuse of children in day care centers and nursery

schools have served to heighten our awareness but it is still true that

25



21

society has not invested very much by way of resources for identification,

treatment, and prevention.

Finally, we must learn to trust children's Judgments and perceptions

more than we do. If there 14 one pervasive myth that MPS impervious to

change at the present, it is about children's capacity A perceive, to make

decisions, and to exercise judgment. The Supreme Court has perpetuated that

myth asserting, without evidence, that children, even in adolescence, are

incompetent to make decisions concerning their own treatment. If our most

respected legal body is ignorant of, or refuses to believe, the social science

evidence that proves otherwise, it will be difficult to persuade local Judges

that children should and, indeed, must be heard. Until that happens, we 411

continue to pay mere lip service to our often proclaimed intent to protect

children's best interests.

Thank you.

Senator SPECTER. I would like to call on a woman who we will
identify as Mrs. Jones to step forward at this time.

Would you come forward, Mrs. Jones?
Mrs. Jones, you were not here before we started, but the issue

arose as to being photographed, and there had been a screen ar-
ranged here, which seemed to me to be very cumbersome. The re-
quest has been made that neither you nor Mrs. Smith be photo-
graphed, and it is not a binding order, because this committee has
no authority to give binding orders to the media. But I believe it is
being observed, and the question that I have for youand it may
be too late to ask nowis that arrangement satisfactory with you?

Mrs. JONES. Yes, that will be fine.
Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Jones, we will not refer to you by your

name, in order to protect to the extent we can your anonymity.
Would you pull the microphone closer to you and tell us what hap-.
pened to you and your 12-year-old son and 11-year-old daughter?

STATEMENT OF MRS. JONES. BALTIMORE, MD

Mrs. JONES. Our nightmare began the latter part of 1978. Sexual
molestation of my children was not suspected by me until 1981,
when my daughter at that time was 8 years old, and began to act-
out sexually. She did not come forth with her sexual molesting--

Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Jones, when were you married?
Mrs. JONES. In 1968. December 14, 1968.
Senator SPECTER. And were you separated at some point after

that'?
Mrs. JoNEs. We were separated in 1979, and my divorce was final

in 1981.
Senator SPECTER. Your daughter is now 11, and your son is now

12?

'
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Mrs. Jim Es. Yes; my daughter will be 11 in August, and my son
just turned 12.

Senator SPECTER. All right. That sets the chronological scene.
Now, would you proceed?

Mrs. JONES. My daughter was not able to come forth with what
had been happening to her sexually until February 27, 1983. So I
lived with fears; my children lived in eat agony-

Senator SPECTER. She did not report it until February 27, 1983?
Mrs. JONES. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. When do you believe that it began?
Mrs. JONES. She claimed it began in late summer, early fall of

1980, when she had just turned 7 years old.
Senator SPEcTER. As precisely as you can tell us, what happened

to her, according to her claim?
Mrs. JONES. According to her claim, she would be asked to come

into her father's bedroom to have a talk; the door would be shut.
At that time, he would undress and put his penis in her mouth.
She would then have to fondle his body, while he fondled hers.
There was oral ejaculation. They then would go to bed, and he
would try vaginal penetration. When I asked her if he actually had
penetrated I do not think she totally understood, and I did not
want to put any additional words in her mouth. She described him
as rubbing his penis between her legs and trying to force it into
her vagina. When she would scream that it hurt, would he please
stop, he would become angry and would stop.

She did tell me that she would come home and not tell me that
she had vaginal itching; when she went to urinate, it was very,
very sore.

She, as well as my son, had been living under great threats of
being physically abused to the extent where they could not see
anyone. They were threatened to be taken away and never re-
turned home. These threats were carried out during visitation,
with calls being made to me while they were with their father,
stating that they would not be brougnt home.

Senator SPECTER. Over how long a period of time did that go on
between the father and the daughter?

Mrs. JONES. It went on from 1980 through September 1982.
Senator SPECTER. So, from the time she was 7 until 9?
Mrs. JONES. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. About how many times did that occur, if you

know?
Mrs. JONES. It occurred on each visitation time.
Senator SPECTER. How frequent were those?
Mrs. JONES. Visitation was ordered every weekend.
Senator SPECTER. What, if anything, happened to your son?
Mrs. JoNms. My son, I was aware, had been receiving a great deal

of physical abuse as well as emotional abuse. He had been in ther-
apy since 1979, and by 1981, I was being told that he was in such a
state that when he became an adolescent, I should think of institu-
tionalizing him. I was advised in 1iN2 by a Baltimore City Protec-
tion Service worker, Paul Katz, that Alex was also sexually abused.

Visitation was so traumatic, it got to point where he was abso-
lutely refusing to go. The first time he relosed to go, he barricaded
himself under the basement steps, barricaded himself with my

2'7



23

daughter's childlike kitchen sink and refrigerator standing on top
of one another, not allowing anyone in to him. He then would run
up and hide in his room, and I would have to drag a 90-pound
young man down the steps, clinging to the bannister, kicking,
screaming and cursing at me. This went on through each visitation
time.

I went to the pediatrician on the sexual acting out of my daugh-
ter; she would hold her legs up in the bathtub, as if she were at a
GYN for an examination, and let warm water run .nto her vagina.

Senator SPECTER. How old was she when she did that?
Mrs. JONES. Seven and a half, eight years old.
She then showed my 12-year-old how to have intercourse, and at

one time, paid him to have intercourse with her. I had caught them
one time with their clothes on, and then was told of the other occa-
sions by my son, of what she had done. He said they undressed on
the other occasions.

Senator SPECTER. You say you caught them on one occasion how?
Mrs. JONES. With their clothes on, imitating intercourse.
I also saw her allowing our dog to lick her vagina in her bed-

room. We have a very small dog that sleeps with us; it bed-hops at
night, goes from one bed to the other. 1 had come upstairs several
tities and saw this, and I thought, am I seeing correctly, is this
really real, is she coaxing this dog to do this.

I approached the pediatrician about it and he said, "Well, maybe
she is just more mature for her age than most girls." I went to the
psychologist about it, with my daughter beginning therapy in 1981.
They again blamed it on maturity. No one would come out and
admit that it could be sexual abuse.

My son and daughter both told me that my daughter was being
french kissed by her father, describing what french kissing was,
putting tongues in each other's mouths; that she was being forced
to sleep with her father.

My son and daughter were telling me that my son was being
fbrced to bathe with his father, as well as sleep with him on occa-
sion against his will; that my son was being punched, kicked,
thrown, slapped, and even bruised, but the bruises were not shown
to me until they were healed, or even told about it for fear of what
might happen.

I made a report to the authorities the first time I heard of my
on being bruised. They said all they could do was make up a sus-

pected report, but nothing would happen.
Senator SPECTER. Which authorities did you bring that tt. the at-

tention of?
Mrs. JONES. I brought it to the attention of the police department

in Baltimore County at that time.
Senator SPECTER. What action did they take?
Mrs. JONES. They took no action whatsoever.
Senator SPECTER. Do you know why?
Mrs. Jonws. No sir, I don't. I do not know why. As Mrs. Smith

has said, why aren't our authorities moving to protect our chil-
dren?

If I may continue, it gets worse, unfortunately.
Senator SPECTER. Please do, yes.
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MN. JONES. During our divorce hearing in 1981, with all the chil-
dren were going through and refusing visitation, my son paranoid
at this point, me being told he might be institutionalized, doctors
encouraging the visitation to please the court by saying, "Force
him out on the front porch. At least have him talk with his father.
Maybe that will appease the father." My son would come in with
his face picked and bleeding, in fear; my daughter out there-

Senator SPECTER. You say he came in --
Mrs. JONES. My son would sit on the porch to talk with his

father, if I pushed him out the door and shut it, watching from a
window to make sure they were OK, he would sit there and pick at
his face while his father talked to him, and then come in with it
bleeding.

Senator SPECTER. As a result of picking at his own face?
Mrs. JONES. Yes. I brought this to the attention of the doctors

and attorney. Nothing could be done.
When we went to court in 1981 for the divorce, the children

talked with the judge, who happened to be a special court of ap-
peals judge, Judge Allan Wilner, who was sitting in for the
summer. The children spoke to him in his cha.abers, privately, no
witness there, of the physical abuse that had been going on and the
threats that were being made. The judge came back into the court-
room and spoke of what the children said, but said he really did
not believe them. He told my husband to be more cautious with his
actions with the children.

Senator SPECTER. Did the judge say that in the presence of the
children?

Mrs. JONES. No; he did not. He told the children that they had to
try to make visitation work. He told them that they had to go for
at least five times, and that if after the fifth visitation time, it was
still not working, or if they had any serious problems, he wanted
them to contact him personally, and he would take action. They
later tried, through myself and Mr. Hattaway, to contact the judge,
but Judge Wilner refused to see or hear them.

Senator SPECTER. Did you tell the judge about what you saw your
daughter do, which was corroborative evidence?

Mrs. JONES. I was told It that time that was not allowed into
court, because I had nothing to prove it; all I had were actions that
were not considered sexual abuse.

Senator SPECTER. Who told you that?
Mrs. JONES. I was told that by the attorneys that I had.
Senator SPECTER. Did your attorneys seek to have your children

testify concerning what happened to them?
Mrs. JONES. That is correct. Mr. Brian Hattaway, of Bragel do

Bragel, wa representing us then. He had asked the court to tap -
point an attorney to the children, which the court did, a Mr. Barry
Meinster. The children had spoken to Mr. Meinster about the,phys-
ical and emotional abuse that was occurring at this point, but not
the sexual.

Senator SPECTER. Why not about the sexual issue?
Mrs. JONES. My daughter had not c ,me forth with e sexual

abuse that had been going on. All she would say at th time was,
"I have to deal with Daddy; you don't." That is all th t she would
state.
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They considered french kissing and sleeping in bed with their
father not sexual abusenot enough that the authorities would
take any action.

Senator SPECTER. Who considered that--
Mrs. JONES. At that time, the attorneys. Later protective service

workers and the police.
Senator SPECTER. The attorneys told you that french kissing and

sleeping with the father was not sexual abuse?
Mrs. JONES. Yes. It would not be handled in court as sexual

abuse. I had not a legal right to stand onand also, that the physi-
cal abuse was something that they could not do anything about.

Getting back to the fact that the children were appointed an at-
torney, a Mr. Meinster. The children spoke to him of the physical
and emotional abuse they were encountering. In coming into court,
Mr. Meinster brought none of this to the attention of the court.
The children did speak. My attorney asked to have them speak to
the judge in his chambers, as I stated; the judge coming back,
saying he did not believe them. My ex-husband is represented, and
has been through our problems, by a Mr. Dana Levitz, who is a
State's attorney in the Baltimore County State's attorney's office.
He, I understand, up to a year or two ago, was a prosecuting attor-
ney in child abuse matters. His immediate boss is a Mr. Howard
Merker, who is right under Sandra O'Connor, and I bring those
names up as they will come out as I talk.

The judge had told the children to go five times to try to make it
work, and if not, to get back to him. My ex-husband was again
granted liberal visitation rights by the judge.

Dr. Robert Blatchley came in behalf of my son, and reported his
emotional state to the court and suggested to the court that my ex-
husband should have therapy if the court decided to order visita-
tion, as well as for my son to continue. The court disregarded his
advice, and did not order therapy for my ex-husband.

Then, in late October 1981, my son was taken on visitation by
force. He was picked up as a sack of potatoes, thrown into the car;
my daughter began beating on the door, "Let me in " --

Senator SPECTER. Who picked him up like a sack of potatoes?
Mrs. JONES. My ex-husband.
Senator SPECTER. I see.
Mrs. JONES. He threw him in the car, ran around, and got in.
I was upstairs making beds, thinking all was well, until I heard

the screaming outside, in the winter, cold outside. Looking out the
window, I am watching this occur. My daughter is banging on the
door, "Mommy, Mommy, Mommy, please let me in, please let me
in. No, I'm not going with you. Please let me in." The whole neigh-
borhood could hear, she was screaming so loudly.

He was returned late that Sunday eveningthis was a Saturday
morn i ng---

Senator SPECTER. So the father took only the son, not the daugh-
ter, on that occasion.

Mrs. JONES. Yes.
He returned and talked about having to sleep in bed with his

father, of being thrown on the floor for about an hour's time, not
allowed to get up off the floor, being verbally and physically
abused, threatened. He came in Sunday evening, telling me this.



I contacted my attorney and wanted a hearing with the judge. I
had had it by then; I could take no more. I said, "I will camp out
on somebody s doorstep, if you don't."

Also, there was a custody hearing that was to occur, because my
ex asked for custody during the divorce hearing, and I was told to
obtain an attorney for that hearing.

Only because I protested so loudly did I get an appointment with
the judge. Before meeting with Judge Wilner, I had terminated my
attorney, because he had told me that I should beat the children,
make them go with their father, and discount anything they might
say. I felt he was not hearing us, and this would not be helpful to
us. I saw Judge Wilner in his office, along with my ex-husband and
his attorney, Dana Levitz. Mr. Levitz was there for some of the
stay, and then left. I tried to explain to the judge the kinds of ac-
tions that were happening on visitation, as far as the physical and
emotional part was concerned. I was interrupted to be told, who
was I to tell him; who was I? I am just a woman. I am just a
mother. He said, "You are just a mother. I am the judge. Who has
more experience here?"

I have more experience here, and I will tell you that these chil-dren
Senator SPECTER. When did this happen?
Mrs. JONES. This happened in November 1981.
He said, "I have more experience at this. These children are

lying. Can't you see they are lying? They are pitting you against
your ex-husband."

My ex-husband denied all the allegations that I brought before
him, and the judge gave him additional visitation rights during the
week.

I then had contacted the woman who was to do the investigation
on the custody matter.

I had obtained an attorney in December, Mr. John Denholm. I

asked him to please get this into a different court, that the judge
was prejudiced and was not hearing what was happening to the
children, and of the emotional state of my son, and now my daugh-
ter involved in itby this time she is worsening. And he assured
me this judge would not hear my custody case; that that is not
heard ofespecially a judge who is just filling in. This was in De-
cember of 1981.

In March 1982, he was notified that Judge Wilner had asked to
sit in on this case and to be the judge in this matter. He was quite
floored at this. He talked with the woman, Mrs. Boyce, who was
doing the custodial investigation, at which time she told him that
she was going to state that she felt that I, the mother, should
continue with custody of the children and that therapy should
continue.

When we got into court, her statement had el-ringed. It was my
attorney's opinion thatwell, it was brought ont in court that
someone had contacted Mrs. Boyce, saying that he was my attor-
ney, and confidential information was exchanged in the conversa-
tion, so her testimony was discredited from court, at which time
she said she felt that the children should go into a foster home and
not be allowed in my custody.
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The hearing went on. I had three psychologists come at that time
to speak in behalf of the children. I had a Dr. Virginia Blatchley, a
Dr. Stuart Burman, and again, Dr. Robert Blatchley. My daughter
was seeing Stuart Burman; my son, Robert Blatchley, and I was
seeing Dr. Virginia Blatchley, to kind of bring into one focus with
one person the therapy with the children, and how I as a mother,
supporting the children and trying to help them, could handle this
matter.

We went into court in May 1982. They testified in the children's
behalf, again advised the judge strongly that therapy was needed
for my ex-husband, and again, it was ignored. Again stating there
was no bond between father and children and never appeared there
ever was one. The judge found me to be an unfit parent. He felt
that it was I who was causing the problems during visitation.

N'y daughter was not coming forth to the psychologist on the
sexual abuse, even though I brought my suspicions to his attention.
He said without her coming forth with it, he could not come out
with it, either. He said he would need to see my ex and daughter
together before making such a statement.

Senator SPECTER. Your daughter would have to come forward
with the specifics before the psychologist could testify?

Mrs. JONES. Yes; that was what I was being told.
Senator SPECTER. Was she available to testify about it at that

time?
Mrs. JONES. Yes; and Mr. Denholm asked the judge to speak with

the children in this hearing, and the judge said, "No; I do not want
to speak with the children. I already know what they are going to
say. No; I won't speak with the children."

Senator SPECTER. So the request was made to have your daughter
testify about the contacts between her father and herself and thejudge-

Mrs. JONES. About the french kissing and sleeping in bed, and
again, the physical and emotional abuse.

Senator SPECTER. I see, because at that time, you did not know
the rest of it.

Mrs. JONES. Yes; that is correct.
Senator SPECTER. Was there ever a point where you knew about

the full range of the contacts, as your daughter had described them
to you. between her father and herself, and the judge declined to
hear that?

Mrs. JONES. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. When was that?
Mrs. JONES. That was in February 1983, when she came forth. It

was on a Sunday evening. I called the police department, as I
hadif I may back up to get to that, to show you the consistency of
this.

In May, we had that hearing. I was on a 60-day probation period,
at which time, I learned later that my daughter was sexually
abused during the 60 days, enormously. Both children were being
threatened that they would never again be returned home to me.

In August 1982, we had the final custody hearing, at which time,
Dr. Leon Rosenberg, who had evaluated the childrenhe is from
Johns Ilopkinscame in their behalf. And after bringing 15 pages
of who he was and what he was, and a written evaluation of the
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children, as well as a verbal report, the judge did grant me custody
of the children, but again stated that he felt that I was the one
who was causing the problems with the children, and not the
father, and that if I did not allow visitation to occur, I would lose
custody of my children. Only hopitalization of the children would
be allowed as a reason for the children not having to go for visita-
tion.

Senator SPECTER. Who told you that?
Mrs. JONES. Judge Allan Wilner.
The children were also threatened in May, that if they did not go

on the SO-day probation period visitational time, which was exten-
sive, that they would lose me as their mother, as their custodial
parent, and under that threat, they went, each time they were told
to go. I did come out with custody, and visitation was extensive, as
for a family where parents and children have a fine, good, healthy
relationshipmeaning every weekend, Friday through Sunday,
overnight, every holiday, and 2 weeks in the summer, as well as
contact during the week.

In September 1982, my daughter was taken by force. The chil-
dren had been refusing to ,o; their conduct was deplorable. My son
was practically failing in school. My daughter, who is an A student
with a very high IQ, and quite articulate, is stealing since second
grade, getting low marks' in school, tapping food off her dinner
plate instead of using her silverware. They are not willing to go on
visitation.

I asked a minister, whom we knew, to come and talk with my ex-
husband on this visitation day, to help clear this matter up, since I
was getting no help through doctors or the court. My ex, at this
conversation, who appeared very calm, very calmly said, "I am
feeling very violent and angry,' at which time he grabbed my
daughter, in what has later been described to me as a "Nelson"
he grabbed her by the throat at the Adam's apple, and drag her to
the car and sat on her.

Senator SPECTER. Who did that?
Mrs. JONES. My ex-husband.
I then was advised to call the authorities. My son ran and hid in

an abandoned yard, as he put it later, "Next to animal poop," and
lay there for 20 minutes, for fear he would have to go.

I contacted my attorney- -
Senator SPECTER. Were those events called to the attention of the

court?
Mrs. JONES. 1 called my attorney. My daughter was returned

home late that Sunday evening with bruises and marks on both
forearms. She described the visitation, told me that she had seen
her father and his girl friend having sexual intercourse in bed
during the day, and had watched it.

Senator SPECTER. Was there any effort by your ex-husband to
have any sexual contact with your daughter at that time?

Mrs. JONES. She did not bring it up on that particular visitation,
whether he had sexual contact with her then or not.

I called the attorney and he said to kind of disappear for a few
weekends until he could get it in court. Well, he also was a State's
attorney, only in the Baltimore City court system. Mr. Kirk
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Schmoke had come into office, and Mr. Denholm was no longer al-
lowed to have a private practice.

I then employed Rosalyn Soudry, and asked her to please get the
matter into Baltimore City court as soon as possible, that the visi-
tation could not continue this way. Ms. Soudry made a motion to
get it into the city court, at which time, Mr. Levitz contacted her
and said it would not be heard in city court, he would get it back
into Baltimore court. There was no question, Baltimore County
court.

Senator SPECTER. Who said that?
Mrs. JONES. Dana Levitz, the attorney of my ex-husband, who is

the State's attorney in Baltimore County.
Senator SPECTER. You are saying the State's attorney of Balti-

more County was handling this case privately for your husband, in
a private attorney capacity?

Mrs. JONES. Yes, yes, he was.
Senator SPECTER. And he is the State's attorney?
Mrs. JONES. He is a State's attorney within the Baltimore County

State's Attorney's Office. He is a prosecuting attorney for the Balti-
more State's Attorney's Office.

Senator SPECTER. Is he an assistant State's attorney?
Mrs. JONES. Yes, he is.
Senator SPECTER. But they are permitted to have private prac-

tices of law?
Mrs. JONES. Yes, they are, but not to conflict with their job with

the State's Attorney's Office. In this case, it is definitely conflict-
ing.

Senator SPECTER. Was there ever any contention raised, formally
or informally, by you or your attorney, of that kind of conflict?

Mrs. JONES. Yes; getting to that, we never did get into court. I
filed charges of assault and battery in Baltimore City. I went to the
police department, only to be told to go to district court to get per-
mission of Judge Bundy.

Senator SPECTER. Assault and battery against whom?
Mrs. JONES. Against my ex-husband, for the bruises and the

manner in which he took my daughter in September 1982.
In September 1982, the school had made a report to Baltimore

County of suspected abuse of the children by their father. Weeks
after making this known to the system, the officers from the child
abuse unit of the Baltimore County police department visited my
home, shortly after this incident had occurred in front of our
house, to which I had an eyewitness, the minister. They said there
was nothing they could do on that particular incident. My daugh-
ter then explained the french kissing and the sleeping in bed with
her father. My son confirmed it and also spoke of the physical
abuse he had been incurring all along.

They said there was nothing they could do. Unless my daughter
came forward with actual rape, there was nothing that they could
do. They said they weren't concerned with the physical or emotion-
al abuse. Shortly after that, Baltimore County Protective Services
worker, Emily Steimke, came to our house. Again, the children told
what had been happening, my daughter not elaborating any fur-
ther than this. Ms. Steimke also stated there was nothing Protec-
tive Services could do. Baltimore City Protective Services, as well
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as Mr. Ronald Bacon of Nefdect, came to my house. There was
nothing they could do.

Mr. Ronald Bacon, from the Neglect Department of Baltimore
City, said he was going to have to file papers against me for being
a neglectful parent for allowing the visitation to occureven
though he understood I was under court order to do so.

Senator SPECTER. What did your attorney say about all this?
Mrs. JONES. Nothing. At this point, I had spent $13,500 only in

legal foes, not medical fees, which were amounting to $800 per
month.

I went to file the charges on assault and battery by myself. I was
told by the police department that I had to go to district court and
get permission from a judge, which I did. I came back. They told
me it would only be filed in a drawer. I then went back to Judge
Bundy, and through the judge and the State's Attorney's Office in
Baltimore City, was allowed to file the charges. The State's Attor-
ney's Office in Baltimore City said that they were also going to
charge my ex with sexual assault. They felt that the french kissing
and the sl Jeping in bed warranted that.

Senator SPF:CTER. So by this time, the authorities were prepared
to proceed with the charges.

Mrs. JONES. So they said, so they said.
Senator SPECTER. And what happened then?
Mrs. JONES. Nothing happened. In February, my daughter came

firth with the sexual abuse. I called the detective I had spoken
with in Baltimore County, Detective Mark Bacon, from the Abuse
Unit. I went to see him that Monday evening with my daughter.
Sne went into 2 hours of elaboration of the sexual abuse that had
been occurring. In that interview was also Emily Steimke from Bal-
timore County Protective Services. The officer insisted that I get
some sort of order that would prohibit visitation from occurring,
that he had great fears for my children's safety. He wanted dates
and times of incidences. He insisted on exact dates and times, be-
sides what my daughter had quoted in the interview. All I could do
wasI had been asked by all the attorneys to keep ledgers, diaries,
of all the different things that were happening over the years,
which I did, and through these, sitting down with the children and
my father, going over visitation as I had recorded, the children
would then remember things that had happened, and my daughter
would state that she could remember that to be an incident where
the sexual abuse took place, and I gave the dates my daughter's
statements, and times to the police officer, Detective Mark Bacon.

The police officer did not contact any of the psychiatrists or psy-
chologists involved, nor the Sexual Assault Counseling Unit in Bal-
timore City, where my daughter was then in therapy- -

Senator SPECTER. What happened to this complaint? What hap-
pened as a result of your bringing this matter?

Mrs. JONES. My ex-husband was called in for an interview with
the detective. At that time, he brought to the detective's attention
that he should contact Judge Wilner and Mr. Levitz, which he did.
They are the only people-

Senator SPECTER. Was your husband still represented by an as-
sistant State's prosecutor at this time?

Mrs. JONES. Yes; he was.
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There were no other persons contacted in this investigation in
behalf of my daughter, only the judge and the particular attorney
in question. My ex was given a polygraph test, which they say he
passed with flying colors. The officer then came to my daughter's
school that Friday and interrogated her. I understand the ruling in
Maryland to be that when an officer wishes to speak to a child in
this manner, unbeknownst to the custodial parent, he has to talk
with the principal of the school, have someone present with the
child whom the child knows and feels secure with. He did not do
any of these things. A man who tells me he is thoroughly trained
in this area talked with a secretary, who is only in the school on
Fridays. lie had the school nurse come inthe school was new to
my children at this timethey came to IHM in September 1982
and the nurse did not know my daughter personally. In the inter-
view he started out with, "Hello. I spoke with your father. I gave
him the test that tells me he is telling the truth. I have canceled
the warrant for his arrest. He is not going to be arrested. Do you
know what that means?"

My daughter said, "Yes, I do. It means he is not going to be ar-
rested.

The officer, knowing the threw! she had been under, knowing her
fears of being taken away, of being beaten so severely that she
would not be able to even see, tells her this, and then made her in
front of the school nurse go into explicit detail of the sexual inci-
dences that had been happening since s!..e was 7 years old.

Then he began, "Are you lying? Are you lying? Are you lying be-
cause your mommy told you to say these things? Are you lying?
Are you lying?"

This continued until she felt she could handle no more and final-
ly said, "Yes, sir, I am lying."

He said, "Thank you for being an honest little girl," and sent her
hack to her classroom.

Senator SPECTER. How long did that last, if you know?
MN. JONES. For about a half hour.
I talked with the school nurse to confirm what my daughter had

said about the interview, and she said that was basically how it
was handled. He had a very sugarsweet tone of voice- -

Senator SPECTER. What is the name of the school nurse?
Mrs. Jorsms. I do not have that handy. It is in my report which I

gave to Ms. Westmoreland.
The officer called me that evening and told me that the warrant

was not being issued, that nothing was going to happen in this
case, and that he felt I should contact my daughter's therapist,
that she was very disturbed and needed to see him immediately.

Senator SPECTER. About when was that call?
Mrs. JoNP:s. That was in the first or second week of March 1983.

The date and time are in the manuscript I presented to this com-
mittee.

Senator Sig.:mt.:R. Could you summarize what has happened since,
because we are starting to run very long.

Mrs. JONES. OK. Since then, I have been to see Sandra O'Connor
personally. She understands the situation. She admitted that ther-
apy for my ex-husband is out of the question because it would not
help.
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Senator SPEcTsit. You have been to see whom?
Mrs. JONES. Sandra O'Connor, State's attorney for Baltimore

County.
The warrant for his arrest was canceled by a Mr. Howard

Merker, who is directly under Sandra O'Connor, and is Mr. Levitz'
boss, immediate superior, and was not canceled through Mr. La-
zero's office, as is normally handled. Ms. O'Connor said that the
case will not be held in Baltimore County, that she will not pros-
ecute a case in her court that is questionable, or one that she is not
100 percent sure of winning.

Through Baltimore City, againas in Baltimore Countythey
were asked by my ex on that case to contact Judge Wilner and
Dana Levitz, which they did, and that case has been dropped. Their
decisions on abuse totally changed. And from a Mr. Alexander Pa-
lenscarBaltimore City State's attorney's officeI have a letter
that states in his opinion that my daughter's statements could be
impeached.

I have called and been seen at the Governor's Task Force on
Child Abuse and Neglect.

1 have given to the Governor's task force this manuscript, which
I have presented to this committee. I presented proposals of what I
think Maryland might need and asked them to work on that issue.
I have lobbied on child abuse bills there. Unfortunately, two of the
five bills were not passed into law.

I have written a letter to the Governor, who stated I should con-
tinue through the courts. Judge Allan Wilner has stated to both
Baltimore County and Baltimore City State's attorney's offices, as
well as to other officials, that I am emotionally and mentally dis-
turbed and that if I continue my pursuit in trying to protect my
children that I will lose custody of my children, that my ex-hus-
bandthe abusive parentwill have custody, and that I will go to
jail. This is stated as also being said by Mr. Levito.

I have been told that if I took proceedings against the attorney
Dave Levitz as well as the judgeAllan Wilnerthat not only
would I go to jail and lose custody of my children, but I would also
lose any possession that I might own.

Senator SPECTER. Who told you you would go to jail?
Mrs. JONES. I have spoken to the Maryland Lawyers' Referral

Services, a Susan Gainan; this was told to me by her. This was also
told to me by the University of Baltimore Legal Clinic, and also by
a Mr. Charles Rand an appelate attorney, and by an attorney
within the Baltimore City States' Attorney's office.

Senator SPECTER. Did they tell you on what basis you would go to
jail?

Mrs. JONES. There seems to be political involvement. It has been
stated to me by a States attorney within the Baltimore City States
attorney's officewho has asked to be anonymous because of
threats to his joband by above mentioned that a false charge of
denying visitation would be charged.

Senator SPECTER. Well, let me summarize and see where you
stand now, with respect to all the matters.

No criminal charges have been brought against your ex-husband.
Mrs. JONES. They have been refused. I cannot bring them. Nei-

ther Baltimore County or Baltimore City officials will hear them.
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Senator SPEcriot. And does your ex-husband still have visitation
rights with 1 lie children?

Mrs. JONES. Yes, he does.
Senator SPECTER. And how often does he see your children?
Mrs. JONES. He has not seen the children since the September

incident, September 17, 1982. He has made himself known to us
through phone calls to the children which are quite frightening. He
has made himself known to us by visiting people that we know and
making al legat ions.---

Senator SPECTER. Does he support the children?
Mrs. JONES. He pays his child support, but plays the game of

holding it up enough to cause great financial need for me. This is
explained in the manuscript.

Senator SPECTER. How is your daughter now?
Mrs. JONES. My daughter is still in counseling; now with a sexual

abuse counselor. I have found, as many people in my situation
have, that many psychologists and psychiatrists are ignorant on
this particular subject, and because of their ignorance on it, cannot
handle the matter, and they will just push it over and tell you that
it will all go away one day.

Senator SPECTER. How is your son now?
Mrs. JONES. My son, after counseling with a Dr. Michael Fox, has

done a complete turn-around since there has been no physical in-
volvement with his father.

Senator SPECTER. He seems to be OK?
Mrs. JONES. He is doing much better. He is still paranoid, and he

still carries a great deal of anger.
Senator SPECTER. Dr. Bersoff, let me ask you a question, if I may,

at this point. What is your evaluation to the extent that you have
had experience with such matters, as to the long-term impact on
the 3- and 4-year-old daughters that Mrs. Smith has testified about,
and the 11-year-old daughter and the 12-year-old son that Mrs.
Jones has testified about?

Dr. BERSOFF. Certainly, on the short term, there are serious con-
sequences, as both of these mothers have testified. In the long
term, for a large minority of children, there are chronic problems
that stay with them throughout their lives.

Senator SPECTER. Are they likely to become abusers of their own
children?

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, that certainly is a possibility, if there is no
intervention and no attempted treatment.

Senator SPECTER. How likely is the treatment to be successful,
given these case histories?

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, again, in any particular case, you cannot say.
We hope that there will be some help-

Senator SPECTER. In any particular case, you cannot say. To what
extent can you say that treatment is helpful- -

Dr. BERSOFF. Well, generally, if you do have treatment with
somebody who does know about the problem, who is not afraid to
confront it and talk about it with children, there can be ameliora-
tion over the long term, although there still are problems with re-
lating to other people; especially children who have been abused
have trouble in their marriages and with sexual relations.
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Senator Semmit. And what is the likelihood of alcohol or drug
dependency?

Dr. BERSOFF. That, I do not know.
Senator SPECTER. What is the likelihuod of criminal careers

themselves?
Dr. BERSOFF. That is unlikely. The basic consequence is sort of

the same kind of' thing that you see when women have been raped.
There is trauma, there is social withdrawal, and it is mainly social
problems and relating to other people that are the major conse-
quences.

Senator SPECTER. But that is a single incident compared to a
course of conduct that has been described here today, and it is also
different to the extent that it is ordinarily on mature women, at
least women beyond the ages of 3, 4, 11 or 12.

I realize there are no absolute answers. I just wanted to explore
those questions with you.

Mrs. Smith, do you have anything you would like to add?
Mrs. SMITH. Yes, I would like to add one thing. Rape is rape,

whether done one time or 100 times.
It seems to me that everybody is terribly concerned with the

abuscr's rights, and no one seems to be concerned with the chil-
dren's rights.

You mentioned that it was unfair for a child to be questioned
without the abuser present and what about the father's rights.
What about the right of the child not to be emotionally terrorized
and not to be physically abused?

And if it means finding another way to interview children, if it
means videotapes, which I have requested myself and been told,
"F orget it, we won't even use it"something has got to be done.

Senator SPECTER. Well, that is what we are searching for. We are
searching for some way to protect the victims, to protect the chil-
dren, to protect the women who are rape victims, within the legal
system we have, which does have the right of confrontation, which
I was discussing briefly with Dr. Bersoff.

Mrs. SMITH. But we are victims, and we are victiminized again
and again and again. And in our cases, we are victimized every
week, whether that man shows up at our doors or not. We are vic-
timized through phone calls, we are victimized through threats,
and our children are emotionally terrorized. They cannot grow
when they are being emotionally terrorized.

Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Jones, do you have anything you would

like to add?
Mrs. JONES. Yes. We have also been told in our situation that,

because of visitation rights being in effect and the judge refusing to
even consider this matter as what it is, that the abuser has the
right to take the children for 42 hours from anywhere, and not one
soul in Maryland will lift a finger to protect them. Our children
live with this fear every day, wondering if he is following them,
will he come and take them, riding their bicycles, looking over
their shoulders to see if he's there, at the school playground, taking
a letter to the mailboxnormal things that children should be al-
lowed to do, the freedom to move about as a child without this fear
is denied to them.
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Children are still seen as property. They need to be seen as
human beings, regardless of their age. They have the same right to
respect as adults have.

We have talked here, about videotaping. Within my manuscript
is a whole proposal of what I think could possibly help our system
and society in understanding this problem better and handling it
better. To me, it is an ignorance and that people have a need to be
educated in order to understand the severity of it.

Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Smith, Mrs. Jones, Dr. Bersoff, thank you
very much. Your testimony has been very enlightening.

I would suggest to you that you persevere in bringing the evi-
dence to the decisionmakers, and keep pressing to bring the knowl-
edge to the attention of the judges who have to decide these cases
and to the attention of the prosecuting attorneys. Evidence is the
decisive factor in our judicial system; what people say happened to
them. And if you are discouraged by your attorneys, who tell you
that the evidence will not be heard, press on, because cases are de-
cided on evidence. That is the way to get cases decided. And if any-
body in the process, including your attorneys, may be timid, do not
be put off. You have a right to an attorney of your choice, you have
a right to change attorneys, and you have a right to manage your
own legal affairs in the final analysis. And what is the most criti-
cal aspect is to present the evidence, and that is what you have to
get an opportunity to do.

Mrs. JONES. May I ask one question?
In my case, I have seen just about every attorney in the State of

Maryland, and I have been denied the right to persue, because they
will not handle my case because of its complexity and my lack of
financial funds.

What does a mother do thenand when I can't get a judge
changed, I have to be heard by the same judge who shows himself
prejudice. What does a mother do then? Again I ask that my manu-
script be read by this committee.

Senator SPECTER. Well, you cannot get judges changed. There are
rules about that. With respect to recusal of judges, that is a matter
for the discretion of the judge, and it is very hard to get that over-
turned on appeal. Ultimately, it can be done. I understand that you
have been to many attorneys, and it is not easy, and it is very ex-
pensive and very complicated, and the appellate process is enor-
mously involved.

I think that you are pursuing the matter, as you have taken the
matter from one attorney into the hands of another. I am not fa-
miliar with the variety of agencies which are available to you in
Maryland, but I do know that there are agencies, and there are
lawyers, who do take cases and do persevere. Thank you all very
much.

I would like to call now Judge Eric Younger and Deputy District
Attorney Kenneth Kobrin.

Gentlemen, thank you very much for joining us here today. I ap-
preciate your being here, and I appreciate your having heard the
testimony, because you men are experienced in the field and per-
haps you would have some light to shed on some of the issues
which have already been raised.
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Judge Younger, let us hegin with you, if we may. You have had a
very distinguished career, having graduated from the Harvard Law
School. You have practiced with the very distinguished of
Gibson, Dunn & Kretscher in Los Angeles; 3 years with the Califor-
nia Department of Justice, and appointed to the Municipal Court of
Los Angeles in 1974; elected to the superior court in 1980. You are
the former chairman of the American Bar Association Committee
on Victims, and you are celebrating your 10th anniversary as a
judge today.

So we welcome you here, and we would like to hear about the
case of Robert Moody, the circumstances, and your own sense of the
situation.

STATEMENT OF HON. ERIC E. YOUNGER, JUDGE, SUPERIOR
COURT, POMONA COUNTY, CA, AND HON, KENNETH KOBRIN,
DISTRICT ATTORNEY, SOLANO COUNTY, CA

Judge YOUNGER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Near dawn on March 18 of 1983, Robert Ira Moody was raging

and screaming and very much under the influence of the drugs
that he apparently used nearly every day. He dragged his wife out
of bed and demanded oral sex from her. She refused, apparently,
according to her testimony, due to his condition.

A fight spilled over into the kitchen, and Robert Lee Moody their
son, called the sheriff's department. The son begged the deputies to
take the father away, but the mother basically refused to press
charges, as would generally be required in a misdemeanor situa-
tion.

After the deputies left, at the insistence of the mother, the father
told the son that he was to be out of the house by 6 in the evening,
or that he would kill him. The young man began to make prepara-
tions by gathering up his possessions, but he made other prepara-
tions, too. He prepared to kill his father.

The evidence indicated that Robert Ira Moody began molosting
his oldest daughter in her prepuberty years. The conduct apparent-
ly went on for some time, but I cannot be very precise, because she
disappeared years ago. She was not available to testify.

He then began molesting a second daughter, now in her early
twenties, and she did testify to several incidents in front of me.
Only after the trial was over, I learned that Mr. Moody had raped
his sisters as a young man.

On two different occasions, the second daughter went to the au-
thorities after school officials finding out. And an element which I
think shocks the public, Mr. Chairman, but with which your sub-
committee is doubtless familiar, is the somewhat textbook way in
which action by the sheriffs department was thwarted. In each sit-
uation, the daughter was forced to recant her story by an at least
overtly unbelieving mother, i:nd notwithstanding that the deputies
testified in front of me that they had believed the whole thing and
badly wanted to prosecute, they simply had no evidence, because
the daughter ultimately told the detectives that she had made up
the whole story to get her father into trouble.

I would note in passing that the inability of prosecutors to pro-
ceed with a case by impeachment of their own witnesses is not a
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legalistic problem in California, as the Attorney Generals' Task
Force on Family Violence last week indicates that it is in many
States. But I think you as a former D.A. can appreciate the issue of
just how realistic it is to think that a case can effectively be pre-
sented when a person who is the critical witness is denying that
the very conduct occurred. The law is one thing; practicalities are
another. You can appreciate the situation in that case.

A third little girl, now 12 years old, was just being introduced
into the father's sexual practices by fondling and french kissing
her and requiring her to view hardcore pornographic movies with
the father.

Much has been said of the widow, Mildred Moody- -
Senator SPECTER. Could you repeat, Judge Younger, what the sit-

uation was with the father compelling the daughter to view hard-
core pornographic movies?

Judge YOUNGER. Yes. The testimony wasand this is bizarre,
Mr. Chairman, but I can tell you that several witnesses testified to
itthe father had a library somewhere in the neighborhood of 400
hardcore pornographic films. Samples were brought to court, and if
you can judge a book by its cover, as it were, they were pretty
rough, even by the standards of my line of work. Family members
were required to attend viewings, and as the young man, ultimate-
ly my defendant, turned to the Bible, as he did at one point, there
were incidents in which he was overtly dragged away from the
Bible and on in for the family porno viewing. That is strange, but
that was the evidence.

Senator SPECTER. What work was the elder Moody in?
Judge YOUNGER. He was a machinist, and by the way, contrary

to some of these situations, I think, was gainfully employed over a
period of years, and supported his family. This was not a street
people situation.

Senator SPECTER. 400 pornographic movies?
Judge YOUNGER. That is what the testimony was from several

witnesses.
Senator SPECTER. And you saw some of them?
Judge YOUNGER. I saw the boxes. I did not see the films. In my

line of work, I have really seen about as many as I can handle, but
if the boxes were representative, they were hardcore by anyone's
standards, I think.

A lot of people have talked about the widow, though, Mildred
Moody, and I think the public often feels that she was the truly
guilty party in the situation. She knew about it, allowed it to go on.
We have to remember that she was beaten more times than you
can count, and threatened with death routinely, by a person who
was probably good for it, one has to realize. She was required to
teach the children, in her husband's way, by having sex in front of
the children. Her husband had introduced her to prostitution,
which she accomplished on an cut -call basis from the family home.
That was a means, interestingly, of earning extra money for family
projects, such as the boat being built in the front yard of the family
home.

Whether it has some deep Freudian significance or just sort of a
literary kind of irony, the young man laid in wait with a shotgun
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and killed his Whyr from that boat in the front yard. That is
where it happened.

Senator Se EttTER. How loug after the incident that you have de-
Kribed where Robe.t Ira Moody was raging and screaming did the
killing occur?

Judge YOUNGER. The prosecutor still emerges in that question. It
was about 12 hours, so "self-defense," "defense-of-others" issues,
and so forth, were not really "live" at that time. He had all day to
deliberate and premeditate, and all of those kinds of things, if I an-
ticipate the significance of your question.

But it would not be correct to say that sexual aberration was the
dominant characteristic of the father here, as much of that as
there was. I would define that more as a kind of tyrannical control
of everyone he could get his hands on, by violence and threats of it.
It took a lot of nonsexual forms as well. There does not seem to
have been any overt sexual conduct in the violence against his
sons.

One boy, who is now 25 years old and institutionalized, was rou-
tinely beaten with tools and so forththe press, in some of these
accounts that you or your staff may have seen, indicated that he
was institutionalized because of having his head bashed in with a
hammer. I cannot honestly say the evidence supported that.

The young man who did the killing was not, so far as I can tell,
significantly physically abused. The word "significant" is impor-
tant when dealing with this man. I am sure he was knocked
around from time to time, but there was not a lot of physical
abuse.

Another element which struck me as very odd about the whole
family situation when I actually heard itthough, again, I think
the subcommittee has heard things like thisis that the family
members loved the man. Even Robert Lee, within minutes of testi-
fying to me that he killed him with a shotgun, spoke of his love for
his When Mildred Moody was more than just dependent on him.
She stayed with him for years, and there was a lot more than fear
in that. I have no question about her testimony that she loved him.

In any event, in January, the case of the people of the State of
California versus Robert Lee Moody came to me for trial. The
charge had been reduced to manslaughter by the district attorney,
and both he and defense counsel waived their rights to a jury trial.
I was asked to resolve the single question of whether the young
Moody was insane at the time of the fatal shooting, it being admit-
ted that he pulled the triggerthat really was not an issue.

I found the young man guilty of voluntary manslaughter, but in
setting the matter over for sentencing, indicated that under the cir-
cumstances, I was leaning away from a prison sentence, thougF an
s-year term was a legal possibility at that point.

While sending a young man with no criminal record whatsoever
who had killed under these kinds f circumstances did not seem
awfully sensible, it was certainly necessary to proceed with very
great caution, lest anything seeming to be an endorsement of patri-
cide as a way of solving problems come out of that heavily publi-
cized CM'.

I had figr some time been a proponent of community service sen-
tencing, and as a coincidence, Wad testified on that subject right
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here at this table some years ago, but had certainly never remotely
considered that kind of option in an intentional homicide case
before. If you had asked me 6 months ago if such a thing were pos-
sible, I would have said "No," I suspect.

Every journalist who has interviewed me has asked where I got
the idea of having Mr. Moody perform public service in an impov-
erished country, and the answer is terribly simple. I got the idea
from the defendant himself. In his statement in the presentencing
report, he spoke of his newfound commitment to God and his
desire, if he ever got the chance, to "hel7 the poor people of the
world."

Press accounts suggesting that he was sentenced to do mission-
ary work miss a fundamental point, I think. No American court
has any business involving a person in a religious-effort as part of
a sentence. That poses first amendment problems, which are of
course abundantly obvious. My objective was only that he work,
perhaps even suffer for some years, without actually being in
prison. He is now in the middle of about a 5-month training pro-
gram and a seven-day-a-week resident of the Youth With a Mission
Training School in southern California. That is an organization
with some SO offices around the world, and missions all over the
planet. He sees a psychiatrist acceptable to me once a week, and
although it would be improper, I think, for me publicly to discuss
feedback from the doctor, I am not uncomfortable with the way
things are going at this point.

When he finishes his training program, he will go at his own ex-
pense to the Hong Kong area to work in a camp for Vietnamese
boat people for a minimum of 2 yearsthat is out of a 5-year pro-
bationary term. I defined the requirement from the bench as "2
years of blood, sweat, and darned hard work," and specified that if
he wants to preach the gospel on top of that, that is fine, but that
that was not any part of the court sentence. The head of the mis-
sionary program, has assured me that they will honor that condi-
tion, and that they will assure me that that happens. And I think
they are sound folks; I am quite sure they will do that.

I think that no one sentencing felons, even in the odd circum-
stances of this case, has any business assuming that everything
will be OK. It is often not, and we take the responsibility for
danger to the public every time we give anyonc 1 minute less than
the maximum sentence. Mr. Moody presents risks. While we all
hope that his behavior was situationally limited, he deliberately
killed a fellow human being with a shotgun, and accordingly, must
be carefully watched.

I think the greater risk from my standpoint, though, perhaps ex-
acerbated by my being in a situation like this today, is that he will
he perceived somehow as being "forgiven" for shooting someone,
and that this very much publicized case will have some sort of re-
verse deterrent effect on troubled young peoplein other words,
some sort of notion that it is OK to kill if you pick someone that is
really had. And that scares me a lot.

In closing, I think a word on the public's reaction seems indicat-
ed. Due to a mistake in one press account, with which you and the
staff are quite possibly familiarand it got picked up in a wire
service, so it became more of a problemthe public was led to be-
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lieve that I was seeking suggestions on how to sentence the defend-
ant. Now, while that was in error, it has been interesting to see
just what people have had to say, and I have received about 2,500,
give or take a couple hundred, letters at this point from all over
the Weste n Hemisphere. In what we would all probably agree to
be a period of concern for violent crime and attendant demand for
stiff sentences, I think, all over the country, I can tell you, Mr.
Chairman, that well over 99 percent of the people who have writ-
ten me have either endorsed the idea of the kind of sentence which
I ended up imposing, or something less punitive; probably 40 per-
cent indicating they did not feel anything should happen to the
young man at all which, by the way, was never an alternative
which remotely cross my mind.

One might quite properly ask, I think, what Senate hearings on
juvenile justice have to do with this bizarre case, given that its
combination of events make it so, I hope, unique. And I posed this
question myself to Ms. Greenberg, then of your staff, when she first
contacted me about this testimony.

There may, however, be an answer, and I would try phrasing it
something like this. All the evidence says that family sexual abuse
and violence are common. We have heard a lot about it this morn-
ing. We have heard they perpetuate themselves over generations
and in thousands of settings, which never make any headlines or
any committee hearings. As publicity is given to the acts of young
people who tight back by taking revenge on parentssomething
over which the Congress and the courts have no control whatso-
everwe must assume that this type of violence will increase and
continue, unless the cycle can be broken.

And while the Moody differs from others in dimensions which at-
tract the media, in most which are important from a policy stand-
point to you and to me, it remains a textbook case in that aspect.

I would certainly be honored to answer any questions you have.
Senator SpEcurt. Thank you very much, Judge.
Judge YOUNGER. By the way, might my prepared remarks, which

I did not, believe it or not, read in their entirety, be entered in the
record?

Senator SPECTER. Yes, they will be made a part of the record, in
full. That is our practice.

Judge YOUNGER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator SPECTER. The Juvenile Justice Subcommittee is con-

cerned about the Moody case, for a number of reasons. It deals
with the problem of sexual abuse of children, and we have respon-
sibility for oversight on the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delin-
quency Prevention, which has the potential for some very substan-
tial action in this fieldFederal grants to work on the problem, to

it. to develop answers to the questions of competency of
witnesses and the availability of counsel, which you heard Mrs.
Jones testify about. And the consequence of the Moody case is what
happens to someone who is involved in the sexual abuse of chil-
dren, in a sense, Mr. Moody got capital punishment for his offense;
he was executed by his 19- year -old son. And that is a telling cir-
cumstance, if that is one consequence of sexual abuse.

Judge YotiNGER. I think you put it in an interesting way, Mr.
Chairman, and that is very much how the public has perceived it.
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They see the son almost as a proper instrument of official policy.
"Execution," I think, is the word for how they feel.

Senator SPECTER. Well, I do not see the son as an official execu-
tioner, but what I see is the father having been executed. And the
difficulty comes in that capital punishment is too severe a penalty
for mistreating children under our prevailing standards, but in any
event, it is not up to a 19-year-old son to decide, himself, to be the
executioner.

I have seen cases like this bring first degree convictions and life
imprisonment, and I asked you about the passage of time; premedi-
tation under the law, we both know, can be formulated in the twin-
kling of an eyelash. You do not need 12 hours to do it.

One question arises as to the filing of the charges. Of course,
when they come to you as a judge, you deal with the case as it is
presented, and my own sense is that you made a very judicious de-
terminatior of it, in coming up with the public service resolution.

I am sure youwell, let me ask you. How hard did you deliber-
ate on the imposition of a jail sentence?

Judge YOUNGER. Oh, I thought about it a lot, and--
Senator SPECTER. If you are willing to answer, Judge. I do not

really have to ask you if you are willing to answer, if you see any
encroachment upon judicial prerogatives.

Judge YOUNGER. I had to give a lot of "No comments" while it
was going on; now that it is over, I can honestly say that I consid-
ered State prison, although a very modest term, as a very live pos-
sibility right up until the last minute. I had the basic sense that I
think you are reflecting, that no matter what the provocation, you
do not go around cold bloodedly killing people with a shotgun to
try and work things out.

Senator SPECTER. Well, it is a fascinating case, and one which we
will be studying for a long time. But I do appreciate you being here
to give us your own sense of it.

Judge YOUNGER. Thank you, sir.
The prepared statement of Judge Younger follows:]
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PHLPAHLD ')IATEMENT OF ERIC E. YOUNGER

Near dawn on March 18, 1983, Robert Ira Moody was raging and

screaming - very much under the influence of the drugs he used

almost daily. He dragged his wife from the bed, demanding sex;

when she refused, a fight spilled into the kitchen and the the

Sheriff's Department was called by Robert Lee Moody, their son.

Deputies pulled the father off his bruised and beaten wife and

the son begged his mother to let the Deputies take the father

away, but she refused, and the elder Moody told the son to leave

tho house by six that evening or he would kill him. The young

man began to make preparations by gathering up his possessions,

WA he made other preparations, too:

Ae prepared to kill his father.

The evidence indicated that Robert Ira Moody began molesting

his oldest daughter in her pre-puberty years. This conduct,

apparently, went on for some time, but precision is not possible,

a.; she disappeared years ago.

He then began molesting a second daughter, now in her early

twehtle,; She testified to several incidents; only after the trial was

over, I learned that Mr. Moody had raped his sisters as a young

man.

on two different occasions, the second daughter had gone to

the authorities because of teachers' finding out about the incest

situation. An element which has shocked the public, but with

which the subcommittee is doubtless familiar, is the "textbook"

way in which action by the Sheriff's Department was thwarted. In

each ,situation, the daughter was forced to recant her story by an

at least overtly unbelieving mother and, notwithstanding that the

Deputies testified in front of me that they had believed the

events had orcw!red and badly wanted to prosecute, they simply

had no evidence because the daughter ultimately told detectives

that she had made the whole thing up to get her father into

ti" ibis
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I would note in passing that the inability of prosecutors to

proceed with a case by impeachment of their own witness is not a

legalistic problem under California law as the Attorney General's

Task Force on Family Violence indicates it is in many states.

Just how realistic it is to think that a case effectively can be

presented with a person who is the critical witness denying that

the very private conduct occurred at all is an issue deserving a

skeptical look, however.

A third little girl, now twelve, was just being introduced

into the father's sexual practices, by fondling and "french-

kissing" her and requiring her to view hard-core pornographic

movies with him and other family members.

Much has been said of the widom, Mildred Moody. Many people

feel that she is the truly guilty party in the situation, and I'm

certain the subcommittee is hearing a great deal about the impli-

cit cooperation of mothers in many incest situations. Suffice to

say that she had been beaten and threatened with death innumer-

able times. She was required to "teach" the children, in her

husband's my, by having sex in front of them. Her husbar, had

introduced her to prostitution - which she accomplishe" an

out -call basis from the family home - as a means of earning extra

money for family projects, such as a boat being built in the

front yard.

Whether it has great Freudian significance or simply a

literary sort of irony, the young man laid in wait with a shotgun

and killed his father from that boat.

It would not be correct to say that sexual abberation was

the dominant characteristic of the father: I would define that

More as a tyrannical control by violence and threats of it and

note that it took many forms apparently unrelated to sexual

issues.

There seems, for example, to have been no overt sexual

component in the violence against his sons. One boy, now twenty-

five and insticutinnalized, was the victim of repeated beatings,
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sometimes with tools and other implements. One occasion invol-

ved an attack on that boy with a large screwdriver. While appar-

ently a serious wound was iflicted on the boy's head, the impli-

cations in various press accounts that this injury caused the

institutionalization were not supported by the evidence.

Oddly, there was no real evidence of physical violence

against Robert Lee Moody by the father. There had, indeed, been

problems between the father and this son, and it's hard to say

how much of that was due to drugs: The son, as a mid-teenager

certainly had some problems in that area, but, as the father

encouraged and even occasinally forced drug-use by the children,

I can't say how much of an issue it was. Robert Lee went to live

in Arizona for a while, and indicates that, while there, he first

formed some interest in religion and began to read the Bible.

Upon his reurn to Southern California, his father frequently

verbally abused him over Bible-reading and actually demanded

that he put it aside for the porno movies, but I really heard no

testimony that he beat Robert Lee.

Another element which struck me as odd when I actually heard

it, though I know the Subcommittee is doubtless learning that

it's quite common in child incest situations, is that family

members loved Moody. Even Robert Lee, within minutes of testi-

fying that he killed him with a shotgun, le=ettbehis love

for his father. Mildred Moody, too, was far more than :ust

dependent on him. She stayed with him, with occasional separa-

tions, over many years. Indeed this was partly from fear of him,

partly from dependence, but I have no question that her testimony

that she loved him was true.

In late January, the case of the People of the State of

California v. Robert Lee Moody came before me for trial. The

charge had been reduced to manlaugher by the District Attorney

and both he and defense counsel waived their rights to a jury

trial; I was asked to resolve a single question - whether the

young Moody was insane at the time of the fatal shooting, it
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being admitted that he pulled the trigger. It should be noted

that "self-defense" and "defense-of-others" issues were not real-

ly present, as the killing followed the violent confrontation of

that morning by some twelve hours.

The young man was found guilty of Voluntary Manslaugher and

set for sentencing, but I indicated that the totality of circum-

stances was pointing me away from a state prison sentence, though

an eight-year term was a possibility. While sending a young man

with no criminal record whatsoever who had killed due to such

extraordinary provocation to prison didn't seem awfuly sensible,

it was necessary to proceed with very great caution, lest any-

thing else seem an endorsement of patricide as a means of solving

problems.

I was already an enthusiastic proponent of Community Service

sentencing and have testified on that subject in this building,

but I had never remotely considered this sort of term in an

intentional homicide case before.

Every journalist asks where I got the idea of having Mr.

Moody perform public service in an impoverished country as a part

of a probationary sentence. The answer is abundantly simple: I

got the idea from the defendant, himself. In his statement in

the presentencing report, Moody spoke of his new-found commit-

tment to God and of his desire, should he ever get the chance, to

"help the poor people of the world."

Press accounts suggesting that he was sentenced "to do

missionary work," miss a fundamental point: No American court has

any business involving a person in religion as a part of a sent-

ence; that poses obvious First Amendment problems. My obiKctive

was only that he work - perhaps even suffer - for some years,

without actually being in prison.

Youth With a Mission, according to testimony in my court-

room, his extensive training facilities and a program of mission-

ary operations in some fifty locations around the globe. Its

18-298 0 - g5 - 4
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staff and facilites seemed ideal to me in providing a structured

setting for Mr. Moody. This is something a judge often wishes

for, but which resources avilable rarely afford: A place which

is not prison but in which a person is "off the street" in every

meaningful sense. Mr. Moody is now in about the middle of a five

month training program and is a seven-day-a-week resident of the

Youth With a Mission Training School in southern California.

He sees a psychiatrist acceptable to me once a week and,

although it would be improper for me publicly to discuss feedback

I get from the doctor, I have no present reason to be uncomfort-

able about progress.

When Mr. Moody finishes his training program, he will go, at

his own expense, to the Hong Kong area and work in a camp for

Vietnamese "boat people" for a minimum of two years. I defined

the requirement from the bench as "two years of blood, sweat and

darned hard work" and specified that, if he wwants to preach the

the gospel on top of that, he may. The head of the missionary

program assured me in open court that the organization would

agree to quch a condition.

No one sentencing felons, even those in the odd circumstance

of this case, has any business assuming that everything will be

o.k. It's often not. We take a responsibility for risk of

danger to the public every time we assess one minute less than a

maxinum sentence. Mr. Moody presents risks. While we all hope

his behavior was situationally limited, he has deliberately kil-

led a fellow human being with a shotgun and must, accordingly, be

watched carefully.

The greater risk, it seems to me, is that he will be per-

ceived as being "forgiven" for shooting someone and that this

very much publicized case will have some sort of reverse-deter-

rent effect on other troubled young people - some sort of notion

that it's o.k. to kill if a person's really bad. That scares me a

lot, but once the District Attorney made the perfectly just

decision to not try this young man for First Degree Murder, we

had jointly embarked on a course of trying to do some sort of
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justice in a very unusual case even while risking the deterrent

impact issue we normally find so important.

In closing, a word on the public's reaction seems indicated:

Due to a mistake in one press account, which got picked up in a

wire service story, the public was led to believe that I was

seeking suggestions on how to sentence Mr. Moody. While that

was an error, it's been very interesting to see what people have

to say.

I have received about 2,500 letters from all over the coun-

try, Canada and the Carribbean. In what we probably all would

agree to be a period of concern for violent crime and attendant

demand for "stiff sLatences," I can tell the subcommittee that

well over 99% of the people who have written me have either

endorsed the !dea of the sentence which was imposed or something

less punitive - probably 40% advocated letting him go un-

sanctioned altogether, never an alternative which crossed my

mind.

One may quite properly ask what Senate hearings on Juvenile

Jutice have to do with this bizzarre case - given that its combi-

nation of events make it so unique. I posed this question to the

staff myself when first contacted to give this testimony.

There may, however, be an answer, and I would try

phrasing ifomething like this: All the evidence family

sexual abuse and violence are common and that he

themselves over generations in thousands of sett. s which

never make the headlines. As publicity is given to the acts

of young people who "fight back" by taking revenge on parents -

something over which the Congress and Courts have little control -

we must assume that this type of violence will increase unless

the cycle can be broken. While the Moody case differs from

others in dimensions which attract the media, in most which are

important to you or to me, it remains a "textbook" case,

I would be honored to answer any questions you may have.
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Senator Semorms. I would like to call now on Deputy District At-
torney Kenneth Kobrin, who has a distinguished professional
career, having graduated from the McGeorge School of Law, Uni-
versity of the Pacific, with a juris doctor, in 1977. He has been
deputy district attorney of Solano County for some 6 years, with a
wide range of important duties there.

We are pleased that you could join us, Deputy District Attorney
Kobrin, to tell us about the case involving the 12-year-old, Amy,
and how you handled it.

STATEMENT OF KENNETH KOBRIN

Mr. KOBRIN. Thank you, ivIr. Chairman.
During the first few months of 1983, Amy, a 12-year-old girl, was

molested on approximately five to seven occasions by her stepfa-
ther, then U.S. Air Force physician Kent David Tonnemacher. Not
allegedly molestedmolested, for Dr. Tonnemacher admitted in a
signed statement to Vacaville police officer Pauline Hughes con-
duct by himself that amounted to a violation of penal code section
288(a) of the California code, which is lewd or lascivious acts upon
or with the body of a child under the age of 14 yearsa felony pun-
ishable by 3, 6, or 8 years in prison.

The Vacaville Police Department forwarded a copy of its investi-
gation of the matter to the office of the district attorney of Solano
County and requested that criminal charges be filed. That investi-
gation was reviewed by District Attorney Mike Nail, who con-
curred with the police department's assessment and directed the is-
suance of a felony criminal complaint.

On September 16, 1983, the complaint against Dr. Tonnemacher
was dismissed by the court after it granted a motion to quash the
subpoena directing Amy's appearance at the preliminary hearing
set for that day. Prior to the dismissal, Dr. Tonnemacher rejected
an offer of a negotiated plea to a misdemeanor violation of section
647(a) of the California Penal Codeannoying or molesting a child
under the age of 18 years. This offer of a negotiated plea was made
by the district attorney's office to avoid the necessity of calling
Amy to testify against her will.

California law permits the refiling of a felony complaint one time
after a dismissal. Discussions were held within the office of the dis-
trict attorney concerning the refiling of charges. Due to the fact
that the defendant was a physician and as such held a position of
trust and had occasion to give intimate examinations to female pa-
tients, it was decided that the defendant must be monitored by the
court and probation department. Chief Deputy District Attorney
Michael Smith directed that the case be reified.

On December 30, 1983, the preliminary hearing was commenced
on the refiled charge. Amy, accompanied by an attorney retained
by her mother- -

Senator SPECTER. Why was the decision made to be refiled? Or,
let me make it more pointed. Was there any conduct on the part of
the defendant which led to the refiling of the complaint?

Mr. KOBRIN. We were aware that the defendant was examining
victims of sexual assault in the interim, as well, and we had con-
cerns about that, in addition.
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Senator Sem-I.F:a. That was the only thing?
Mr. KOHUiN, That was not the only thing, no. We felt that under

the circumstances, we had to have some monitoring of this conduct
to ensure that he did not reoffend.

Senator SPECTER. But I wls asking about whether any specific
conduct occurred on his part.

Mr. KOBRIN. On his part, no.
Senator SPECTER. 01{. Proceed, please.
Mr. Komar'. OK. Amy was called to the witness stand and re-

fused to take the oath and was found in civil contempt of court by
Judge John DeRonde pursuant to section 1219 of the California
Code of Civil Procedure. Section 1219 empowers the court to hold
in confinement any person who refuses to obey a lawful order of
the court and who has the ability to obey that order until such
time as the order is complied with, or until it becomes apparent
that further incarceration will not compel compliance with the
court's order.

After evaluating the limited options available, Amy was taken
into custody and held at the Solano County Juvenile Hall, which is
the only secure detention facility for juveniles in the county. Meet-
ings with Amy in advance of the hearing date were not held, due
both to her having moved outside the county and her attorney's re-
quest.

On January 2, 1984, JoAnn McLevis, the victim-witness coordina-
tor for the district attorney's office Victim-Witness Assistance pro-
gram, met with Amy at Juvenile Hall. During Ms. McLevis' con-
versation with Amy, Amy confirmed the belief of the district attor-
ney's office that her refusal to take the oath and testify was due to
improper conduct by Amy's mother, and Amy's belief that her
mother would be angry with her if she told the truth.

Although Amy had already told Officer Hughes what her stepfa-
ther had done to her, her out-of-court statement constituted hear-
say and was not admissible in court. Not one of the numerous ex-
ceptions to the hearsay rule applied to the situation. While the de-
fendant's statement to Officer Hughes did fall within the admission
exception to the hearsay rule, California law does not permit the
use of a criminal defendant's admission or confession unless the
prosecution can first establish the corpus of the crime with inde-
pendent admissible evidence. In the case of the People of the State

Califiwnia v. Kent David Tonnemacher, the only Independent ad-
missible evidence of the offense so as to permit the introduction of
the defendant's confession was the direct testimony of Amy herself.

During the following week, Amy was called to the witness stand
each court day. Each day, Amy, in the accompaniment of an attor-
ney. refused to take the oath and testify. Each day, Amy was again
found in civil contempt of court and remanded to custody.

Amy's situation, the propriety of her continued incarceration,
and the propriety of continued prosecution of the case against her
stepfather were evaluated and reevaluated daily, by District Attor-
ney Mike Nail, Chief Deputy District Attorneys Michael Smith and
David Paulson, JoAnn McLevis, myself and others in the office.

Senator SeErTER. And I take it you thought at some point she
might testify.

Mr. KoaaiN. Yes. and as I---
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Senator Sr Erri.it. That is pretty tough treatment for a 12-year-old
girl, though.

Mr. KoaltiN. The situation was not as the press made it out to be.
Senator SPECTER. Why not?
Mr. KORRIN. OK. We considered views of others in addition to

our own Solaro County Probation Department, Solano County Wel-
fare Department; the press and public's opinions were even consid-
ered. Each time, though, the consensus within the district attor-
ney's office was the same.

senator SPECTER. How did you consider the opinion of the public?
Mr. Komurv. We discussed the public outcry about it and the

views that it was improper. We felt, however, that the public was
not aware of the total situation- -

Senator SPE:crim. What right did the press have to be consulted?
Mr. KOBRIN. We were not consulting them.
Senator SPECTER. You mean, you considered their comments.
Mr. KOHRIN. We considered their comments, certainly.
Senator SPECTER. You could not bring the case strictly on the

confession. You had to have the testimony of the young woman?
Mr. KoisitiN. It was absolutely impossible to put the confession

into evidence without the corpus, and the only evidence of that
corpus was her statement, period. Without her testimony, there
was no case, there was no prosecution.

It was our opinionwhich was confirmed by Amy's statements
that her refusal to testify was because of pressure from her
mothernot, as her attorneys were saying, that she did not want
to break up the family. Amy has indicated at one time or another
to Jo Ann M.:Levis that she hated her stepfather, that she was
afraid her mother would be angry with her if she testified. She was
told by her mother that if she did testify, they would lose her
home, that they would have to move to Fresno, which Amy did not
want to do; sne hated living in Fresno. She was told that once this
was all over, if she did not testify, she would get a new brass bed
that she had always wanted, and she would get new wallpaper---

Senator SPECTER. How did she respond to the jailing? I mean,
what you were really on was a tug-of-war between the forces keep-
ing Amy away from testify, contrasted with the pressure of being
in jail.

Mr. KOBRIN. Amy's conditions in Juvenile Hall were not harsh at
all. She had a color television set, a radio, candy, magazines. She
had visitors; she had pretty much free run of the place when the
delinquent population was locked up.

Senator SPECTER. Did you consider having it not quite so pleas-
ant, as a method of putting more pressure on her?

Mr. KomaN. We did not consider that, really, within the province
of the district attorney's office. The Juvenile Hall :s run by the pro-
bation department, under California law, and we did not deem it
our--.

senator SPErnat. Well, you could make a suggestion to the court
about a sanction.

Mr. Koam. We could, but we did not.
Senator SPErTER. I take it it was a fairly uncomfortable situation

for you as you evaluated it day by day. Did you spend a lot of time
on it?
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Mi.. kinniiN, It was uncomfortable being the focus of so much
controversy. However. we were confident that we were doing the
only proper thing under the circumstances. The precis and the
public were not aware of everything that we were, and it would
nave been improper for us to have commented on the true facts of
the situation.

Senator SPECTER. What was the key factor which led you to final-
ly discontinue the incarceration?

Mr. K0RRIN. Well, we had been told by Amy on two to three oc-
casions that she would testify. In fact, the Friday before the matter
was dismissed, she had indicated she would testify on the following
Monday. She wanted to wait the weekend to see what else she
could get from her mother besides the brass bed &nd so on, if she
did not testify until then. Amy was, in fact, apparently, using the
situation to get things from her mother.

Senator SPECTER. Did her mother up the ante over the weekend?
Mr. KORRIN. I do not know. At that point, her mother was not

having direct contact with Amy. That had been prohibited by the
court when it became apparent that--.

Senator Smemit. So how was Amy negotiating with her mother?
Mr. KOH/UN. I do not know at this point.
To ensure the protection of Amy in the future and prevent as

much as possible the sexual victimization of others in the future,
we thought it was necessary that the defendant be under the super-
vision of the court and probation department, and the only way to
obtain that and guarantee that he could not unilaterally terminate
the supervision and the psychological counseling that would accom-
pany it was through a criminal conviction. The only way to obtain
that was if Amy testified.

We were aware of Amy's conditions in the hall, as I have just
indicated. She had a room of her own. In fact, later co,: when she
was sent to a foster home at the order of Judge Harris, she indicat-
ed she did not !Ike it at the foster home, that she wanted to be
back at Juvenile Hall. She liked it at Juvenile Hall. She had her
own room there, and did not like being with eight or nine other
children, as she was at the foster home.

Also, her mental and physical state were evaluated frequently by
probation department personnel, social workers, and Jo Ann Mc Le-
vis of our office.

On several occasions during the pendency of the proceedings, our
office received word from Amy that she wanted to testify.

On January 4, 1984, the probation department advised us that
Any had indicated she would testify on the following day. She did
not.

On January ti, Amy told Jo Ann Mc Levis she would testify if she
could first meet with her mother. and her mother told her it was
all right for her to testify. Amy's mother refused to talk with Amy
unless she was first given immunity from prosecution. Amy's
mother was granted immunity for past conduct in influencing Amy
not to testify. Amy's mother refused, however, to tell Amy she
should testify, but agreed to tell Amy she would love her whatever
Amy decided to do. After their meeting, Amy's mother, through
her own attorney. and Amy's attorneys, indicated they believed
Amy would testify. When she took the witness stand, her attorney
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requested a continuance until the following Monday, and the court
granted that.

Meanwhile, the next day, Saturday, January 7, 1984, Amy's at-
torney made an ex parte request to Judge Richard Harris of the
superior court that Amy be released to a foster home. Without at-
tempting to notify or consult with the district attorney's office,
Judge Harris granted the motion, ordered Amy's immediate release
to a foster home, and set January 10, 1984, to hear the district at-
torney's position.

On Monday, January 9, 1984, Amy took the witness stand and
once again, refused to take the oath and testify. The defendant was
again offered a negotiated plea to a misdemeanor charge of annoy-
ing or molesting a child under the age of 18 years. He again re-
fused.

Discussions within the office of the district attorney resulted in
the determination by District Attorney Mike Nail that further in-
carceration of Amy would not induce her to change her mind and
testify. As a result, the case against Dr. Tonnemacher was dis-
missed. District Attorney Mike Nail has proposed a change in the
law in California, which is along the lines as you have discussed
previously with other witnesses in this hearinga new exception
to the hearsay rule that would permit the reading into the record
of a statement of a victim of child molest, or the playing of a video-
tape of that statement in court to establish the corpus delecti
needed to permit the introduction of the defendant's admission or
confession into evidence. Such a change in the law would balance
the need of society to be, protected from child molesters and the
need to protect the victim s rights with the rights of those accused.

But the case of People v. Tonnemacher, has brought to light in
the minds of many of those who know all the facts of the case, the
need for other changes as well. The need for an evaluation of the
ethics of a national press more interested in sensationalism than
objective reporting of the facts. The need for the setting of guide-
lines for attorneys who represent victims, especially juvenile vic-
tims, who refuse to testify.

Should the attorney merely advise such a victim of his or her
legal obligations and rights and the consequences of violating those
obligations?

Should the attorney advise his client that, in the attorney's opin-
ion, the client will not be held in custody much longer, thereby en-
couraging the client to continue with his or her course of conduct?

And should the superior court permit a mother who does not
want her daughter to testify against her husband to hire an
ney for that daughter and order that the attorney be permitte.. to
meet alone with the daughter despite the daughter s insistence
that she does not want to meet alone with the attorney, let alone
be represented by him?

Under California law, the charges against Dr. Tonnemacher
cannot be refiled, even if Amy now changes her mind and decides
to testify. The decision to prosecute Dr. Tonnemacher against the
will of his victim was not an easy one. It was even harder to ask
the court to hold Amy in contempt and incarcerate her. But under
the existing laws and the facts of the case, they were the proper
decision.
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Senator Sexcnii. Thank you very much, Deputy District Attor-
ney Kobrin. That is very enlightening, and 1 very much appreciate
your being here and giving us that full explanation and responding
to the questions.

[The following was received for the record:]

PREPARED STATEMENT oF' KENNETH KoHHIN

During the first few months of 1983, Amy, a twelve year old girl, was molested on
approximately five to seven occasions by her stepfather, then United States Air
Force physician Kent David Tonnemacher. Not allegedly molestedmolested, for
Dr. Tonnemacher admitted in a signed statement to Vacaville Police Officer Pauline
Hughes conduct by himself that amounted to a violation of section 2881a) of the Cali-
fornia Penal Codelewd or lascivious acts upon or with the body of a child under
the age of fourteen yearsa felony punishable by three, six or eight years in prison.
The Vacaville Police Department forwarded a copy of its investigation of the matter
to the Office of the District Attorney of So lano County and requested that criminal
charges be filed. That investigation was reviewed by District Attorney Mike Nail
who concurred with the Police Department's assessment and directed the issuance
of a felony criminal complaint.

On September Iti, 1983, the complaint against Dr. Tonnemacher was dismissed by
the court after it granted a motion to quash the subpoena directing Amy's appear-
ance at the preliminary hearing set for that day. Prior to the dismissal, Dr. Tonne-
macher rejected an offer of a negotiated plea to a misdemeanor violation of section
6.17a of the California Penal Codeannoying or molesting a child under the age of
eighteen years. This offer of a negotiated plea was made by the District Attorney's
office to avoid the necessity of calling Amy to testify against her will.

California law permits the refilling of a felony complaint one time after a dismis-
sal. Discussions were held within the Office of the District Attorney concerning the
refiling of charges. Due to the fact that the defendant was a physician and as such
held a position of trust and had occasion to give intimate examinations to female
patients, it was decided that the defendant must be monitored by the court and pro-
bation department. Chief Deputy District Attorney Michael Smith directed that the
case be refiled.

On December 30, 1983. the preliminary hearing was commenced on the refiled
charge. Amy, accompained by the attorney retained for her by her mother, was
called to the witness stand. She refused to take the oath and was found in civil con-
temp of court by Judge John DeRonde pursuant to section 1219 of the California
('ode of Civil Procedure. Section 1219 empowers the court to hold in confinement
any person who refuses to obey a lawful order of the courtand who has the ability
to obey the orderuntil such time as the order is complied with or until it becomes
apparent that further incarceration will not compel compliance with the court's
lawful order.

After evaluating the limited options available, Amy was taken into custody and
held at the Solano County Juvenile Hallthe only secure detention facility for juve-
niles in the county. Meeting with Amy in advance of the hearing date were not held
due both to her having moved outside of the county and her attorney's request.

On January 2, 1981, Jo Ann McLevis, Victim-Witness Coordinator for the District
Attorney's VictimWitness Assistance Program, met with Amy at Juvenile Hall.
During Ms. McLevis' conversation with Amy, Amy confirmed the belief of the Dis-
trict Attorney's office that her refusal to take the oath and testify was due to im-
proper conduct by Amy's mother and Amy's belief that her mother would be angry
with her if she told the truth.

Although Amy had already told Officer Hughes what her stepfather had done to
her. her out of court statement constituted hearsay and was not admissible in court.
Not one of the numerous exceptions to the hearsay rule applied to the situation.
While the defendant's statement to Officer Hughes did fall within the admission ex-
ception to the hearsay rule, California law does not permit the use of a criminal
defendant's admission or confession unless the prosecution first entablishes the
corpus of the crime with independent admissible evidence. In the case of The People
of the State of Colifewnia vs Kent David Tonnemacher, the only independent admis-
sible evidence of the offense so as to permit the. introduction of the defendant's con-
fession was the direct testimony of Amy herself.

During the fallowing week, Amy was called to the witness stand vetch court day.
Each day, Amy, in the accompaniment of an attorney, refused to take the oath and
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testify. Each day, Amy was again found in civil contempt of court and remanded to
costa i'y.

situation. the propriety of her continued incarceration and the propriety of
cone ued prosecution of the case against her stepfather were evaluated and re-eval-
uittuo daily by District Attorney Mike Nail, Chief Deputy District Attorneys Mi-
chael Smith and David Paulson, Jo Ann McLevis, myself and others in the office.
The views of (ethers, including the Solano County Probation Department, the Solano
County Welfare Department, the press and public were heard and considered. Each
time, the consensus in the District Attorney's office was the same. Amy was refus-
ing to testify because of pressure from her mother. To ensure the protection of Amy
in the future and prevent as much as possible the sexual victimization of others in
the future, it was necessary that the defendant be under the supervision of the
court and probation department, The only way to obtain such supervision and guar-
antee that the defendant could not unilaterally terminate such supervision and the
psychological counseling that would accompany it was through a criminal convic-
tion. The only way to obtain a criminal conviction, absent a guilty plea by the de-
fendant, was if Amy testified.

The District Attorney's (Alice was aware of the conditions of Amy's incarceration.
Amy's condition and state of mind were monitored and assessed frequently by the
probation department, social workers and the victim-witness coordinator. She was
held in a roomcell if you so choose to call itof her own. In accordance with the
law, her door was locked while the delinquent population of juvenile hall was out
and about, in order to keep her separate from juveniles being detained for criminal
conduct. When the delinquent population was not out, Amy's door was not locked
and she frequently roamed the visiting room and other open areas. She had visi-
tors- -juvenile hail staff, her attorneys, social workers, and the victim-witness coor-
dinator from the District Attorney's office. Her visits were unmonitored and unre-
stricted unlike the usual visiting time rules, although her mother's visitation rights
were suspended when it became apparent she was improperly influencing Amy's de-
cision. Amy was permitted a color television, a radio, and candy in her room and
was brought Read from area restaurants when she indicated she did not like the food
normally served in juvenile hall. Her conditions were not cruel, they were not
harsh.

On several occasions durin4he pendency of the proceedings, the District Attor-
ney's office receivod word from Amy that she wanted to testify. On January 4, 1984,
the prohation department advised that Amy had indicated she would testify on the
f011owing day. She did not. On January 6, Amy told Jo Ann McLevis she would tes-
tify if she could meet with her mother and her mother told her it was alright for
her to testify. Amy's mother refused to talk with Amy unless she was first given
immunity from prosecution. Amy's mother was granted immunity For past conduct
in influencing Amy not to testify. Amy's mother refused to tell Amy she should tes-
tify but agreed to tell Amy she would love her whatever Amy decided to do. After
their nieuting. Amy's mother, through her own attorney, and Amy's attorneys indi-
cated they believed Amy would testify. When she took the witness stand, her attor-
ney requested a continuance until the following Monday. The court granted the
mot ion,

On Saturday, January 7, 194, Amy's attorney made an ex parte request to Judge
Richard Harris of the Superior Court that Amy be released to a foster home. With-
out attempting to notify or consult with the District Attorney's office, Judge Harris
granted the motion, ordered Amy's iminediate release to a foster home and set Jan-
uary 1U, Ifts I to hear the District Attorney's position.

On Monday. January 9. l9Ka. Amy took the witness stand and, once again, re-
fused to take the oath and testify. The defendant was again offered a negotiated
plea to a misdemeanor charge of annoying or molesting a child under the age of
eigliti.en years. The defendant again refused.

Discussions within the office of the district attorney resulted in a determination
by District Attorney Mike Nail that further incarceration of Amy would not induce
her to change her mind and testify. As a result, the District Attorney's office moved
to dismiss charges against Dr. Tonnemacher. Judge DeRonde indicated that the
court had independently reached the same conclusion and granted the motion to
dismiss.

District Attorney Mike Nail has proposed a change in the law in California a
new exception to the hearsay rule that would permit the reading into the record of
the statement of a victim of child molest or the playing of a videotape of that state-
ment in court to establish the corpus delecti needed to permit the introduction of
the deiemlaiit's adnassion or confession into evidence. Such a change of law would
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balance the aryl if iii wtv to be protected from child molesters and the need to
prided the victim.- right'. with the rights of those accused of criminal conductBut the case of People vs. Tonnemacher has brought to light in the minds of
many who know all the facts of the case the need for other changes as well. The
need for an evaluation of the ethics of a national press more interested in sensation-
alism than objective reporting of the facts. The need for the setting of guidelines forattorneys who represent victimsespecially juvenile victimsof crime who refuseto testify Sh011 Id the attorney merely advise such a victim of his or her legal obliga-
tions and rights anc: the consequences of violating those obligations'? Should the at-
torney advise his client that, in the attorney's opinion the client will not be held incustody much longer. thereby encouraging the client to continue with his or hercourse of conduct? And should the Superior Court permit a mother who dues notwant her daughter to testify against her husband to hire an attorney for that
daughter and order that the attorney be permitted to meet alone with the daughter
despite the daughter's insistence that she does not want to meet alone with the at-torney. let alone he represented by him?

Under California law, the charges against ))r. Tonnemacher cannot be reified,
even if Amy now change her mind and decides to testify.

The decision to prosecute Dr. Tonnemacher against the will of his victim was notan easy one. The decision to ask the court to hold Army in contempt and incarcer-ate her was even more difficult. But under the existing laws and the facts of thecase, they were the proper decisions.
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PRESS RELEASE

The Office of the District Attorney of Solano County is

charged with enforcing the laws of the State of California. We do

not make those laws. When the abuse of a child, be it sexual or

otherwise, comes to the attention of a child care custodian,

medical or nonmedical practitioner or employee of a child protec-

tion agency, within the scope of his or her employment, that

person must notify the appropriate law enforcement agency, proba-

tion department or welfare department (Penal Code 11166). An

investigation is then conducted and the results forwarded to the

District Attorney's Office if a violation of law appears to have

occurred.

That procedure was followed in the case of People vs. Kent

David Tonnemacher. Based on the evidence, which included a con-

fession by Dr. Tonnemacher to Officer Hughes of the Vacaville

Police Department, this office filed a felony charge alleging a

violation of California Penal Code Section 288(a).

Before a confession can be introduced into evidence, California

law requires an independent showing by admissible evidence that a

violation of the statute occurred. The only independent admissible__

evidence of the violation in the case of Dr. Tonnemacher was the

testimony of his step-daughter.

The victim refused to obey a lawful Order of the Court that she

take the oath and testify. As a result of her refusal to obey the

law, the victim was found in civil contempt (Code of Civil Procedure

1219) and placed in custody. She was in custody not because she

was the victim, but because she disobeyed the law. This office did

not want her in custody, we were concerned about her welfare. But

this was the only remedy the law provided. Without her testimony,

a child molester would be able to continue to give intimate exami-

nations to other female minors. Although we are aware of no impro-

priety, this office is aware of at least two incidents, one of

which occurred after the original filing of this case, in which Dr.

Tonnemacher examined female minor victims of sexual abuse.

When the news media became interested in the case, they

picked up nn defense terminology and, without independent investi-
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gation, adopted terminology utilised by the defense that was meant

to inflame the public.

The press has utilised the term solitary confinement. Amy

was held in Juvenile Hall in a room of her own. The door was

locked during the day while the delinquent population of the Hall

were out. When the delinquent population was returned to a locked

status, her door was left unlocked. In her room, Amy had a color

television and a radio. She was visited by Children's Protective

Services and a social worker. She did not like the food served at

Juvenile Hall so food was brought to her from Fairfield restaurants.

Since she was taken to a foster home on Saturday, Amy has muted

she preferred her conditions at Juvenile Hall over those of the

foster homel

The history of this case is frought with attempts to prevent

a hearing on the merits. When the case was first filed, Mrs.

Tonnemacher hired an attorney to challenge the service of subpoena

on Amy. The motion to quash the subpoena was granted and resulted

in a dismissal of the case. Under California law, a felony case

can be dismissed twice before further prosecution is barred. The

matter was refiled and Amy was nerved with a subpoena to be present

at the arraignment. Defense attorney, Gary Ichikawa, learned of

the refiling and, without notice to this office that he was asking

for an acceleration of the arraignment date, went before a visiting

judge who arraigned Dr. Tonnemacher and set a preliminary hearing

only five court dayi-fater, well in advance of the date Amy was to

appear.

The Office of the District Attorney shared the concern and

outrage over the situation. But it was a situation created by Amy's

parents - the step-father who molested her, the moths who pres-

sured Amy not to testify. It was not until Friday that her mother,

Lupe Tonnemacher, was willing to do anything to end the stalemate

that was created by her own pressures which had convinced Amy not

to testify. At that time, Mrs. Tonnemacher agreed to talk to Amy,

but only to the extent that she would tell Amy she loved her no
matter what happened. She agreed to do this only after the Office

of the District Attorney agreed not to prosecute her for any past
conduct that might have persuaded Amy not to testify.

As of last Friday, we believed Amy would testify today. Her

mother conveyed to us, through an attorney, that she also believed

Amy would testify today.

Unfortunately, Amy has not testified.

The Office of the District Attorney is convinced that further

incarceration will not induce Amy to testify. We are unable to

proceed without her testimony. We offered the defendant a misde-

meanor plea which he rejected.

We therefore had no alternative but to dismiss the charge.
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PRESS RELEASE

BECAUSE OF WIDESPREAD MEDIA ATTENTION AND COMMENTS

BY THOSE WHO HAVE DISTORTED, OR, AT THE VERY LEAST, HAVE

ATTEMPTED TO SHIFT THE FOCUS OF THIS CASE AWAY FROM THE

SEARCH FOR THE TRUTH, THIS COURT FEELS COMPELLED TO

STATE THE !PACTS OF THIS CASE FOR THE PUBLIC BENEFIT.

THIS IS A FELONY CHILD MOLESTATION CASE THAT THE

SOLANO COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE ELECTED TO

PROSECUTE. IT INVOLVES AN ACCUSED CHILD MOLESTER WHO

HAS ADMITTED UNLAWFUL SEXUAL CONTACTS WITH HIS TWELVE -

YEAR -OLD STEPDAUGHTER, WHO LATER PLEAD NOT GUILTY WHEN

CHARGED WITH THE CRIMINAL ACT.

AS A RESULT OF THIS NOT GUILTY PLEA, THE DISTRICT

ATTORNEY'S OFFICE WAS COMPELLED TO CALL THE VICTIM OF THE

SEXUAL OFFENSE TO PROVE THEIR CASE,FOR THE LAW DOES NOT

DEEM A CONFESSION SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT A PERSON OF ANY

CRIME WITHOUT SUFFICIENT INDEPENDENT EVIDENCE AS TO THE

OCCURRENCE OF THE CRIME.

THE VICTIM'S MOTHER WAS SUBPOENAED TO APPEAR AT THE

FIRST SCHEDULED COURT HEARING AND WAS GIVEN A SUBPOENA

AND DIRECTIVE TO BRING HER DAUGHTER AS WELL. SHE FAILED

TO BRING HER DAUGHTER AS REQUESTED AND THE PROCEEDINGS

WERE DISMISSED.

THE PROCEEDINGS WLRE REINSTATED AFTER THE DISTRICT

ATTORNEY FILED A SECOND COMPLAINT AND THE CHILD APPEARED

AT THE HEARING THIS TIME WITH AN ATTORNEY, HIRED BY THE

MOTHER. WITH THE ATTORNEY AND HER MOTHER.PRESENT, THE
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VICTIM REFUSED TO TAKE THE OATH AND TELL THE TRUTH ABOUT

WHAT HER STEPFATHER HAD DONE TO HER.

THIS JUDGE WAS THEN PLACED INTO A POSITION OF DISMISSING

THE CHARGES AND ALLOWING THE DEFENDANT TO GO FREE OR TRYING

TO REMOVE THE CHILD FROM THE INFLUENCE OF TREMENDOUS PSYCHO-

LOGICAL PRESSURE THAT4WAS CAUSING HER TO REFUSE TO TESTIFY.

NO ONE REGRETTED MORE THAN I THE INVOCATION OF THE

COURT'S POWERS OF CONTEMPT. THROUGHOUT THE COURSE OF THESE

PROCEEDINGS, THIS JUDGE MADE NUMEROUS INQUIRIES INTO THE .

CHILD'S EMOTIONAL AND PHYSICAL WELL BEING. INDEED, I INVITED

AND SOLICITED THE AID OF OUR VICTIM/WITNESS PROTECTION PER-

SONNEL AND CHILD PROTECTIVE SERVICES TO PROVIDE COUNSELING

AID TO THE VICTIM AND TO SUGGEST TO THE COURT ALTERNATIVE

PLACEMENT FAC/LITIES.

AFTER HAVING BEEN INTERVIEWED AND COUNSELED BY THE

VICTIM/WITNESS PROTECTION PERSONNEL AND HAVING REMAINED FREE

OF THE INFLUENCE or THE DEFENDANT'S WIFE FOR A SHORT PERIOD

OF TIME, IT WAS REPORTED TO THIS COURT LAST FRIDAY MORNING

THAT TEE VICTIM WAS GOING TO TELL THE TRUTH ABOUT HER STEP-

FATHER'S SEXUALLY FONDLING HER. JUST BEFORE GIVING HER

TESTIMONY, THIS COURT WAS SERVED WITH AN ORDER FROM JUDGE

RICHARD M. HARRIS WHICH REQUIRED THAT A NEW ATTORNEY, AGAIN

HIRED BY THE ACCUSED'S WIFE, BE ORDERED TO TALK IN PRIVATE

WITH THE GIRL. ALTHOUGH THE VICTIM EXPRESSED A DESIRE NOT

TO SPEAK TO THE NEW ATTORNEY, .THIS COURT HAD NO OPTION BUT

TO FOLLOW THE ORDER OF JUDGE HARRIS FORCING THE'INTERVIEW.

THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY AND THE VICTIM/WITNESS PROTECTION

PERSONNEL WERE NOT ALLOWED TO BE PRESCNT AS A NATURAL RESULT

OF JUDGE HARRIS' ORDER.
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AFTER THE INTERVIEW, THE VICTIM WAS TOO DISTRAUGHT.TO

TESTIFY.

ON SATURDAY, JANUARY 7, 1984, THE ATTORNEY HIRED BY THE

DEFENDANT'S WIFE APPROACHED JUDGE HARRIS WITHOUT NOTIFYING

THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE AND OBTAINED AN ORDER

RELEASING THE YOUNG GIRL, AN ACT WHICH EFFECTIVELY ELIMINATED

THIS COURT'S CIVIL CONTEMPT 'POWER AND ABILITY TO PROCEED ANY

FURTHER WITH THE HEARING AGAINST THE DEFENDANT. AS A RESULT,

THE PROCEEDINGS WERE DISMISSED.

THE EFFECT OF THIS DISMISSAL IS AN ABROGATION OF JUSTICE

AND DENIES THE STATE AN OPPORTUNITY TO PROVE.ITS CASE. THE

UNFORTUNATE PLIGHT OF THE VICTIM IN THE SHORT RUN HAS OVER-

SHADOWED AND COMPLETELY ECLIPSED HER TRAVAIL IN THE FUTURE.

THE DEFENDANT'S VOLUNTARILY CONFESSING HIS CRIMES AND

SEEKING OUT COUNSELING IS LAUDABLE, BUT IT DOES NOT DECLARE

HIM INNOCENT BEFORE THE COURT. AS A RESULT ')F THE PROCEEDINGS

BEING DISMISSED, HOWEVER, NO COURT WILL HAVE ANY INFLUENCE

OVER THE DEFENDANT'S BEHAVIOR IN THE FUTURE WHETHER HE ELECTS

TO CONTINUE COUNSELING OR NOT.

PERHAPS THE MOST UNFORTUNATE RESULT OF THE CASE IN THE

LONG RUN IS THAT THE DISMISSAL, MADE INEVITABLE BY JUDGE

HARRIS' ORDER, SERVES AS A STATEMENT TO OTHERS, BOTH DEFENSE

ATTORNEYS AND THOSE ACCUSED OF SIMILAR SEXUAL CRIMES AGAINST

MINORS, THAT WITNESS INTIMIDATION AND CoWICION WILL NOT DE

PUNISHED BUT INSTEAD BE REWARDED BY A DISMISSAL O1 CHARGES.

THAT LEAVES BUT ONE RESULT, THAT THE ADMITTED CHILD

MOLESTER IS SET FREE, WITHOUT PUNISHMENT OR CONTROLS,

INTO THE COMMUNITY.
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IN CONCLUSION, I FOLLOWED THE LAW AND DID WHAT

THE LAW REQUIRED ONLY TO BE CASTIGATED IN THE PRESS.

AS A CONSEQUENCE A4GUILTY PERSON GOES FREE, THE CHILD'S

ANGUISH PERSISTS, FUTURE TRANSGRESSIONS MAY DEVELOP

AND THE SYSTEM NOW HAS BEEN MODIFIED TO SANCTION

WITNESS INTIMIDATION BY THOSE THAT CAN AFFORD TO EMPLOY

SUCH TACTICS.

DATED: January 9, 1984

/ARABLE JOH A. DeRONDE
Judge of the Municipal Court
Solano County
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January 16, 1984

MICE NARL
District Attorney

COUNTY OF BOLAN°

HALL OF AORTIC!
SOO UNION MENU!

FAIRFIELD. CALIFORNIA 5403
TILIPNONI: (7011 4211.011

INFOI*ATIONAL MEMORANDUM

In the interest of preserving the context of my conversations
with victim AMY MILLAR, I have prepared and attached a detailed
record regarding those contacts.

,tan Mc riasPie am Coordinator
iotn-Witness Assistance Program

District Attorney's Office

Hy first visit with Amy was at Juvenile hall on i4onday,

January 2, 1904, tnree days after she was remanded into custody

for refusing to take the oath. The visit lasted for approximately

11/4 hours from 5 - 6:30 pm. When I first arrived, Amy

acknowledged my presence but seemed indifferent and distant

to me. While Amy layed facing tne wall, I told her wno I was

and what my role was in her case, and tnat she had a right to

talk or to not talk with me. Although Amy agreed to talk with

me, she was quiet and reclusive for tne first 10-15 minutes

and remained facing the wall.

I told Amy that I believed her story and that I have worked

with hundreds of kids who have been sexually abused and tnat

I know that she probably felt very alone, but there are

thousands of kids who have been sexually abused. I told her

that studies show that less than 2111 of reports like this are

kids lying . . . . that I know how embarrassing this must be

and I wanted to help her if I could, but that I needed her nelp

to do that. I told her that I was not nere to convince nor she

should testify that that choice and consuquence was hers.

My job was to kepp ner informed and help her if I could.
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She rolled over and sat up in her bed and really looked

at me for the first time. I asked her wont she believed would

Happen if she testified. She responded tnat Kent would yet

in a lot of serious trouble and probably lose his job and teat

ner mother would be very mad with her. I asked nor what made

her think that. Sne said her mother did - - that sae (tau

mother) had told her (Amy) that if see testified sent would

yo to jail and lose his job and they would lose their home

and nave to sail their furniture and move to Fresno. Amy

said she hated living in Fresno where sae has been in CPS

placement with her maternal grandparents, and sue wanted to

return to her home in Vacaville. I asked Amy how she felt

about her stepfather. She stated that she hated him and always

had. She thought ne was weird and was upset when her mother

married him. She stated she even hated nim more for wnat he

had done to her. I then asked her why then was she trying

to protect aim - - didn't she think he was wrong in what

ne nad done and would one want him to do tnat to ner again or

to her girlfriend? She became irritated and responded see

was not protecting him that she knew it was wrong and she

wanted him to be punished for what he had done, but ner

mother would not ever let her come home Al she testified

agaJnst ';am because she (Amy) knew that her mother would trY

to reconcile with him. I asked Amy if she wasn't concerned

about the defendant returning home and molesting her again.

She said no because her m mead promised her that it would

never happen again. I informed Amy of organizations who are

there to help her. We talked about Rape Crisis, Mental health,

Childrens' Home Society, Victim Outreach, and Parents/Daughters

fi Sons United. Amy said she had been involved in DSU and

didn't like it and didn't feel she fit in these because she

never saw the defendant as a father figure due to her dislike

of him. I asked Amy if She wanted me to call anyone for her.

She said no that her attorney told her she would be going

home soon and that she expected it would soon be over with.

trgave her my business card and added my home phone to it for
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'bee to call me if she wanted to talk about anything.

When I asked her to rate her relationship with her mom

on a scale of 1-10, she responded that before she came to

Juvenile Hall it was a 2 but since she came to Juvenile Hall

it was a 9. She attributed the improvement to sll the gifts

her mom was bringing her while she was there.

On Tuesday, January 3, 1984, I was approached by Tony

link/is about the purpose of my visit with Amy the preceediny

evening. I informed him of my function as Victim-Witness

Coordinator and that I was not attempting to influence her one

way or the other. The primary purpose of the visit was for

emotional support and to inform her of other victim service

*agencies should she desire their support or assistance.

Hr. Finkas said while he could appreciate the value of the

assistance I offered to Amy, he preferred that I not contact

her again and that he had advised Amy in that regard. He

inquired as to whether Ken Kobrin had knowledge of my visit

with Amy prior to the visit. I told him that he did not;

however, I had called him after the visit. Mr. Finkas made

reference to the visit as a possible impropriety. Approximately

20 minutes after this c,nversation, Hr. Finkas approached

me again to apologize for the manner in which he handled our

earlier contact.

On Thursday, January 5th, at approximately 10 am, the

case was recessed for one hour and I was instructed by the

Judge on the record to meet with Amy. Through her counsel,

Iry Grant, County Counsel, I was told Amy would not see met

however, she would meet with Jerry Collins from Probation

Juvenile Div..sion. Amy again communicated through Jerry she

would not see me. Jerry did yet her to agree to meet with

Margie Glideon from the Probation Department who is an

incest victim herself. After Margie mot with her, Amy told

Jerry she did not like Margie and would not see her again.

Margie told me their visit was somewhat intense and that
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Margie had shared her own experience with Amy and Amy became

quits emotional.

I communicated in writing to the Judge while on the bench

that Amy still refused to see me and that I telt my benefit

had been poisoned by the defense. I was instructed to continue

to try to meet with her. Finally, shortly before 11 am, I

was requested to accompany Ken Kobrin while he spoke with Amy.

Iry Grant was present. Amy was withdrawn and uncommunicative

Ken told her tnat she did not have to talk with us, but it

was important to him that she hear from nim what nis role and

obligations are and that he was trying to do what was best

for everyone . . . her and other little girls as well, and

that it was painful for him to have to keep her in Juvenile

Hall and he did not want to but didn't see where he had a

choice. This meeting lasted 6 to 7 minutes.

When called to the stand, Amy again refused to take the

oath and was remanded to Juvenile Hall.

At approximately 11350, Ken Kobrin told me that Judge

DeRonde had called and he wanted to see.me in nim chambers

sight away. I met him on his way out. We returned to his

!chambers and the Judge discussed with me, off the record,

his grave concern for Amy and what she was going through.

He said he was very impressed with the rapport he had witnessed

as establish with victims and he felt Amy could benefit in

having someone she could relate with in this time of despair

for her. He said it was most critical that I make contact

with her and open the lines of communication so that he would

be assured that she fully understood her legal obligation to

take the oath and to see if there was a resolvable conclusion

to this case. We discussed my conversation with Mr. Finkas

and my feelings that Amy had now been prejudiced that my

visits were punitive for her. The Judge felt that given time

I could reach her and she would sense the sincerity and concern

we all felt for her circumstance, and she would at least give

us a valid indication of her position. I was told by the
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Judge to visit Amy that evening in Juvenile Hall and that I

wasn't to take any "garbage" from anyone trying to stop mn - -

that if I encountered any interference I was to refer whomever

directly to him. I was to report back to the Judge the next

morning.

That evening I visited Amy at Juvenile Hall for approximately

three.heurs, 8 - 11 pm. I was surprised to find that she

seemed quite glad to see me. Again I told Amy that one did

not have to talk to me, but that I was titers on behalf of the

Judge and that he was very concerned about her and that ho

wanted me to see if the reason that she refused to take the

oath was somethin we could work out. Again, I asked her to

explain to me why she didn't want to testify. Amy responded

that she had already told ma that it wasn't that she didn't

want to testify but that she couldn't because her mom would

be angry with her. I asked her why she thought that and she

said her mom had told her about all tne terrible things that

would happen if she testified Kent going to jail,

loosing the house, furniture and moving to Fresno. Amy said

she hates Fresno and that she lives there now with her maternal

grandparents, who sne dislikes and thinks they are stupid.

She says, "They are on to her" and she can't do anything there

and they make her go to church.

She stated she wanted to return to her mom in Vacaville

because she can do whatever she wi.nts to there that she knows

exactly how to get her way Wheal she really wants it. When

asked what sne meant she stated, "I can be a real little

witch sometimes and I know exactly how to blackmail my mom."

When I asked her if there was anything to be gained in what

she was doing now she saiu, "Well, when I go home I'm getting

a new wood bedroom set, a brass bed I've always wanted, and my

mom has already picked out my new wallpaper from my room."

Then she proudly displayed the new Sony Walkman T.V. nor mom

had bought and delivered to Juvenile Hall along with several

vboxes of chocolates and other ceaing, and a selection of
A

v., '4

magazines. I asked her other than the materialistic gain,
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what else did she think would happen when she went home?

Had she thought about what would happen wnen Kent came home?

Did she think he would try to molest her again and what would

she do if he did? She said she wasn't worried, because her

mom said they (Mom a Kent) would just see one another and he

wouldn't move back in. I asked for how long did she think

her mom and Kent would be happy and content with that

arrangement . . . the expense of two housenolds and that I

felt he would return to the home. She said he was getting

counselling anyway. I told her it is rare that an offender

who voluntarily initiates counselling will complete it

because of the intensity of tne therapy. I told her the

only way Kent would continue with therapy would be if tne

Court ordered him to do so. She asked me tf I could ask

the Judge to do. that. I explained that the Judge did not

have the power to do that unless Kent either admitted :,is

guilt or the D.A. convicted him in a trial. She replieu

that Kent had already admitted his guilt and I said only

to the police, he would have to also admit it to the Judge,

which he hasn't done - - that he had pled NOT GUILTY and

that was why her testimony was so important - - that without

it, in the eyes of the law, he goes free as though it never

happened. She became angry and replied, "But he did it!

Ile molested me; he can't get off completely can ne?"

I told her that he could if she didn't testify. I asked her

what she wanted to happen. She said that she didn't want

him to go to jail but that she wanted him to be punished for

what he did. I told her she and her mom would have a right

to have their feelings expressed to the Judge who would handle

the sentencing and that I could not say that the Judge would

not send him to jail, but Kent could apply for work furlough

if he were sent to jail.

She told me if I could arrange a supervised visit with

her mom and if her mom would assure her that she wouldn't get

mad at her if she told the truth, then she would testify.

Any sked me waat kinds of questions would they ask her about
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what happened with gent. We talked about that, and she

expressed typical youthful embarrassment about saying "those

words" and asked if she could refer to them as her "private

spots". I toldher she could. Amy tolu ma the molests

occurred about 5 - 7 times beginning in May/June. She had

concerns about whether there would be other people in the

courtroom - - especially her family. She wanted everyone out.

She also wanted reassurance that I would be with her when

she testified. I reassured I would support her whatever her

decision. She asked if she could just la: the Judge know

tomorrow that she would testify, but she wanted to wait until

Moris!: Go testify. I asked her why would she want to do

that - - if sae testifies tome 'ow she'll be released from

Juvenile Hall. She said she knew that, but she wanted to

stay there for the weekend to see what she might be able to

get from her mom. I told her I didn't think that was a good

idea. We listened to tapes on her radio and played Old Maid

and had a soda. We tnen talked about T.V. shows, her dentist,

she Likes cats and big dogs.

The following morning I related my conversation with

Amy to Mike Nail, Mike Smith, and Ken Kobrin, and in a

separate conversation to the Judge. I was then instructed by

the Judge to approach Amy's mother regarding her willingness

to meet with Amy. The Judge had the bailiff summon

Mrs. Tonnemacher to his chambers where I was to meet with

her. She entered the room with confidence and with an air

of hostility. I intro( zed myself to her and thanked her for

meeting with me and I explained our meeting was at Amy's

request. I explained that Amy was prepared to tell the

truth and she needed her mother's reassurance that she

would not be angry with her. At this, Mrs. Tonnemacher

became furious and wanted to know who had gotten to Amy and

replied that she would not meet with Amy, and that she no

1-ager wished to meet with me without her attorney present.

She requested the presence of Mr. Hagler, whom the Bailiff

summoned.
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I explained to Mrs. Tonnemacher that I was not an attorney,

merely a liaison. She was very concerned about what I planned

to do with the information that she would not meet with her

daughter. I told her beyond informing the Judge and Ken

Kobrin that I didn't know what would happen. At this point,

Mr. Hagler appeared displaying theatrical confusion as to

why Mrs. Tonnemacner summoned him as he did not represent

her. He told her he would be happy to recommend an attorney

for her. Mrs. Tonnemacher responded with insistence that she

had retained him and expressed bewilderment at his action.

I offered the phone in the Judge's chambers for Mrs. Tonnemacher

to place her call; however, Mr. Hagler urged her that it

would be better for her to call from a pay phone and ne would

show her where it was.

I resumed my visit with Amy In which she kept inquiring

about when she would get to sae her mom. I tried to avoid the

topic, to not have to tell her that her mom refused to meet

with her. We crayoned pictures and talked about T.V. shows

until we were interrupted by Mr. Hagler who stated he had been

appointed by Judge Harris and was requesting that I leave the

room. Amy became upset and told him that she didn't want me

to leave and that she didn't want to talk with him. At this

point, Mr. Hagler ignored Amy and again requested that I

'..eave the room. Amy's protest became louder and stronger and

Mr. Hagler was now insisting that I oblige his request.

I reassured Amy that I was not abandoning her, but that I

would have to get legal guidance as to whether I coulo remain

with her. I left and got Ken Kobrin who confronted Mr. Hayler

with the support of hill Denton, Investigator from the U.A.'s

office. Mr. Hagler was told that if Amy wanted me present

that I would not leave her alone. Amy continued to express

her desire for my presence with her and Mr. Hagler continued

to insist that no one would be present when he spoke with

her. It was obviously a very heated unresolvable dispute

that a Judge would have to settle. Judge DeRonde deferred the
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dispute to Judge Herrin as the order appointing Mr. Hagler

came from him. Judge Harris concluded that Mr. Hagler would

be permitted 45 minutes alone with Amy, regardless of the

child's desires and that after the 45 minutes the child

could meet with us in whatever association she preferred,

and that I could see her only by contacting Mr. Hagler and

he would inquire of Amy as to whether she wanted to see me.

After the 45 minutes with Mr. Hagler, Amy did not request

to see me again.

When called to the stand to testify, Amy requested to

speak with her Lawyer, after which, the Court recessed.

The issue was still the supervised visit . . .Amy had not

fureotten it, she wanted her mother's reassurance.

Mrs. Tonnemacher had retained D n Russo as her counsel by this

time. Routines ensued with the D.A., Hr. Hagler, and Mr. Russo

to set up the terms of the visit. Mrs. Tonnemacher wanted

immunity from P.C. 136 prosecution and would not agree to

tell Amy she should tell the truth, but would agree to tell

her that she loved her. The meeting lasted approximately

40 minutes. At the conclusion, Amy was recalled to the stand

and for the first time showed emotional stress, at which

time Mr. Hagler requested an adjournment until Monday. It

was granted. Mr. Russo and hr. Hagler stated that they felt

Amy would testify on Monday.

On Sunday, January , I was informed that Amy had been

released to Foster Home Placement. I called Judge Harris at

home to get clarification on the contact order. He reaffirmed

his previous order. I called Mr. Hagler an requested that

he contact Amy to see if she would like me to visit her.

I expressed my concern that she was now amongst total stranyers

again and that she might need me. He refused my request,

stating that Amy had to initiate the contact request. I

told him of my conversation moments earlier wita Judye Harris

regarding the contact order. He responded that he would need

to talk witu the Judge personally and he wasn't sure when
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he would have the tims to do tact. I again called Judge Harris

and related Mr.,Hagler's refusal to comply with my request

and I requested that Judge Harris contact Mr. Hagler direct.

He agreed. Witnin 20 minutes, Mr. Hagler called me to apologize

for the misunderstanding and to say he would contact Amy and

would call me between 1:3U phs and 2:00 pm. At 3:30 pm I was

still waiting for the call. I was away from nome from

approximately 3:45 - 5:45. I called Mr. Hagler on my return

at 6 pm and he assured me that he tried to call me at 4:45.

I reminded him tnat our agreement was 1:30 - 2:00, and he

stated that nis meeting became more extensive tnan ne

anticipated, but that Amy want to see me. He provided

me with the address, phone numuer and directions to the foster

home. lie also stated there were about 8 - 9 children in the

foster home. I called tno foster home and spoke wit:: Mrs. Uouord

and asked ner if it was okay if I brougnt ice cream anu cones

for the kids. The visit lasted for approximately 1.11 hours,

7:30 - 9;00 pm. Tho visit was strictly social. i asked

Any how she liked the foster home and if everything wau okay.

She said it was okay, but she preferred to stay in Juvenile

Hall. She expressed anger and frustration at the critical

publicity about her conditions there. She commented that she

wished tie press would talk to her about it because she would

tell them it's net that bad there that she would ratner be

there tnan in tie foster home. I asked ner way and she stateu

'They were nice to me there, and I had my own room. here I

have to share a room with other kids and one girl steals

everyone's tnings," /my complained that the girl nad already

stolen all of ner candy teat she brougnt with ner from

Juvenile Hall.

I gave Amy the pictures sho had crayoned in Court on Friday

and brought nor a frame and some construction paper to mount

tne pictlres to InIMU. 4.0 ha,' ice cream, sodas, and framed

her pictures. We did nut dISCU3S dnytiany about the case or

her testimony au we were never alone. Tnere was no privacy

in toe nome witn nine cnildren and two adults. I felt Alloy
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might be uncomfortable with the subject matter under thcoe

circumstances. We did discuss vary briefly sexual abuse

crisis agencies. I gave her a list of the agencies and

their phone numbers and encouraged liur to call them or me if

she needs assistance.

KENT DAVID TONNEMACHER

8/3/83 Intake by District Attorney Mike Nail--notation
"Defendant should P.A.C."

gilu/41 Defendant arraigned by Brewer, Deputy
District Attorney Kathy Green
present. Defendant represented by
Ichikawa. Defendant pled Not Guilty,
Readiness Conference set 9/24/83. Defendant
oR'd.

8/24/R3 Telephone call between Ichikawa and Deputy
District Attorney Ken Kobrin. Ken
Kobrin advises Ichikawa no authority to
negotiate due to Mike Nail's P.A.C. note.

4/24/83 Readiness Conference (Judge Harris).
Continued to 9/7/83 at defendant's request
for Ichikawa to talk with Chief Deputy
District Attorney R. Michael Smith or
Mike Nail re plea bargain.

H/10/83 Defendant files motion to set a prelim,
motion set for 9/1/83.

9,1/81 Prelim set for 9/16/83.

9'I5 /83 Finkas files motion to quash subpoena issued
for Victim Amy Millar due to lack of personal
service.

1.'19/83

Motion to quash Victim's subpoena granted. I

spoke with Victim who advised of her desire
not to testify prior to motion to quash.
Mike smith then okayed a Misdemeanor 647a
offer and advised if rejected to proceed with
288(al. After motion to quash was granted court
denied District Attorney's motion to continue
and dismissed case. Defendant rejected 647a
nffet.

New complaint filed, same charge. Victim and
mother subpoenaed for arraignment date --
1/11/84 at 9 a.m.

Ichikawa given notice to appear and copy of
complaint.

12'2;/i3 Ichikawa tak,,s defendant before visiting
Judge Gurney and, without notice to District
Attorney, has defendant arraigned and
prelim set for 12/30/83.
Ichikawa later admitted he knew we had Victim
subpoenaed for 1/11/84.

12/27/83 District Attorney files motion to continue
prelim.

7:7
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12/28/Hi Motion to continue prelim taken under
submission. To 12/30/83 to see if District
Attorney can get Victim served to appear.

12/30183 Preliminary Hearing. Victim present. Victim
refuses to take oath. Victim remanded for
civil contempt. Prelim continued to next
court date, 1/3/84 over defendant's
objection.

Defendant ordered booked and released.

1/i/84 Preliminary Hearing. Ambrose appears for
Ichikawa. Court calls Linda Lyles as court's
witness re victim. Finkas moves to recuse
District Attorney--denied. District Attorney
moves to sever Finkas' attorney relationship
with victim--denied. Court appoints county
counsel to act on Victim's behalf. Victim
refuses to take the oath. Victim remanded- -
no visits from mother or father. To 1/4/84
for Prelim.

I/4/R4 Preiminary Hearing. Defendant with Ambrose.
Victim refuses to take oath. Victim
remanded. Prelim to 1/5/84 we had thought
Victim would testify per info from Jerry
Collins, Deputy Probation Officer).

I i1 Preliminary Hearing. Defendant with
Ichikawa. Finkas relieved by Court,
transcript ordered to State Bar.

Victim Witness Coordinator JoAnn McLevis
omered to meet with Victim. Victim refuses
to take oath. Remanded to 1/6/84.

I'6/44 Preliminary Hearing Hagler has order from
Judge Harris allowing him to act as
co-counsel on Victim's behalf.

Motion to place Victim in foster home denied.

District Attorney agrees not to prosecute
mother for 136 P.C. if meets with Victim as
Victim requests. After meeting, mom says
she thinks Victim will testify.
Victim called to stand, Victim requests
t:ontinuance to 1/9/84. Granted.

1/7/84 Judge Harris orders Victim released to
foster home per USC on Petition for Writ
of Habeas Corpus. hearing set for 1/10/84.
No notice of request to release defendant
given to District Attorney prior to Harris
issuing order.

I's/i4 Preliminary Hearing. Victim refuses to
h. sworn. Defendant rejects 647a offer.
f:se dismissed.

1,1Q/A4 Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus denied as
moot. Victim placed in custody of motion.
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Senator SPECTER. I ,C1 me ask both of you gentlemen just one
question. That is, it is one I discussed earlier on the constitutional
right of confrontation. Do you think that it would ix. permissible to
have a child of tender years, say, 4 or 5, who really needs the pro-
tection of not being undt the glare of the perpetrator, testify on
closed-circuit television with the defendant watching the television
screen and having counsel for the defendant access to cross-exam-
ine via closed-circuit television, with the only factor absent being
the opportunity, the absence of the eye contact, or the potential for
eye contact between the victim and the defendant.

Mr. Kobrin, what do you think?
Mr. K0I3RIN. I do not see any reason why there should be any

problems with that. With a simultaneous broadcast, the defendant
can see everything that is going on, and I would be strongly in
favor of such action.

Senator SexcrEk. The one aspect that would not be present
would be the opportunity of the defendant to stare down the wit-
ness or to confront in the most direct way.

Mr. KOHRIN. I would also suggest that you might want to consid-
er even going a step further and perhaps suggesting that the de-
fense attorneyboth attorneys, for that matterhave their ques-
tions of the victim or the child brought through the judge, so that
the judge is the one actually propounding the questions, because I
have seen defense attorneys in court time and again with the in-
flection in the;r voice, the manner in which the question is asked,
attack the victim and put the child in a position where she cannot
respond.

Senator SPECTER. I think that is tougher to do, Mr. Kobrin.
What do you think, Judge?
.Judge YOUNGER. Mr. Chairman, I hate to bring controversy to a

mechanism which everyone seems comfortable withand I do
think that both Mr. Kobrin and the attorney from Maryland,
whose name escapes me, certainly made an intelligent presentation
of how you would do it, if' you are going to do it.

First, I continue to have some reservations about the lawfulness
of itand lawfulness of it means getting an appellate court in a
State such as mine to go for iiand you might wonder who really
wins, if' a trial judge does it. and then the whole thing gets
dumped. That is one thing.

But you talked about ti:s and icebergs earlier. The case that ac-
tually gets all the way to the courtroom, as dramatic and as tragic
as the incidents of which Mr. Kobrin has spoken may be, after all,
that is the tip: that is not the iceberg. The for more severe problem
that we all have to deal with is the iceberg of the tremendous
number of cases which never get anywhere near a courtroom or a
videocani, or anything else, because of a lot of kinds of pressures,
both in the family degeneration situation that you heard about ear-
lier. or in the "keep-the-family-together" situation we have talked
about now. My feeling that the courtroom part of the problem is
the tip. and it is not a very major part of the real world of these
overall problems. A modest proportion of the cases, I have a hunch,
are damaged by that.

Senator SeErrER. Thank you very much, Judge Younger. Thank
you very much, Deputy District Attorney Kobrin. It is that tip of
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the iceberg which ts all we can work with, in the courts or in theCongress, Lind by seeking to influence the judicial process and theway we deal with these problems, we seek to effect a tremendous
quantity of conduct and human behavior that goes on unobserved.That is what we are up...bere for.

Thank you all very mach.
I Whereupon, at 11:4 3 a.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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CHILD SEXUAL. ABUSE VICTIMS IN THE
COURTS

TUESDAY, MAY 22. 1954

U.S. SENATE,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE,

COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
Washington, DC

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:40 a.m., in room
SD-53S, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. Arlen Specter (chair-
man of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Senators Hawkins, and Grass ley.
Staff present: Mary Louise Westmoreland, chief counsel; Bruce

King, counsel; Mike Wootten, counsel (full committee), and Tracy
McGee, chief clerk.

Senator SPECTER. We are ready to begin this hearing of the Sub-
committee on Juvenile Justice of the Committee on the Judiciary
to consider children's testimony in sexual abuse cases.

Without objection, my prepared opening statement will be made
a part of the record.

(The following was received for the record:]

PREPARED OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. ARLEN SPECTER, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE
STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA, CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON JUVENILE JUSTICE

This is one of a series of hearings held by thi.. Juvenile Justice Subcommittee to
explore child molestation. Today our focus will be on children's court testimony
about being sexually abused.

The molestation of children has now reached epidemic proportions. Even by con-
servative estimates, a young American will he sexually molested once every two
minutes. Yet child sexual abuse is a problem that all too often is pushed under the
carpet. Parents don't want to believe It. Prosecutors look the other way. Even judges
often prefer not to face the hitter truth. Meanwhile, children are left helpless,
angry, and cynical, convinced that "the system" simply cannot be trusted.

In recent weeks, the Subcommittee has received letters and telephone calls from
parents across the country. Parents from Missouri and Texas have written of pros-
ecutors who will not press charges despite their children's urgent need for protec-
tion and' help. We have heard mothers in California, Pennsylvania, South Carolina
and Virginia complain of judges who refused to believe their daughter's accounts of
being raped. The stories in these letters and calls illustrate the widespread skepti-
cism that greets children's statements about sexual abuseskepticism that general-

is unjustified, according to most experts.
As a result of such skepticism, too few cases of child sexual abuse are reported

and too few reported cases are prosecuted. Today's hearing, however, will examine
what happens when cases do get to trial and children are summoned to tell their
story As we will hear, testifying can he a terrifying experience for these children.
They often are asked to testify while their abuser sits a few feet away, often after
threatening them if thew tell the truth.

What can we do to make children more comfOrtable about testifying without in-
trillium; defendants' right to expose untruths'? Some have suggested videotaping
children's statements outside the courtroom, or placing a one-way mirror between

(77'
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the delendant the child I hive stressed the need to prepare children
before their ordeal. ,i they know what to expect I look forward to discussing these
and other suggestion, tinkly

also am interested in exploring the issue of children's competency to testify
When. for example. is a child too young to be a competent witness? flow can we
determine whether a child's testimony can be relied upon? What standards ought to
be applied? What can he done to help children become better witnesses? Also, is
there a sound bask for laws requiring independent corroboration of children's testi
molly in these cases?

In addition, I am concerned about media access to child abuse trials. A few weeks
ago. I chaired a hearing on media coverage of rape trials. Many of the same con-
cerns apply here. Like rape victims, abused children may experience media coverage
io a form of revictinnzation. Testifying directly in the face of a molester is hard
enoughadd a room full of reporters and television cameras and a child often will
be overwhelmed. If the victim's identity is then publicized, his or her suffering may
again he compounded. How cia we minimize this suffering while respecting the con-
st out amid requirements of en. trials'

To help us examine these , al other related issues, we have a distinguished and
diverse group of witnesses here today. First we will hear from three people involved
in the Manhattan Beach. California case in which more than MO preschoolers al-
legedly we're sexually abused. Lael Rubin, the chief prosecutor, will begin, f011owed
by Kee MacFarlane, a nationally respected expert on child sexual abuse and a ther-
apist who hits worked with children in the case. Next, we will hear from a mother
whose daughter was the second child to reveal the alleged abuses. She requests that
she not he televised, so I would ask that the cameras be focused elsewhere when she
test i ties.

Our next panel will include, first, a girl from Maryland who has testified in court.
She will be accompanied by her mother and will tell us how she felt about taking
the stand. We also will hear from Bill Arnold, who will tell ahout his stepdaughter's
experience.

Our final panel includes Gary Melton, a psychologist and legal expert from the
University of Nebraska. Mr. Melton is here respresenting the American Psychologi-
cal Association. Finally, we are pleased to have with us Joyce Thomas, Director of
Child Protection at Children's Hospital here in Washington.

I want to thank all our witnesses for testifying today. I look forward to a produc-
tive and illuminating hearing.

Senator SPECTER. By way of introduction, this hearing is to con-
sider a variety of questions relating to the competency of juvenile
witnesses and procedures to be utilized in securing their testimony.

The Judiciary Committee has responsibilities for oversight and
legislation on procedures in Federal courts which touch upon juve-
nile witnesses and raise the issues of competency in procedures for
taking juvenile testimony, and the Juvenile Justice Subcommittee
has responsibility for the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquen-
cy Prevention, and it may be that in this burgeoning field, there
ought to be some very substantial attention and study by the Office
of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention to the issue of ju-
venile testimony in these very sensitive and very difficult cases.

The issue has arisen in the McMartin case about what proce-
dures will be used on testimony by juveniles, whether there can be
videotape t ranscripts, and it raises a very important considers' ion
on the defendant s constitutional rights to confrontation, as to
whether the defendant has a right to look his accuser in the eye
and in effect have an opportunity to stare down an accuser, a
standard which may have some greater basis where the witness -
victim and the defendant are both adults and can handle the situa-
tion, or whether it comports with due process of law to have a child
testify on videotape out of the presence of the defendant, but where
the defendant can see and hear fully what the victim says and
have the defense lawyer cross-examine by use of a videotape. It
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raises the collateral question as to television coverage of thesekinds of cases. This committee had hearings on the New Bedford,MA, rape case and considered the balancing of the factors as to thedesirability of acquainting the public with the very importantissues which are involved in a rape charge or on molestation of ju-veniles, a balancing of the rights of the witnesses to anonymity, notto be identified, not to be harassed, not to be followed. And there isan additional factor, more intense in dimension, as to juveniles, asto the subsequent effect of any such testimony on their future lives.I know from the point of view of a prosecuting attorney thrt theadditional consideration on a case is State versus defendant, wheretae witness-victim does not make a decision as to whether the casewill go forward; that is a matter for the State to determine, andthe State's agent is the prosecuting attorney. It may be that thereis such disastrous effect on some juveniles that there ought to besome further consideration as to whether some of the cases oughtto he brought at all, or where there are a number of witnesses,whether some 'an be left to carry the burden of the prosecution.These are all very difficult issues, and they are evolving as we arecoming into an era of seeing more and more eases of molestation ofchildren and the complex issues which they .resent.Those are some of the qu.93tions which we will be inquiring intoduring the course of the hearings today.
I am pleased to have joining on the panel the distinguished Sena-tor from Florida, Mrs. Hawkins, who has been a leader in missingchildren's issues. She has joined this subcommittee on a number ofhearings in the paaL authored important legislation on the subject,and has contributed much to this entire issue when, in the chil-dr "n's caucus a few weeks alo, Senator Hawkins at substantial per-sonal risk, made some disclosures which I think have advanced thecause of juveniles very substantially.
I am pleased to call on Senator Hawkins at this time for anopening statement.
Senator HawsiNs. In the interest of time, I will also submit myopening statement in the record. I just want to commend you, Sen-ator. for continuing your interest in this subject, for pursuing whatI feel is long overdue, and that is the official right of children inthe judicial systen Obviously, we have a long way to go, but withyour good leadership, we will male good strides. I thank you forletting me participate here. I have long been interested in the in-terests of children.
The following was received for the record:)

Pio PARED OPENINI; STATEMENT OF lION. PAULA HAWKINS, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THESTATE 111: FiJannA

Mr thi..rman, I appreciate your permitting me to join you here today. Although 1am not a ?mnlier of the Senate Judiciary Committer, 1 have a strong personal intprest in this -abject of children. and 1 am very impressed with your efforts to in-crease the public's awareness of the need fOr judicial aad administrative reforms re-r drd mg juvenile justice
Earlier this month. you held stone very disturbing hearings on the legal rights ofse.ual abuse victims Disturbing because when the children and their parents final-Qot the nerve to report the abuse. t he administrative and judicial sys. om wouldn'ttake them seriously. just distills:am; it as an emotional aspect of a bitt ar divorce orcti4oti kink
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It tiok 114 VIII'S lint lin' federal government into this issue, to enact legislation
which mandated the reporting of suspected cases of child abuse. Hut these statutes
are worthless if we don't stringently enforce them and investigate allegations of
abuse For these child protection statutes to he effective, we must insure that our
judicial and executive' branches are responsive to the special needs of a child victim
of sexual abuse

I have already had an opportunity to discuss this issue with our first witness, Kee
McFarland at great length, but I look forward to her testimony today as well as the
other witnesses who have agreed to testify today. For many of the witnesses it will
he a painful process of remembering a time of our lives that we would prefer to put
behind us. It was very difficult for me to speak out, but I have been very gratified
by the response. People have written to tell me that my public announcement has
helped them I know that your courage in discussing this issue to day will help
others avoid the trauma that you have experienced.

Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much, Senator Hawkins.
I would like to say at the outset that I will have to interrupt the

hearings very briefly for a few moments to go to the floor on the
agent orange' cese, which the leadership has scheduled this morn-
ing for 0:30, and I have to be present there for just a few moments
to introduce an amendment, but it will not be a long delay.

IA brief recess.)
Senator Se Kenn. At this time, our first witness is Ms. Lael

Rubin, the deputy district attorney of Los Angeles, who is in
charge of the McMartin case. She has had very extensive experi-
ence in this field and, I think, can shed considerable light on some
of the very important questions which we would like to address.

I would like to call at the same time, Ms. Kee MacFarlane, who
is the director of the Child Sexual Abuse Diagnostic Center of the
Children's Institute International, in Los Angeles, CA. Ms. MacFar-
lane is an expert in this field and is also very deeply involved in
the McMartin Manhattan Beach case.

If you ladies would step forward at this time, we would be
pleased to hear from you, and we will start with Ms. Rubin.

Thank you very much for coming, thank you for joining us.

STATEMENT (W LAEL RUBIN, DEPUTY DIVTRICT ATTORNEY, LOS
ANGELES, CA. AND KEE MarFARLANE, DIRECTOR, CHILI) SEX-
UAL ABUSE DIAGNOSTIC CENTER. CHILDREN'S INSTITUTE
INTERNATIONAL, LOS ANGELES. CA

Ms. RUBIN. Thank you very much.
Senator Specter, Senator Hawkins, I am a Los Angeles County

deputy district attorney and the chief' prosecutor in the McMartin
Preschool case, the Menhattan Beach child sexual abuse case.

During tOe forthcoming preliminary hearing and at trial in this
case. we intend to call approximately 35 children who range in age
from 1 to 10 years. These children have all suffered psychological
stoma as a result of the acts which have been perpetrated against

them When they testify in these proceedings, subject to cress-exam-
ination by seven defense attorneys, their testimony will no doubt
exacerbate such psychological trauma.

We are urging the California courts and the California Legisla-
ture to consider the needs of these children to do whatever is nee-
essai v and constitutionally permissible, to prevent any increased
psychological harm to these children without at the same time im-
pairing the constitutional and statutory safeguards afforded these
defendants and all persons charged with crime.
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I urge this subcommittee to do the same.
In the Mc Mortin case, we are asking that the court allow thechildren to testify by way of two-way closed circuit television as analternative to their testifying in an open courtroom a few feet fromthe defendants. Such contemporaneous examination by means ofclosed circuit television permits examination of the witnesses byboth the prosecution and the defense in the presence of the defend-ants. The defendants therefore will not be deprived of their sixthamendment rights of confrontation and cross-examination.
Two-way transmission of the testimony will allow the defendantsand each child witness to see and hear each other. As such, the tes-timony will be presented in a manner which is legally indistin-guishable from testimony given by a witness who is physicallypresent in the courtroom.
Further, we will he applying for a court order that the children'stestimony at the preliminary hearing be preserved on videotape.Under California law, upon timely application, when a victim is 15years of age or less, and the defendant is charged with certain spec-ified sex offenses including child molestation, the court must grantour request. Then, if at the time of trial, the court finds that fur-ther testimony would cause the victim emotional trauma so thatthe witnes,: then becomes medically unavailable to testify at trialunder the provisions of the evidence code, the trial court mayadmit the videotape of the victim's testimony given at the prelimi-nary hearing.
Senator SPECTER. Ms. Rubin, are you saying that it is a matter ofright under California law, where someone is 15 years or less, tohave the preliminary hear:ag videotaped?
Ms. RUBIN. It is a matter of right under California law when adefendant is charged with sex offenses, including rape and childmolestation. Yes, it is a matter of right. It is mandatory if the pros-ecution makes application within 3 days before the time of thehead tig.
Senator SPECTER. Have you made the application yet?
Ms. RUBIN. Yes, we have.
Senator SeEcrEtt. Ilas it been granted?
Ms. RUBIN. We have not yet had a hearing on our request forclosed circuit television and the application fbr videotape. But wecertainly expect the videotape request to be granted.
Senator Sevcrilt. But Califbrnia law has a specific provisionwhich allows for closed circuit television and videotape on the pre-liminary hearing is what you are saying.
Ms. RUBIN. Well, there are two separate sections. The sectionthat provides for this two-way closed circuit television is CaliforniaPenal Code section X4 .7. That is a matter which is discretionarywith the court, and the court may allow two-way closed circuit tele-vision as an alternative to the prosecution's requesting that thepreliminary hearing he closed.
Senator SPECTER. But if the preliminary hearing is closed, the de-fendant would he present, of course.

RtinN. Yeti; however. it is our intention that if in out' case,th- defense requests that the preliminary hearing be closed, sincetwo-way closed circuit television testimony is in our view, and ac-cording to the meager case law that we have as precedent, is legal-
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ly iudistinguishahle from a witness physically being present in
court, then it is our belief, and we art' going to urge the court that
even if the preliminar!, hearing is closed to the public that the
court should allow the children to testify by way of closed circuit

television.
Senator Sexcuu. You say the precedent is meager. Do you have

a specific ruling on closed circuit television as being sufficient for
the defendant's right to confrontation?

Ms. RUBIN. We have a recent case of the California Court of Ap-
peals in which the request for closed circuit television was not

made. The court speaks of the fact that it is legally indistinguish-
able, but it did not have to rule on that irsue because the request
had not been made.

In another case coming out of Los Angeles County, we have a
municipal court judge who has granted a request for closed circuit
television, but of course, that iN not binding precedent on another
municipal court judge.

Senator SPECTER. Senator Hawkins raises a questionwhy don't
you pose the .piestion, Senator Hawkins?

Senator IIAWKINS. If' the prosecutor decides not to request the
videotape, can the parents of the child request the prosecutor to re-
quest that it be videotaped?

Ms. RumN. Well, the parents of the children do not have any
dermal legal standing to make that request. They can, of course, in-
formally make that request of us. As a matter of course, we would

be, and we are in this case, requesting that the children's testimo-

ny be preserved on videotape. This is not a new procedure jusi.
dealing with children. I have had experience in having other peo-
ple's testimony preserved on videotape, for instance, someone who

is elderly or ill and may not be available for trial, and courts have
routinely granted the request that that testimony be preserved on
videotape.

Se -nator SPECTER. Senator Hawkins raises an iinportant question
about the rights of parties to private counsel. There are many
States which do accord private prosecutors a term which is used to
describe as you know frequently the prosecuting witness. Many
States do accord the witness and the family the opportunity to

have counsel participatenot to take over, because it is the State's
function, and you operate as deputy district attorney, representing
the Sta«* of Calif Orilla.

Does Califiirnia give any status at all to private counsel retained
by the victim?

Ms. RUBIN. No: California does not grant such status.
Senator SPECTER. So what you are saying is that it is discretion-

ary with the court as to whether they will close the proceedings
and discretionary with ti.e court as to whether they will grant
closed circuit television.

Ms. RUBIN. Yes: that is correct.
Senator Se EcTiqt. Aid when you say "legally indistinguishable,"

t hat is a nice phrase. What is your own view as to the element of
the defense contention that the defendant ought to be able to look
the victim in the eye when the victim is testifying?

Ms. Rt'mN. Hy way of two-way closed circuit television, with a
monitor in the courtroom and a monitor in another location where
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the children will physically be, the defendant will be able to look at
the child on the monitor, and the dtild then has the same monitor
in another room where he or she can look at the defendant. We
11(../e had cases in California where convictions have been overruled
because there was only a one-way transmission, or a 64endant
could see the child, but the child could not see the defendant. It is
our belief that with a two-way system, that is whit I am referring
to when I am talking about "legally indistinguishable;" they both
are able to and have the right to see one another.

Senator Sexemt. So the only factor absent would be the domina-
tion or the potential intimidation of the defendant in the presence
of the victim?

Ms. litram. Yes: that is correct. And it is our belief that the sixth
amendment right does not grant constii utional status to the de-
fendant being able to intimidate any witness by his physical pres-
ence.

Senator SPECTER. So the victim can look at the monitor if the
victim chooses to, or the victim need not if the victim chooses not
to.

Ms. RUIHN. That is correct.
Senator SPECTER. Just as in a courtroom, the victim need not

look at the defendant if the victim chooses not to. The defendant
does not have a right to have the victim look at the defendant
when the victim is testifying.

Ms. RUHIN. That is correct, that is correct.
St.nator SPECTER. You may proceed.

RUHIN. Thank you.
Whether or not a proceeding is closed to the public, a child

victim must be entitled for support to the attendance of a parent,
guardian, or sibling of his or her own choosing. Depriving the
victim of that kind of emotional support of a parent or friend de-
feats the purpose of once again considering the needs of the child
in preventing any inc! aced psychological harm.

It is our beliefand California law once again grants us that
statusthat if in fact a preliminary hearing is closed to the public,
exclusion of the public should not exclude a support person for that
child victim.

We are also urging the California Legislature to allow us to be
able to use leading questions in examining child witnesses. As you
know, leading questions have been permitted only in very special
circumstances. It is our belief that legislation must permit the use
of leading questions in the examination of young children.

Senator SPECTER. Does California now not permit leading ques-
tions with young children?

Ms. RUHIN. That is correct. We have several hills pending in the
CaliPtnia Legislature. one of which if passed will allow fbr that.

Senator SPECTER. Because I think your rule is at variance with
common law on that subject. I think the general rule is that you
ran ask a child of tender years leading questions.

Ms. RUHIN. That is correct. California law, however, does not pro-
vide for that. except fin. certain specified preliminary kinds of ques-
tions.

Further. as part of this legishition, it is our belief that we should
he able to use curtain hearsay evidence regarding child victims.
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Eviden.,,.. of a statement made I,y a child under the age of 7, de-
scribing any act of sexual or physical abuse, should not be made
inadmissible under the hearsay rule, provided that the statement
was made under such circumstances to indicate trustworthiness.

The court should consider, it is our belief', the child's age, any
corrohoratke physical evidence, and the relationship between the
witness and the victim and the spontaneity of the statement in de-
termining trustworthiness. The use of such hearsay statements
would overcome the present obstacle we face in being unable to
qualify the very young child as a competent witness.

Further, it is essential that every effort be made to ensure that
the same prosecutor handle all aspects of a case from its initial
stages through trial. Child victims like all traumatized victims find
themselves describing the horrors perpetrated against them to
man,' dinerent people. They are interviewed by the police, by doc-
tors. and/or therapists and lawyers prosecuting a case. They also
must repeat their testimony at least several times in different
coert proceedings. Providing that one prosecutor follow the case
from beginning to conclusion aids the child in proceeding through
the often bewildering maze of the criminal justice system.

At the present time, there are no sanctions that are imposed
against the media for revealing the name or identity of a child
victim. Courts have taken careful precaution to safeguard the true
identity of juvenile offenders. We have found that there is thus
greater protection afforded juvenile offenders than there is for
child victims.

We urge the legislature and this committee to rectify that inequi-

In conclusion, I urge this subcommittee to consider the proce-
dures which I have briefly discussed as innovative approaches
which will recognize the special needs of children who are crime
victittm. Such approaches will not interfere with the defendant's
sixth amendment rights.

Thank you very much.
Senator SPCCTER. Ms. Rubin, on the subject of the impact damage

to the chiid, are there any circumstances where you would think it
appropriate for the State to decide not to prosecute where the indi-
cations were that there would be very extensive damage to the
victim wit 'less?

Ms. RBIN. That is something that we do all the time. In fact, in
this case. the children's institute and Kee MacFarlane and her
staff' have interviewed at this point over 250 children. It is our in-
ten"on during the course of the trial and the preliminary hearing
to use ahoto 35 of those children We have decided that i. would be
far too damaging to use as witnesses in court the many other chil-
dren who have been interviewed and evaluated and described
sexual and physical abuse in this case. There are children who
hat had epileptic attacks, have had asthma attacks, and there is
no purpose to be served by having them as witnesses.

Senator ;-zei,:crEK. Well, that is a judgment you can come to, as
you say, no purpose to he served by having them as witnesses
where you have other witnesses who can carry your case and estab-
lish your case, Hut how about when the case would rise or fall on
having one or two child witnesses, but the evidence was that they
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would suffer enormously by being compelled to tell the story as you
have' indicated, on so many occasions; would there ever be a case,
in your judgment, where the prosecution ought to abandon the case
in deference to the impact on the victim?

Ms. RUBIN. Yes, absolutely. That is a matter of discretion from
the initial inception of our making a decision to charge a case. We
obviously want to proceed with the case and convict the guilty, but
at the same time, when there are clear indications that proceeding
would cause substantial increased harm to these child victims, and
any other victims, then we would make that decision to abandon
the case.

Senator SPECTER. And Senator Hawkins asks, "And let the mo-
lester go'?" The answer is yes.

Ms. RumN. Well, undo 1 those circumstances, I think when we
weigh the harm that would be incurred to the child, I think that
that is going to have to be' a decision that we will have to make.

One of the provisions of one of the proposed pieces of legislation
in California would allow us, if passed, to use hearsay testimony
when a child is under the age of 7, and it is particularly in that
situation, not only when there is a child who is too young to qual-
ifyperhaps is age 2V2 or 3, and would not qualify as a witness
hut also. I think that provision would be extraordinarily helpful
when the child would suffer additional serious psychological harm
and physical harm from testifying in court.

Senator SPECTER. Well, I am not so sure you are right about let-
ting the molester go, and I am also not so sure you are wrong
about it. I would say that it would he a significant departure from
what prosecutors customarily think about on prosecutions. I have
not been in the business for a short while, but prosecutors are very
loathe', as yo well know, to let defendants go, molesters go, or seri-
ous charges lac dropped, in deference to the impact on the witness.
But I think we are facing a uniq..e sort of situation here when you
deal with children and the kind of impact there, and then the fall-
back position to the hearsay evidence is a way which it can make
out a case, but that raises very substantial problems on an issue of
sufficiency of evidence with hearsay only. It may be one thing if
there is direct testimony corroborated by hearsay, as opposed to
having only hearsay evidence.

Would you care to question before we hear from Ms. MacFar-
lane?

Senator HAWKINS. Aren't you leaving some room for parents to
influence the child in saying, "We are not going to go forward in
this case, because we do not want the family name dragged
through the paper," and that could cause an awful lot of trauma in
the child. also, to In' torn between the prosecutor who wants to
prosecute. and the family who says, "We are not having any more
of t his."

Ms. Rutem. Well, obviously, this is a complex situation, and we
cannot use a child as a witness if' we are not going to have the co-
operation and support of the parents. That would be counterpro-
ductive. So our role is really dual. We need to evaluate the child
and make a determination that he or she would be a good witness,
and also enlist I he aid and the support of the parents.
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We have that task that we often do not face in other kinds of
c:ses.

Senator HAWKINS. But isn't it true that you do not experience
that same pull if the child is an offender. The parents have nothing
to say. From the little bit I know about the law, if' the offender who
is caught is a child, the parents do not have that choice as to
whether he is brought to trial or not.

Ms. RUBIN. That is true, and once again, I think that is a very
astute observation because the law protects juvenile offenders or
the privacy of juvenile offenders much more than it does the priva-
cy of juvenile victims. So there really is a dual standard in that
regard, and I think it has only been within the last couple of years
where there has been such support that has mounted for victims
and victims' rights groups that these issues have really come to the
forefront.

Senator HAWKINS. Thank you.
Ms. RUBIN. Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. Ms. MacFarlane, we welcome you here and

look forward to your testimony.

STATEMENT OF KEE MacFARLANE

Ms. N,. vARLANE. Thank you.
I would like to share a few aspects of this crime and the han-

dling of these kinds of cases that I have learned from working
within various systems in these cases, but probably more that I
have learned from children who have been through our criminal
justice system, and try to give you a little bit of a snapshot of what
we are up against.

I think that first, we need to consider the crime itself. It is one
that begins with little or no physical evidence. It is not like any
other tbrm of child abuse, where you have something that alerts
people to this crime. Really the only way that we ever find out
about it usually is that a child tells us in one way or another that
something has happened. There is usually a lack of physical force
and violence involved in these cases. There are rarely any corrobo-
rative witnesses, eyewitnesses, corroborative evidence. There are
few grounds often even to establish the elements of the crime,
motive. opportunity or fact. There is usually a time lapse between
the abuse and its discovery, which adds to the disbelief: "This
couldn't have really happened, because the child would have come
and told me, or I would have noticed." More often than not, we
find out about cases long after they have occurred, when there has
been a loss of evidence, a confusion over time and the memory of
the children as to the facts.

We are up against an incredible problem of low credibility of
these children. We have a striking increase of cases in Califore
involving children under the age of 5 years old, and I think that is
being reflected elsewhere in the country. The children are regarded
as suspect from the time they open their mouths to tell us what
has lu pperied. We have an incredibly strong disbelief' system in our
country. from everyone from doctors to parents. It ;.; not somethir,
that we want to believe can happen.
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As iy friend, Lucy Berliner. in Seattle, says, "Everyone hates
child molesters until they find out they know one very well
then they have a very difficult time; the scales shift, and suddenly,
their incredulity is aimed at the child.

Children do 'forget and confuse facts all the time. They forget
facts such as time and dates of occurrences, and therefore they are
regarded as unreliable. They will tell you things like, "Oh, I re-
member exactly when it happened. It happened a long, long time
ago which does not help us in trying to establish a crime in Cali-
fornia within a 3-month span of time.

On the other hand. I find that they have incredible memory for
things that rare very traumatic and upsetting to them, which we do
not take into consideration.

We also do not take into consideration, as Senator Hawkins was
just pointing (nit, their ambivalent feelings about the people who
abuse them. They start off, usually, by feeling guilty, to blame, and
at fault; that is why they are so reluctant to tell. And they often
minimize what happens to them, and they give the story to you in
very small pieces, so that you start with what they see as the least
1141..1 thick; they happened to them, and they will tell you that is
u!' that ill,ppt.:.mi. And then, when they realize that you are not
,Dung to be shocked or blame them or add to their guilt, they will
give you .1 little bit more. Now, when that happens, we look at chil-
dren any we sa.N. "Well. they must be lying. First, she told me she
was only touched with a hand, and now she is telling me there is so
much rn..re. She .s just fabricating and adding to it." In fact, it is a
-Er. clear pattern of giving just as much as they think adults can
stand to hear. Often, they are right. Often, when they get the reac-
tion3 of our shock and disbelief, we do not get the rest of the story.

We underestimate the positive feelings that children can have
for the people wha molest them, which is not to say that they in
any way participate in or contribute to their abuse, but they get
very, very confused. Over and over, we hear children say, "How
-ould he Lio that'.' He was so nice. I really liked him. He gave me
iollipops and took me to the park."

We underestimate how fearful they are of these people. Sexual
abase, I think, is something that is almost always shrouded in se-
crecy and silence, and almost always accompanied by some kind of
threats to children. That is, I think, one of the most underestimat-
ed aspects of this problem when it gets into court. They are so
easily bribed and easily tricked that they come into courtwe deal
with cases all the time where children come into court truly believ-
ing that the people in that courtroom have magical powers and can
control the courtroom proceedings. Sa that we have procedures
which we just see as a par! of due pi mess, where children are to-
tally misinterpreting what is going on. Our prosecutors fought very
hard in Los Angeles to keep the defendants in this case in priso1,
without bail. Because of the belief system of children, still to this
day, I have children coming in all the time and telling me, "Thai is
riot going to do any r,:od. They can walk through the bars. TI.ey
can bend the bars. They can walk out of prison." They do not even
believe that jails can hold defendants when children have been so
t h reat
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So thes are the perlect victims Of the perfect crime, in many
ways. And abusers count 011 t ;11)114 to Silence children and to
shroud their behaviors in secrecy, and it works very well. What
happens when they become known to our system is that our ac-
tions, our methods, and our due process act to enforce oftentimes
that silence--or, worse, result in retractions from these children.

So what you can see is that we, in the system designed to help
them and bring about justice, actually contribute to the ability of
child abusers to act with impunity in some ways, because we treat
these cases like they were burglaries or bank robberies, and we
scurry about in the same kind of evidence chase, and we use the
same kinds of measures as we do for adult crimes. We discount the
very things that lock children back into silence. It is the old,
"When all you have is a hammer, every problem becomes a nail."
And that is what I think has happened with these kinds of cases.
Children, as Ms. Rubin was saying, are exposed to multiple inter-
views and interrogations. When we began interviewing children in
Los Angeles, we were seeing an average of 15 to 25 interviews prior
to the time they came to us. We were ordered by the court. I was
seeing children interviewed as nwny as 34 times before they came
to me.

Senator SIII.:(7TKR. But why so often?
Ms. MArFAtti.ANK. Some of it is, I think, that most of our sys-

tems, they have different mandates to be involved, and they see
themselves as having t%. be the only one that can do their part of it.
The police think they are the only ones that can do a police inter-
view. and the doctors think they are the only ones that can do a
medical one, and the social workers, to do that, and departments of
social services, et cetera. In cities where there are not vertical pros-
ecution units. or in even our cases, where they do not go through
our vertical unit, you end up with three or four different DA's, just
on the same case, and half the time, the child will meet them in
the hallway on the way into the courtroom.

We have a tremendous territorialism, and we are dealing with
different disciplines. Try to convince an attorney that a social
worker or a doctor can do the same interview that they need to
have done, or vice versa.

And what happens over time is not only just the whole shutting
down process of children being less and less willing to tell you this,
nut Ihc other thing happens is they lose what you see on the first
interview. What we cm.ture on videotape on firot interviews is an
incredible kind of spontaneity, this eye-opening reality that comes
frnm children's first descriptions of abuse. What you see in court
and what juries see is something very differenta child with a flat
affect, a face that looks emotionless, often because they are terri-
fied, but also because they have stiid it over and over and over, so 5
jury sees a child, even in cases where we haven't been through that
much, where they take anatomical dolls and they say. "He touched
me here, here. and here, and on the other side Aad it' there are
multiple abusers. children will often say, "Well, they did the same
thing as the other one." And they look very blase about it. Some of
that has just become a defense, and juries do not believe them.

The .flame thing happens in medical abuse, where children are
rt raped in medical systems in the name of trying to get this evi-
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genre, and sedated, and put through screaming examinations,
where we have just we will not do them, but I have seen them
done where children come out, screaming, "That is worse than
what happened to me." Children are still routinely polygraphed in
a lot of States. Have you ever had to try to explain that to a child?
"Your daddy"or the alleged abuser"does not have to have this,
because he is a grownup, and he has the right not to have this, but
you are a child, and so you really need to take this test, and it does
not mean that we do not believe you, but it just means we have
this little machine to tell us if you are lying." Lots of cases are
dropped after polygraph examinations. I think that is a real clear
message to children. And again, the multiple, uncoordinated court
appearances I think in a Juvenile Justice Subcommittee, we need
to, like in all cities, look at the combinations of juvenile court,
criminal court, and divorce court. These cases are simultaneously
going on in all three courts, and many cases are simultaneously
being processed through all three, with very little or no coordina-
tion whatsoever.

From the eyes of children in court, I have learned a lot of things.
The first time I got involved in a case involving a child, I did not
bring Kleenex. I have never done that since. After I realized that
you had to have Kleenex to help them through crying spells, I real-
ized we had to talk with parents about bringing clean underwear.
Oftentimes with preF,choolers, what you do is you get them in, you
sit them on three phonebooks, they sit up in front of an overhang-
ing microphone. they look out over a perch they cannot even see
over, they spot the alleged abuser, and they wet their pants.

Even now, after a case last year, I would also say we need to
bring towels and things for the times they go in the back room and
throw up all over you, they are so terrified.

We hav seen, as Ms. Rubin has said, asthma attacks, epileptic
attacks in court, stuttering, children going muteand not from
constant. ongoing badgering, which is what you always hear de-
fense attorneys portray it asas much from the environment of
the court itself.

You list:' o to children describe court. They will tell you that the
man or woman in the uniform with the gun is there to maybe
arrest them. You try to explain what a bailiff' is. If you do not get a
charwe to do that, they will say, "I am not sure why they were
there. but they had a gun, and they were looking at me mean.''
Ask them what a judge is for: they will sometimes say, "I think he
is going to put me in jail."

They often perceive their role in court as that of defendant, re-
gardless of how it may be explained to them on the way into the
court room.

We have had children, even in this case, who have refused to tes-
tily because they have thought that one or another of the attorneys
hated them, because of the look on their face. That is one of the
difficulties of nonvertical prosecution, when you switch prosecu-
tors, that relationship is crucial to children, that this be somebody
who their friend, who is their lawyer, and they can say -there

a little girl who refused to go into court on a case recently,
where she just described what happned beautifully up until that
point and said. "I think the lawyer hates me."
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I said. "No. Honey. Why do you think that?"
And she said, "Well, because she crosses her arms when she

looks at me.
They have their own perceptions of the world. When they look

out at even the motions of defendantsthat is why we call it the
right to intimidationthere are all different ways to do that. You
do not have to he threatening or menacing as a defendant. You can
sit there and cry. It is probably the most effective one that there is,
to look into the eyes of a child who has befriended you and cry in
front of him.

So my feeling is that the entire environment is set up to silence
these children, just as the abuse itself' is designed to silence them.
In the Hippocratic Oath, there is a phrase that says, "First, do no
harm." I think it is something that we, involved in the criminal
justice system. should take to heart just as much.

I do not mean to say that we need to do anything that impedes
due process. I am not saying that we should tilt the scales all the
way to the other end, and I am certainly not saying that because a
child says something, it must be true. Children do lie; they do
make up things. More often than not, what I see them lying about
is to defend themselves and to protect themselves, and to stay out
of touhle. That is how a lot of their lying applies to child sexual
ahuse. They lie, more often than not, in my experience, to deny
ahuse than they ever do to admit it.

Senator Se ErrEit. Are there any generalizations which you have
found which are useful in evaluating when children are not telling
the truth when they make a complaint about sexual abuse?

Ms. MACKVIRLANE. For me, the ways of determining sexual abuse
are two. The first battle is to get them over their fear; if they have
been abused, to get them to acknowledge that it has happened.
Once you do that, you get to a level of detail with them that tells
you whether or not they know what they are talking about. This is
nut something they routinely get to find out about on television or
in books.

Senator SPECTER. Have vou interviewed children who have made
complaints about sexual abuse where you did not believe the child?

Ms. MAurAttlANE. Two children in 13 years, I think, that I have
been ahle to determine wereand what they were doing was par-
oting something given to them by an adult.

Senator SPECTER. Ilow many children have you interviewed in 13

Ms. NIACFARLANE. I do not even know. I would say hundreds, cer-
tainly hundreds.

Senator Se'Fe°rFat. And it is your view that only two among the
hundreds did not tell you the truth when they complained about
sexual abuse"

Ms. MAAHLANE. In terms of the total, and what I have seen a
lot of times is children who describe one thing or another which
may he misinterpreted, may he something else, in terms of children
what you might say "put up to" relating an experience about
sexual abuse that they themselves even later to acknowledge was
not true. yes By the time I see most children, they have gone so
tar down the criminal justice system that usually, what they have
,;(.1 .11 or described has been established to some degree.
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But I do not find them, especially preschoolersI do not know
any preschoolers. I think, that I have seen who I would say have
lied about sexual abuse. They may describe something which theytotally do not understand, which often may be misinterpreted byadults. What they describe, they do not even know as sexual a lotof the time.

Senator SPECTER. You are attaching a very high degree of reli-ability, then, based upon your experience as you see it, when youassert that among the hundreds of preschool children whom youhave heard testify hout sexual abuse, that you have believed themall?
Ms. MA(TARLANE. No; and I have not seen hundreds testify.

Most preschoolers do not ever testify.
Senator SPECTER. Well, aside from the issue of testifying. What Iam looking for here is your own personal evaluation, based uponthe extensive experience you have had, as to what is the degree ofcredibility.
Ms. MACFARLANE. It is difficult to answer because so many pre-schoolers cannot describe what it is that has been alleged to havehappened. I see many cases that I come out of saying, "I do notknow what happened. I am not sure." But of those children whodescribe sexualwho are able to describesexual acts with adults,especially preschoolers, I have seen very, very few who I do not be-lieve they know what they arethey do not know what they aretalking about. but what they are describing- -

Senator SPECTER. You say You believe them essentially, becauseif it were not true, they would not know what to say?
Ms. MACFARLANE. For most of them, that is true. They do noteven know they are describingthe descriptions we have on tapeover the years of, for example, ejaculation, never comes out as adescription of a sexual act. They do not even know what that is.What they are doing is often describing somebody going to thebathroom on them, but describing it in such a way that you knowwhat they are talking about and they do not. These are descrip-tions by 3-, I -, and 5-year-olds. The same with oral sex. And theysay. "Why would somebody want to do that?" I find oral sex to beprobably the most common form of sexual abuse that I see in pre-schoolers, and it leaves the least visible signs. But children are ableto describe it in vivid detail without understanding what on earththe purpose or reason of that could be.
It is very hard not toI think the graphic descriptions couldprobably be spared the subcommittee, but it is very hard to hearthese descriptions and try to imagine where on earth else theycould come fromtastes, smells, descriptions like that aink insome ways. that is why listeningall you have to do is eally listento preschoolers to understand that this problem in th:s country isvery real.

Senator SPECTER. Did you make a distinction between preschool -ers and children who have been in school? Is there slme pointwhere their experience is sufficient so they are not necessarily reli-able in their descriptions?
Ms. MAFARLANE. Well, there is certainly a point in their experi-ence and their cognitive development level where they understand

about sexual matters, and then you are not dealing with the same
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kind of naivete. But again, it is still a matter of their ability to pro-
vide a level of detail that helps you understand what it is that they
are saying.

Senator SPECTER. We will take a 10-minute break at this point,
and I will try to be back at 10:40.

(Short recess.I
Senator Se Emit. May we have Ms. Rubin and Ms. MacFarlane

back, please?
I regret the delay, and by way of a brief explanation, I would say

that each of us in the Semite have a number of committee responsi-
bilities, and they very frequently overlap. And this hearing was set
at a time long before we knew that agent orange was going to come
up this morning on the floor; and I am a member of the Veterans'
Committee and have responsibilities on that subject, and when I
was present there, expecting to go right on, there was another
amendment which was supposed to have finished up, but took a
few extra minutes. So I am sorry to have kept you.

We were in the midst of Ms. MacFarlane's testimony, and I
would ask you to continue.

Mti. MACFARLANE. Thank you, Senator.
I just wanted to add a couple of points about what I think we can

do. I do not mean to just be the voice of doom. But I think it is very
important for us to understand that a child's view of the world is
very different from an adult's and colors the way that they respond
to their world. I believe that children are best understood when
they are often perceived as people who come from another place,
like another planet or another country, and if we brought in some-
one from a totally foreign culture to ours, who spoke a completely
different language, brought them into a courtroom, sat them at the
witness stand, and began to ask them questions without an inter-
preter, and without any knowledge of their culture or their lan-
guage, we would have tremendous communication problems, and
that is just what we have today in court.

Senator Sig.:cll.:R. I am sorry, I am going to have to interrupt for
just one moment. I will be right back.

(Short recewi.i
Senator SPECTER. I regret one additional delay. Please proceed.
Ms. MACFARLANE. [ think there are several things we can do to

improve the situation in both the short term and the long term.
In the short term, I think probably the most immediate step that

would help what I consider really a crisis in our courts right now,
is to at least coordinate what we have already got. That is what we
are trying to do in Los Angeles. It is not easy taking systems that
ordinarily rarely even talk to each other and people in professions
that rarely interact, and trying to get them to prevent the tradi-
tional trauma to children by putting out more of themselves to
overcome their turf and their feelings of priorities of where they
belong. I think we have to admit that we are running sort of a
MASH operation right now out in the field, and we think we know
what we are doing. but we are not sure. We are in a very experi-
mental stage. The McMartin case itself keeps pointing out to us
that the legal thin ice we walk oil, all the issues around videotapes
that we have made, who has the right to them, do they have the
right of possession versus the right of access, who do they belong
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to, who can we make copies of, how are they used in court, can
t 'y he USN' V.; S II In' -kind (f evidence, can they he used corrobora-
tively, can they be used instead ()I' children, to back up children, et
cetera. It is a whole new world with a lot of the things we are
trying. It takes sticking your neck out to a certain degree. think
that it is worth it when you consider what you might be sparing
the children of.

Second, I think we need to centralize our efforts around centers
which have the capability and the facility to handle these cases-
and I mean not just the kinds of psycho:ogical evaluations that we
du, but also the medical evaluations in one place, if possible, so
thin they do not have to get trucked around town to different sites,
as well as court preparation. There is much you can do to overcome
the fears of children in court. I truly believe that. But one thing I
know about doing it, because it is part of what I do as a living, is it
takes a lot of time; it takes a lot of extra effort of bringing children
to court and helping them understand how that system works, and
tracking them, hand-carrying them through this system is what is
needed. from the time of the discovery of the abuse to the time of
attjudicat ion. That is not done almost anyplace in this country. Arid
the only places I know that it is done is where there are specialized
centers for which there is extremely little funding.

In the longer term, I think we need better research and better
training in terms of what are the best ways to elicit information
from children that is valid and reliable; how far can leading ques-
tins go; what kind of effects on children and cases do leading ques-
tions have, and are they necessary. I believe they are, but they are
antithetical to the basic orientation of our criminal justice system.

The court reforms that Ms. Rubin has talked about, I think,
come in many ways from helping trying to see the world from chil-
dren's eyes, and 1 think that we have got to try to see the court
world from children's eyes. If we do, I think we will find oftentimes
that they take on the role of the child in the fairy tale about the
emperors new clothes, that if we listen to them, we find out that
they are the ones who are seeing the emperor, or the system, as it
really is.

I think that the scales are heavily tilted against children right
now. We have one of the strongest defense bars there is in this
country, and we have very little voice for children. Child perpetra-
tors that I work with, some as young as 7 and . years old, who
have molested other children, are far better protected in our
system than the 7- or 8-year-olds that I work with who have been
molested. I am not in favor of denying anyone a fair trial. I think
we noed to examine what is fair.

II we are interested in finding the truth in these cases, which I
think that all of us are, we must first set up an environment in
which truth is able to come out. I do not think we have that right
now. It is in the details and it is in the context of the descriptions
that children give that the truth, I believe, can be deciphered. And
if we set up an environment where silence and fearthat is condu-
cive to silence and fearthat is what we will get from children.
And I do not think that we can ever get justice in these cases with-
out the ability to bring forth the truth, and I think we are obligat-
ed to du everything we can, if' we are going to put children through
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this, to at least be able to say that we think that we have gone
through it for the purpose of eliciting the truth.

We will never be able to prevent the abuse perpetrated by child
molesters, ultimately. We can to some extent, but we will never
prevent it totally. We should be at least able to prevent the abuse
perpetrated subsequently by the system.

1 think that what is in the best interest of children in court is
also in the best interest of justice in these cases, because it allows
children to tell their stories and allows us to be able to hear it.

As I said, there are no simple answers. And right now, I think
we must first admit that what we are doing is not working very
well. It is not even a matter of as you were saying earlier, are we
willing to let child molesters gowe let them go all the time. It is
not w-Irking, and I think that additionally, it is causing subsequent
harm, and that is what I think we must work to prevent.

Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much for your testimony, Ms.

MacFarlane.
We were discussing one point that I think there was an interrup-

tion on, about children, somewhat older than preschool children, as
to credibility, based on your experience And you had testified that
you thought that, as to preschool children, what you had heard,
you believed, generally, because the children would not know what
to make up.

At what point in the age span, if at all, does the credibility issue
become any weaker, where children have had an opportunity to
know more, and some experience-based credibility?

Ms. MACFARLANE. Well, I do not think you can really put it on
age, because children develop

li
so differently, and you can have in-

credibly mature, experienced -year-olds and incredibly immature
14-year-olds. So that is very difficult. What you do find is that as
the child's, perhaps, ability to describe things that they may have
knowledge of other than firsthand experience- -

Senator SPECTER. Well, would you haw any insights or guidelines
to fact finders as to what to look for in evaluating the credibility of
a child?

Ms. MA(7FARLANE. Yes; in fact, I am working on that in a book
with five people right now, and I think it is something we need a
lot of'. It is not something that is easy to say in a few words.

I think that it takes very thorough evaluation. You need to look
at possible motives, like you do in any kind of a case or an evalua-
tion; you have to look at other kinds of motives, what the child's
feelings are about the person they are accusing, how they react to
your questions. and what they are able to describe.

Really, it is the level of credibilitythe level of credibility is
often provided by the level of detail, no matter what the age of the

t..'
Jr ..TF:R. Let me move to another subject, if I may. The

buzzers just I., for a vote. Whatever we do here is subjr ct to a lot
of interrupt.). regret to say. Let me raise one final question
with the two of you, ir I may, and that is your judgment as to the
issue of televising cases involving juvenile victims on sexual moles-
tation.

What do you think, Ms. Rubin?
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Ms. RUBIN. Wi'l I. as you probably know, that is an issue that we
will be facing in Los Angeles.

Senator SPECTER. Yes, I do know.
Ms. Rtram. I have not yet seen the proposal that we are antici-

pating. We are concerned, and as a result of our concern, are re-
questing the use. of closed-circuit television. And on the one hand,
it seems to me that if we are concerned about psychological trauma
and harm to children and want to use closed-circuit television, then
that argument would seem to prevail against the use of live cover-
age by a national network.

On the other hand, we do recognize the public's need to know
and the interest of the public in this kind of a case: In terms of
mak'ng a comment as to what our position is, I really cannot make
an official comment until I see what the request is and what are
the results of our request for closedcircuit television.

Senator SPECTER. If you work it out on closed-circuit television,
would you think then that there could be an accommodation of the
interests of the child-victim so that television would be appropri-
ate.?

Ms. [WHIN. I think that in that situation, television would be
much more appropriate, in terms of having a vehicle whereby to
protect the children, yes.

Senator SI.ErrEtt. What is your sense on that, Ms. MacFarlane?
Ms. MACFARLANE. I am as concerned about the parents as I am

about the children in this case. Their privacy has been ruptured by
this situation. And I think that while we may solve some of it by
protecting children, the parents will be testifying as well in this
case, and the medical people will be testifying as to the identities of
the children, and so will we. I do not see how this case can be tele-
vised live and protect these children and families.

As many incest victims will tell you, "Big dealthey kept my
name out of the newspaper, but they put in my parents' and our
address." That is just as bad.

Senator SPECTER. Do you think it is not possible, with some
delays on television, to delete any inadvertent reference to names
or addresses?

Ms. MacFarlane Well, all I can say is I sat in for almost all of
the grand jury testimony on this case, and I do not see how it
would be possible, because there are constant references to names
and identifying information. I do not see how you could do it.

Senator SPEcnit. And to the extent that there is an identifica-
tion, you think that the rights of the victim and the families would
outweigh any public benefit in having them televised?

Ms. MACFARLANE. Well, all I can say is I sat in for almost all of
report what happened in the courtroom that night on television
without having to expose the people whose lives have already been
shattered by this experience.

Senator SPECTER. Ladies, I thank you very much. There is so
much more that I would like to cover, but we have so many addi-
tional witnesses. We very much appreciate your coming, and the
testimony has been very helpful.

Thank you.
Ms. RUBIN. Thank you very much.
Ms. MACFARLANE. you.
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Senator Se Ei.mit. I would like now to call Deborah Smith. I have
to be careful now as to whose names I use and whose names I do
not use. Mrs. Smith's -i-year-old daughter was the second child at
the McMartin School to reveal molestation. Her daughter was
interviewed several times by police officers and psychologists who
were not extensively trained in child sex abuse cases, and Mrs.
Smith will explain how her child felt more at ease and responded
better when Ms. MacFarlane, a trained therapist, became involved
in the case.

Our request in Mrs. Smith's situation is that she not be photo-
graphed with her face showing, and obviously, that is a request
which we are relaying to the media coverage. The Senate proceed-
ings are customarily public, so that it is not a matter that the
Senate can order, or that I as chairman can direct, but can relay
the request, and I think, judging from the affirmative nods, that it
will be respected.

Mrs. Smith, we welcome you here. We very much appreciate
your coming and look forward to your testimony.

STATEMENT OF MRS. DEBORAH SMITH, LOS ANGELES, CA

Mrs. SMITH. Thank you.
I am here today as a parent, to offer a personal account in the

hope that it will enable you to at least consider a better alternative
for the protection of our children within a judicial system designed
expressly for adults.

Approximately 8 months ago, on the afternoon of Friday, Sep-
tember 9, l983, we received a letter from the Manhattan Beach
Police Department, notifying us that our daughter's preschool
teacher had been arrested earlier that week on charges of child
molestation. The letter also requested that we question our child in
order to find out if she had either witnessed anything or been a
victim herself of sexual abuse. Later on that day, I did so, and she
willingly responded with details of her abuse. I knew then that she
was telling the truth. I believed her.

Monday morning, I went to the police station to file a report.
Subsequently, our 4-year-old daughter was called in for questioning
on five separate occasions, lasting upward of 1 hour in length, pre-
ceded usually by another hour of waiting for the female detective.

I look back on those first days as a time when I was in a kind of
shock and functioning as such. The people we had entrusted with
the most precious thing in our lives, our daughter, had turned out
to be totally untrustworthy. Therefore, the trust you might have
had in your own judgment is then shattered.

We felt that the more she was questioned, the more she was be-
ginning to withdraw or avoid the question. She showed signs of in-
creased stress, but while at home or in our car, she would relate
the detailed accounts of 2 years of repeated sexual, physical, and
psychological abuse and demoralizing intimidation, without any
provocation on our part.

In the course of our trips to the police station, our daughter
asked if she was going to be put in jail, too. Unfortunately, all that
questioning reinforced for our child what her molesters had told
her would happen if she told the secretsthat is, that no one
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would believe her and t hat it would be her fault, none of which is
conducive to further disclosure.

I calved the child psychologist during that first week, only to be
informed that if she was willing to talk with the police, he did not
see any harm in her continued questioning. He was not, however,
an expert on the sexually abused child, which we know now to be a
very specialized field. His advice, for all its good intentions, was
wrong.

Many people outside this experience seem to feel that their chil-
dren would tell them, no matter what. At first, while reading our
letter of notification, I was convinced of the same thing. Our
daughter is an outgoing, verbal, loving child. But consider, if you
will, from the child's viewpoint what it must have been like to be
threatened that your mother, the very center of a young child's
life, would be killed.

Senator SPECTER. Was that threat given to your child during the
course of the sexual abuse?

Mrs. SMITH. Yes, repeatedly.
From the age of 21/2 to 41/2, my daughter, in addition to the

burden of what amounted to a double life, simultaneously felt re-
sponsible for my very existence.

Senator SPECTER. The sexual abuse allegedly started when she
was 21/2?

Mrs. SMITH. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. And it extended over a period of 11/2 years?
Mrs. SMITH. Almost 2 years.
Senator SPECTER. Almost 2 years that she was threatened that if

she told about what had happened, that you, her mother, would be
killed?

Mrs. SMITH. Yes.
While it is true that we had no idea our child was being sexually

abused, we did have other signs. Approximately 8 or 9 months
before receiving any notification, I had taken our daughter to our
pediatrician for treatment of bronchitis, and informed him at that
time that I had also noticed considerable rednesD and swelling in
her genital area. He chose not to examine her at that time, but in-
stead told me she was most likely "wiping wrong." She was not.
The problem continued, and I took her along with me for the next
office visit, which was for a routine exam of our son, who was at
that time an infant. The doctor again chose not to examine her,
but instead told me to cut out all bubble baths and to have her
wear only cotton underwear. We did that and more, changing
soaps, detergents, toilet paper and making- -

Senator SPECTER. And two doctors on your request declined to
take a look at the complaints?

Mrs. SMITH. It was the same doctor at that time.
Still the problem worsened. It was obvious she was experiencing

pain and discomfort, causing a great deal of anxiety for all of us,
especially her. Shortly thereafter, I noticed that she had a vaginal
discharge, and at that point, I asked my stepfather, a general prac-
titioner, to examine her. He did so and diagnosed her as having
vaginitis. He told me it was rare in children of her age and to con-
tact her pediatrician and tell him so. I did. In our phone conversa-
tion, he told me to administer antibiotic cream twice a day. I did
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so, amidst her screams of protest. The irritation was minimized
somewhat, so I continued this treatment for approximately 2
months until we received the letter of notification from the police
department-

Senator SPECTER. Mrs. Smith, I am sorry to interrupt you, but I
have 4 minutes left to make the vote, and I shall be back momen-
tarily and we will continue. Thank you.

(Short recess.'
Senator SPECTER. I am sorry, Mrs. Smith, please resume.
Mrs. SMITH. She subsequently went through two more vaginal

exams and cultures and a blood test for VD, after we received noti-
fication. At this point, I was in contact with UCLA and then, short-
ly after, Kee MacFarlane became aware and involved in this case.
Our daughter was then evaluated and videotaped at Children's In-
stitute International with Kee, and we were relieved that, at long
last. we were in capable hands. We could begin to trust someone
again, because we knew that her main concern was for our child's
well-being and ours. Finally, we had the help for our daughter and
ourselves that we so desperately needed.

Our little girl left Kee that day feeling happier than we had seen
her in months, with less of a burden than before.

She is still very much afraid of her molesters and sometimes
feels the anger of betrayal and low self-esteem that accompanies
her victimization.

This case is currently before the court, and it is our sincere hope
for our child and the other children that closed-circuit may be used
as an alternative to a courtroom filled with adult s' rangersand,
worst of all, their molesters. With the closed circuit put into effect,
our children would still be cross-examined by as many as seven de-
tense attorneys, and I am not at all sure that my child could with-
stand even that. Whereas, if she has to face her abusers, I am
almost positive that she would be too terrified to speak. As a
parent, I am not at all sure I would be willing to take that risk
because however badly we want these people locked away from so-
ciety and other children, our first and foremost concern is for our
daughter and what is best for her. She has already been and is still
going through so much more anguish than she should have ever
had to experience in her formative years.

In closing, I would just like to say that as parents, we realistical-
ly know that the crimes of child sexual abuse have always been
within our society and are likely to go on long after this case is
over. But at the same time, we cling to the hope that these crimes
will no longer remain the easiest to commit. We must begin to be-
lieve and protect our children.

Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much, Mrs. Smith.
Ilow is your daughter now? How is she responding, how is she

behaving; what is the impact, as best you can tell, on this abuse
sit tiat ion?

Mrs. SMITH. It seems to come in waves. There are times when
she seems to he doing very well. We are all trying to maintain as
much normalcy as possible. But when she has had a particularly
good day at therapy, where she has worked out a lot of things or is



remembering things, she tends to maybe have a nightmare or bed-
wetting; anxiety over my safety is very much still a factor.

Senator SPECTER. What therapy is she undergoing?
Mrs. SMITH. Weekly therapy with the counselor who is skilled in

child sexual abuse.
Senator SPECTER. You do not have to face the choice, as I under-

stand the facts of this particular case, as to whether the alleged
molester will be brought to trial, or whether your daughter would
have to testify. But what would your feeling be if your daughter's
testimony were the only way that a molester could be prosecuted,
convicted, and jailed? Would you seek to have her not testify under
those circumstances, because of the potential damage which you
have described that you fear for your own child?

Mrs. SMITH. In the beginning, we were the second to come for-
ward, and at that time, it looked as if that would be very likely to
he the case. But that was also very early on, when she had not told
her story so many, many times and gone through so much. She
does believe these people to have magical powers, and as much as I
try to counterbalance that with what I can tell her in a positive
way, that they are in jail and that they cannot hurt us, or will not,
and that he has no magical powers, the kind of impact that they
had with her was mixed with terror, and it made much more of an
impact than the positive kind of comforting I can give her. It will
take a long time. So I am not at all sure; I am not sure. I hope
closed circuit is put into effect. Otherwise, we will have to make
that decision.

Senator SPECTER. But you just do not know how you would decide
it if' you had to make that decision now as to whether you would
want her not to testify, if the absence of her testimony meant that
the molester would get away scott-free.

Mrs. SMITH. I would hate to see that happen, but my main con-
cern is for her.

Senator SPECTER. What is your feeling on the issue of having the
proceedings televised? The considerations are that if there is live
television coverage, there will be extensive understanding by
people about the problems of sexual abuse of children, contrasted
with the issue of privacy of the victims and the families. There are
efforts made to shield the identities, but it is not foolproof. So what
is your own sense as to that?

Mrs. SMITH. I feel that they could really report what goes on in
the courtroom, and 1 do not really see that there is a need for them
to photograph it; I really do not. I would feel very unsure, even if
they did promise not to disclose our names and addresses or our
children's faces.

On the closed circuit, we would have a better opportunity to have
some more control over that, though.

Senator SPECTER. Senator Hawkins?
Senator HAWKINS. In the schoolroom where your child attended,

were the other children aware of how many children were involved
in this trial, to your knowledge? Did the children in school know
that a certain percentage of them were involved in the trial and
others were mit?

Mrs. SMITH. Yes.
Senator HAWKI NS. Did that make a difference?
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Mrs. SMITII. Yeti, it would----do you mean wit!. the defendants?
Senator HAWKINS. Yeti.
Mrs. SMITH. Yes, yes, it would.
Senator HAWKINS. Do you feel that it would harm your child if

the prosecution wins this case, or it will be helpful to your child if
the prosecution wins?

Mrs. SMITH. 1 think it will be helpful to her, that something has
been done. And I think if she is able to testify in some way, it will
help her to know that what she said was believed, and that these
people cannot get away with this.

Senator HAWKINS. And that there is a justice in the system for
children.

Mrs. SMITH. Yes, and that there is fairness.
Senator HAWKINS. Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. Thank you very much, Mrs. Smith. We very

much appreciate your coming.
Mrs. SMITH. Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. The next witness, whom we are calling by an

assumed name because of the effort to maintain her anonymity,
also wishes not to be photographed, and again, the request is made
by the subcommittee, relaying that request to the media, and again
stating that we do not have the power to order anybody not to pho-
tograph or televise in a public hearing, but I believe it will be hon-
ored.

I would like to call at this time a young woman we will refer to
as "Melissa Jones" and her mother. The mother and the child are
being accompanied by the therapist who is with them at the
present time.

Let me start with Melissa's mother and ask you to describe brief-
ly what hapened to your daughter.

STATEMENT OF MELISSA JONES AND HER MOTHER. MS. JONES
FROM MARYLAND

Mrs. JONES. My daughter was raped by a juvenile, who was a
very good. close friend of ours.

Senator SPECTER. How close a friend was the juvenile?
Mrs. Jo Na.:s. I had known him and his family for over 4 years. We

had gone out with his parents, and his parents had come up to our
home. and we had socialized quite a bit with them.

Senator SPECTER. And how old was the person charged with the
rape?

Mrs. JONES. Thirteen.
Senator SPECTER. And how old was your daughter, Melissa. at

that t ime?
Mrs. JoNEs. Seven.
Senator SPECTER. And how did you find out about the sexual inci-

dent?
Mrs. Jorsms. From my son's girlfriend at the time.
Senator SPECTER. And what did they say at that time?
Mrs. JoNEs. She said to me, "Ask your daughter what this boy

has done to her."
I said, "What do you mean? I do not understand."
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She turned around and repeated the same thing to me, and I was
in a complete state of shock. I could not believe that boy had done
that.

Senator SPECTER. And who decided to prosecute?
Mrs. 'lows. The police officer went to the State's attorney to find

out if' they were going to prosecute the boy or not, with all the in-
formation they had gotten together.

Senator SPECTER. And the defendant was prosecuted as a juve-
nile?

Mrs. JoNEs. Yes, he was.
Senator SPECTER. And how was Melissa prepared to testify?
Mrs. JONES. Her therapist talked with her about going into the

courtroom. She was also taken into the courtroom by Victim As-
sistance.

Senator SPECTER. And how old is Melissa at the present time?
Mrs. JONES. She is 9.
Senator SPECTER. Was Melissa's competency as a witness chal-

lenod?
Mrs..1e)NEs. No.
Senator SPECI ER. After Melissa testified, as I understand it, a

mistrial was declared, because the judge had interviewed a witness
in his chambers without the presence of the defendant's lawyer; is
that your understanding?

Mrs. JONES. No. The lawyer was in there. The boy himself was
not in the chambers.

Senator SPECTER. So it was the absence of the defendant which
caused the mistrial to be &elated?

Mrs. JONES. Yes, sir.
Senator SPECTER. And is it your expectation that Melissa will

have to go to court to testify again?
Mrs. Jorsixs. Yes. They told me she has to; yes.
Senator SPECTER. And what has happened to the defendant?
Mrs. JONES. He is walking the street, scot-free. He is not in ther-

apy, and there was no control over him when we were living there,
and I am sure there is none now.

Senator SPECTER. Are you able to avoid any contact between that
defendant and your daughter?

Mrs. JONES. We had to move from where we were living to a new
area so that we would not have that.

Senator SPECTER. And Melissa, if we may ask a question or two
of youwe will not discuss the incident with you.

How old are you'?
MELISSA. I am 9 years old.
Senator SPECTER. Who told you that you would have to testify at

the trial?
MELissA. My therapist, Debby.
Senator SPECTER. And how old were you when you testified at

the trial?
Mxi.issn. Eight.
Senator Smell:et. And what was it like, testifying at the trial?

I lard?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. Unpleasant?
NIF:i.issA. It was unpleasant sitting in front of the boy.
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Senator Slimrio. You would have preferred to have testified
without seeing the defendant?

M Kuss A. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. And tell us if you can why you found it un-

pleasant to sit there in front of the boy.
MELISSA. I found it unpleasant sitting in front of the boy because

Mark, the lawyer, told me I had to point to him, and I really did
not want to be in front of him at that time.

Senator SPECTER. Did you feel frightened by being in his pres-
ence?

MELISSA. No, because I knew that my parents were there, and I
was not frightened at all.

Senator SPECTER. You were not frightened at all?
MELISSA. No.
Senator SPECTER. But you had to make an identification of him

as the person who did the act?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. And did you point him out?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator Semmot. But you did not feel intimidated or frightened

or uneasy being in his presence for that reason?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator Se KreEtt. You did?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. How do you feel about being required to testify

again?
I Pause.'
Mrs. JONES. She did not understand the question.
Senator SPECTER. How do you feel about being required to go to

court again? You know that these was a mistrial declared, which
means that there has to be a new trial for the defendant?

MELISSA. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. And how do you feel about being required to go

hack into a courtroom and to tell the incident again?
MELISSA. I really do not mind, because I would like him put

away.
Senator SPECTER. When you say you would like him "put away,"

what do you think ought to happen to ,him, based on your own
sense of justice, what do you think should be done to him for what
he has done to yot , as you see it?

MELISSA. I think he should be put away for life for raping a 7-
year-old girl.

Senator SPECTER. During the course of the proceedings, how
many times have you been called upon to recount what happened
to you in this incident? Did you have to tell the police about it, did
you have to tell other people about it?

MELISSA. I had to tell the police in my own words.
Senator SPECTER. Would it make you uncomfortable if' his trial

were to he televised, if you were appearing before a television
camera 1Ahile he was being tried?

( Pause.
Senator SPECTER. You have not thought about that question, Iknow, but--
Mrs. JONES. :ihe hasn't.
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Senator Sevion At. Well. those are the questions which we had
been prepared to ask you, and we will not ask you many others. I
know it is not easy for you to come fbrward, but what you have to
say is helpful to the subcommittee and may be of substantial aid to
us in helping out other young children.

Senator Hawkins?
Senator HAWKINS. You are a beautiful little girl. Now, tell me,

did you tell your mother first, after she had talked to you about it;
then did you tell her all about it?

MELISSA. My father was present at the time, so I told my mother
and father, both.

Senator HAWKINS. At the same time. And then you told the
police; you told Senator Specter you had to tell it to the police,
right?

MELISSA. Yes. I had to write down in my own words how I felt.
Senator HAWKINS. Did you then have to tell it again to your

lawyer?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator HAWKINS. And then again to the people in the court-

oomhow many people were in the courtroom when you were
there? As many as are here today?

MELISSA. No; my mother, my father, my grandfather, and my
therapist, and my lawyer, and the defendant's lawyer, and the
boy's mother and father, and him.

Senator HAWKINS. That's all?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator HAWKINS. Did you sit in the witness chair by yourself?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator HAWKINS. It was a pretty big place, wasn't it?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator HAWKINS. Do you think any of your friends know about

it'?
MELISSA. No.
Senator IlAWKINS. Because you moved away?
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator HAWKINS. Does your former teacher know about it?
MELISSA. I do not think so.
Senator HAWKINS. How about your present teacher?
MELISSA. No.
Senator HAWKINS. Your new teacher does not know?
MELISSA. No.
Senator HAWKINS. Do you and your family have chats about how

to prevent this from happening in the future?
MrLISSA. Yes.
Senator HAWKINS. I think you are a brave young girl to come

and share this with us. My questions have been asked by others.
We want to compliment you for being such a competent witness
and having a vocabulary so far beyond your years.

We wish you good luck in changing the doll's name. If you need
a lawyer, we have a bunch of them around here. OK?

MELISSA. Yes; and I would also like to have the laws changed for
all the other children, and I would like you to help all the other
children that are being raped today.

Senator HAWKINS. That is why we are here.
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Thank you.
Senator Se Kenat. One final question. Do you think you are in a

position, as best you can tell, to pretty much put it all behind you
when it is all over?

MELISSA. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. You think you can, with help from your thera-

pist and help from your family.
MELISSA. Yes.
Senator SPECTER. Well. we certainly wish you the best of luck

and thank you for coming forward.
MELISSA. Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. I would like to call now Mr. Bill Arnold.

STATEMENT OF BILL ARNOLD. CROFTON, MD, ACCOMPANIED BY
MRS, ARNOLD

" Alaimo. My wife and I thank you for this opportunity to
ar before you to present a brief, 5-minute summary of our fam-

i13, s personal court involvement in a matter of child sexual abuse.
We felt compelled to come forward.

We are residents of the State of Maryland. My wife has two
daughters. presently aged 81/2 and le, by her former husband, who
also resides within Maryland.

Senator SPECTER. Let me just interrupt you for 1 second.
Mr. AkNoi.o. Sure.
Senator SPECTER. As I understand it, you have not requested not

to be photographed, but I just waat to be sure that you have no
objection.

Mr. ARNOLD. T!'-at is correct. We would prefer that, that is cor-
rect.

Senator SPECTER. You would prefer not to be photographed?
Mr. Amsloi.n. That is correct. We inadvertently put our name in,

and I apologize.
Senator SPECTER. All right. We will then relay that to the media.
Mr. ARNOLD. Thank you.
Contrary to the popular myths that child molesters are usually

strangers or that incest is most prevalent in poor and minority
families, we discovered that our youngest daughter was sexually
molested by her natural father during his weekly visitations for 4
years, from the time she was 21/2 until she was 61/2 years old. Natu-
rally, we immediately denied any further visitation, against the
advice of former counsel.

This committee told the two mothers who testified here at the
last meeting:

I suggest you persevere in bringing evidence to the decisionmakers. Evidence is
the decisive factor in our .judicial process. If you are discouraged by attorneys saying
the evidence will not ht heard. press on. You have the right to manage your own
legal affairs.

I come before this committee to respectfully submit that while
that statement might be true from a philosophical standpoint, it is
the exception rather than the rule when it concerns the sexual
abuse of children.

After a 2-year involvement with the system, and more particular-
ly the last is months within the judicial process, and after incur-
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ring over $23,000 in legal fees and court costs, I can honestly say
that the system does not work to ,,rotect our children.

The molestation was reported, investigated, and concluded by
both the child protective services intake worker and the police de-
partment investigator that the abuse occurred, even though the
father denied any wrongdoing.

However, the State's attorney's office invoked their discretion,
and decided not to prosecute because of insufficient evidenceno
confession, no witness, other than the older daughter, who wit-
nessed several abusesand instead referred thu case back to us as
a visitation matter. The assistant State's attorney sent a letter to
the department of social services which stated, and I quote,

I believe that thb is a serious situation, but one that cannot be handled through
criminal procedures because of lack of evidence. Visitation would seem to be an ap-
propriate tool for enlbrcing counseling and monitoring of the father.

It is interesting to note that in our county, of 8 cases of reported
sexual abuse, the State's attorney's office only prosecuted 7.

The department of social services caseworker filed a report rec-
mmending visitation because, and I quote,

Ile is not being criminally prosecuted due to !ack of evidence. The allegations go
no further than fUnd:ing. No allegations of penetration or attempt at penetration
have been made.

Apparently, the caseworker felt fondling was OK. She further
states in her report:

The State's attorney in his letter addressed to the intake worker did not indicate
that visitation should not occur, but saw monitored visitation as a necessity. This
worker essentially holds the same opinion.

Shortly thereafter, the department of social services closed the
case. The father then petitioned the court for resumption of his vis-
itation rights.

Since that time, our family has endured, emotionally and finan-
cially, a total of eight hearings within the civil court, and finally,
ai appeal to our State's court of special appeals.

During the civil hearings, two nationally recognized experts who
specialize in child sexual abuse, including our daughter's therapist,
Linda Blick, with the Chesapeake Institute, testified that eller the
evaluation and meeting with both the father and the girls, in their
professional opinion, the father did sexually abuse his daughte, .

Also, Dr. Lourie, a noted child sexual abuse psychologist who also
evaluated our daughters and the various reports and psychological
evaluations, testified that in his professional opinion, the father
had molested his daughter. And the police department investigator,
the intake worker, and even the caseworker all gave testimony
that in their professional opinion, the sexual abuse occurred. Fur-
ther, even'ually our counsel was successful in persuading the court
to allow the testimony of the children, as well as another relative
who, when hearing of the girl's abuse, came forward to reveal the
details of her being sexually abused by the father during the years
she was 9 through 12.

In liat of the overwhelming reports and testimony, but with the
total denials of the father, the trial court judge stated, and I quote,

Ile is a natural father. They are his children as well as they are my wife's chil-
dren However. I am going to caution him that he is going to he under surveillance.
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Now. I ;MI going to tell you that if 1 find that you abuse these children in any way.
you are going to kiss your right way Do you understand that? And I have reason to
believe that you will not do that. And. um. I do not feel that at least within this
day period that I am allowing this temporary visitation that any harm would come
to those children. unless it was proven to me that he has committed these acts. I am
riot going to terminate him period, until he demonstrates otherwise.

And he summarizes by stating:
I told you when I got through that nobody would be happy. I mean, you just

cannot satisfy everybody. But I have got to look out for the interests of those chil-
dren. To foreclosethe fatherfrom ever seeing those children would he ;le worst
thing I could ever possibly do.

Throughout the hearings, the judge remarked repeatedly:
The State's attorney never prosecuted him. He was never prosecuted. The father

said he did not do it. You do not want him to admit to something he said he did not
do. What I have here is circumstantial evidence ' ' no confirmation.

The judge finalized the hearings with:
I have now exhausted everything I have had in the way of testimony. I cannot

find as a matter of fact that these children have been abused. And I don't so find.
And therefore. I am going to order visitation.

From those hearings, we appealed to the court of special appeals.
The court stayed the trial court's order and filed the opinion find-
ing that the court erred in using the wrong standard of proof and
reversed and remanded the case for proceedings consistent with
the opinion and to take another look.

While many who have monitored this case have stated that our
system of justice does workafter an appeal and over $33,000 ex-
penseat this juncture, we are again faced with a new trial and
expense, and it is doubtful as to whether the judge will decide any
differentlyat least, that is the indication we received from our
recent preliminary proceeding.

We appear here today to express our concern about the legal and
judiciary's misperception of a child's credibility. The majority of ex-
perts agree that children rarely lie about sexual abuse. In fact, sta-
tistics reveal that only 2 to 5 percent of reported sexual abuse cases
are fabrications or embellishment of the abuse. And with younger
children, the percentages are even less. Yet investigators, prosecu-
tors, attorneys, and even guardian ad litems and justices often fail
to protect the child or other innocent children because they them-
selves question the child's veracity, even when faced with over-
whelming evidence.

Through our counsel, we requested the court to interview the
girls at two of the hearings. But in the court's chambers the judge,
on both requests, stated that it was within his discretion, and he did
not care to hear from them, that their testimony was included in
the reports.

Finally, after finding "no abuse" on the second hearing, our
counsel petitioned the court for reconsideration or appeal and the
testimony of the children to be admitted, as well as my wife's rela-
tive, who was an adult, at that hearing, a list of questions were
prepared by counsel and the children's therapist that were to be
asked by the court. The children by then had been involved in
weekly therapy sessions for almost ti months and were prepared for
court testimony. As a matter of fact, the youngest daughter had
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wanted to tell the judge all about what had happened to her "so he
will believe me and know t hat my father is lying."

Senator SPECTER. How old are the children?
Mr. ARNOLD. Now, they are 8 1/2 and 10. It would have been 1

year ago
The judge remarked, "I am not going through all these questions,

I can tell you that right now." The court was cleared of everyone
except both counsel, and the children brought in one at a time.

Senator Sil.x7r tt. When the appellate court reversed and sent it
back, did they admonish the judge for not having heard testimony
from the children?

Mr. ARNOLD. The children's testimony was entered prior to the
appeal. We ultimately got, after eight hearings-

Senator SPECTER. So he finally did hear the testimony of the chil-
d ren'?

Mr. Aalloi.o. Yes, but that was before we went to the appeals.
The appeal was the final result, after seven hearings.

Senator SPECTER. You say the appellate court reversed for apply-
ing the wrong standard. Do you know what standard he applied?

Mr. ARNOLD. He was using throughout "beyond a reasonable
doubt," and the court said that---

Senator SPECTER. He was using a criminal law standard?
Mr. Aalloi.n. That is correct. And he was also justifying that on

the basis that the State's attorney's office had never prosecuted
him. Whereas the State's attorney, I might add, had told us that it
was easier to prosecute in the civil court, and that he was not
going to do so, because it was easier because of standard of proof.

Of' the 1.'; questions involving the abuse suggested by counsel to
be asked of the older child, none was asked by the judge. Of the 13
questions involving the abuse to be asked of the younger daughter,
only s were asked by the judge.

The youngest daughter testified that:
"Der father touched me * where I didn't likein the privateparts he said if we tell anybody, he'd get us back. And he said not to tell

anybody that he locks my sister in the room and all that."
The court said. "Do you ever examine your private area?"
"Yes. That is why he locked my sister in the room."
The court. "Why is that?"

'rause I don't think he wanted her to see what was happening."
The court, When did this all take place?"
"During the summertime."
The court, "This last summer. last summer'?"
"I'm not sure When I was 5 and I.
The court, "Would you like to see your father if somebody else was present?"

uhh."
The court. "And why not?"

'rause I don't feel soh..
The court. "What do you think he will do to you?"
"He'll probably punish us and all that and all that . . . because he'll probably

punish us because we told everybody."
The court, ''Is that the greatest fear'?"

He'll probably do it again and never take us hack to our mom or some-
? haw I don't want to see him any more."

The court, "You don't want to Nee him any more. period?"
I'I uhh

The court. And why not? If somebody is present, hi, can't hurt you."
"I know. but I just don't want to see him any more."
The court. because your mother told you that you shouldn't?"

uhh It my feelings that I don't want to see him any more.''



108

The court. volt'. 'moiler tell you to say anything?"
"l'h uhh Except she told our to say the truth.'
The court. "Tell me the truth. Do you ever want to see your father?"
"Um, um unitn.-
The court. "Never want to see him. OK. She may step down. You can tell every-

body to come on hack in."

Mr. AR Nol.n. And the judge then summarizes the interviews as
follows:

"I have interviewed both children. The older child testified that her father drinks,
throws things at her, he bothers her, he lies to her, and she is not too keen on
seeing her lather. The younger child states that she is not safe, that he locked her
sister in a room for ca long time at one time, and he touched her private parts at one
time. that he walks around the house with his underwear and t-shirt, and that he
did examine her potty area. And she did not want to see him, and the last time
these things happened was when she was either five years or four years of age. And
she is afraid that if she went with her father, he would punish her, and she does n )t
want to see him anymore.

"So that is a summation of my interview. With that, I would be glad to hear any-
thing else you have."

At the final hearing, some three hearings after the children's tes-
timony, the court in finding no abuse and ordering visitation,
stilted throughout,

"Oh. I know this case like a book. You do not have to ask me to recall. You know
I have been over it so many times. I was not here to judge whether he committed
that sexual abuse ;wt. If he did do that act, is he forever deprived of seeing his chil-
dren -no. I roean, who did the indicating. They say it wasthey, the investigators,
reached the conclusion that it waswho did the indicating?"

Counsel. "Well. first they interviewed the children. As I recall the testimony, they
went through some play-acting with some dolls, and some other things that they
do

Counsel. "The court interviewed the children. They both gave testimony support-
ing it. The court heard from the children. Mrs. Arnold's sister testified. The ques-
tion somewhat then becomes mildly academic, and that is whether or not the police,
the social services and the experts are not telling the truth, or the father is not tell-
ing the truth."

The court. "Somebody is not telling the truth. And of course, some of it all rides
together. If you take it together. you could come up with the sameyou know, you
could come up with whatever they, the children, say, based upon the set of facts."

It is obvious that the court was not convinced that the children
or the many experts were credible witnesses.

According to Dr. Gene Abel, director of the Sexual Behavior
Clinic at the New York State Psychiatric Institute, "The majority
of men who commit incest do so because they are genuinely
aroused by children, not because of family dynamics, They are
child molesters who stay at home."

Further, Dr. Abel's study of 23S sex offenders showed that each
child molester was responsible for abusing an average of 68.3
young victims.

Although the State's attorney sent a letter to the court over 1
year ago, stating, "Please be aware that as a result of a recent re-
evaluation, combined with discussions with many people regarding
the merits of this case, a decision has been made to actively pursue
it from a criminal standpoint."

As of this date, no charges have been brought. At oral argument
befOre the court of special appeals, the justices questioned why
charges were not brought. The father has moved to a different
home within a different county, and his home is located directly
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adjacent to a children's summer camp. And society wonders why
child molestation is on the rise.

We request that this committee explore the various avenuesavailable to the Federal Government to insure the protection of all
children. We cannot emphasize enough the need for this Nation toadequately train all professionals involved in the investigation and
prosecution of child abuse and child sexual abuse, more particular-
ly judges, prosecutors, attorneys, and social workers.

This concludes our presentation. Again, thank you fur-your in-dulgence.
Senator SPE(7TER. Thank you very much for your testimony.
[The following was received for the record:]
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Certt.aee3 /gavot

PRESIDENT'S VICTIMS OF CRIME
TASK FORCE ON

FINAL upon DECEMMR 811112

Paeoident Reagan'd Teak Foace on C4etimo o6 Caine neponted,

"Many pacooecutoao oil to taeat child motedtation eaaea

with the desioudness they dedeave. The paoAound taauma indticted on young

victims and the adtex eidectd that may man hem boa tide sae simply

immeaduseabte. Those who impose this activttn on chitdaen Wit dangekoua

and wilt continue to be do those who engage in sex with chitdaen

do ao by choice, not (14 the uncontaottabte by- product coA some disease.

Because theta conduct to puxposedut and these id tittle notiva4lon 60a

change, taeatment is usuatty unsuccedodut. The moot aecent data duggedt

that this conduct will continue thaoughout the motedtex14 tide and wilt

escalate ad he aged. These individuate xepsesent a continuing thneat to

chitdsen....motedtexs have a bettea chance than moot caiminas od eseapin

detection and aucceaa6ul prosecution...When rioeecuto46 do get Ouch

eade4, they may be hesitant to change oa anxtrus to plea baagain because

these cadet, eke Wen di66ieult to tay. The plooecutoa goat often beat

on parental aeticence ad an ezeuoe not to panceed with the coot instead

od woahing with the pasentd to detesmine what cootie id beat Oa the

child and boa the paoteetion o6 Autuae victims. Judged should xecogniz

the paoAound impact that sexual molestation has on victims....Penhaps

no cume id moat mioundeaotood and teed adequately taeated by the

justice dotem than the sexual molestation v6 chitdaen. Eveayone who

condaonto these cased Aindo them diAAicutt. These ie almost a need to 6L

that the conduct 46 the sedutt coA mistake, m4sintexpaetation, cox pay-

chological abeaaation. Vet dental only ezacerthates a paobtem that had a

aeached almost epidemic psopostiond in this cruntag. Thouoando o6 innocer

ehildaen every yeas pay the !mice boa this denial. Chittlxen who Wit uLcti

ized this way, even id they ase not phydicatty injuaed, may be haxmed

seveaely. peshapd Rose devesetythan any °then victim. The eitSeeta on the

aae paoAound....The beet poychiataic Aindings indicate that there de6enda

sae sedpondibte dos theta conduct, and that treatment in thi4 (Ikea 4.4 Ilan

duccedodut. Those who engage in sex with ch(tdten do do because they chow

to, and they will continue to make that choice as tong ad they (Ise Sate

to do oo with impunity. Those who prey on chitchen must be aequeatened

Aaom them."
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STATIC'S ATTORNCY FOR ANNIC ANUNDICL COUNTY
los sou,. Siam

ANNAPOLIS, MAPIYLAND 51401
3018547705

Fay 3203

the Honcasble None N. larner
Circuit Court for inns Arundel County

. Courthouse
hemp lie. ISerylind 21401

'MAWR 111 vott..easts
I HALO X ANIMAS

011ovo OWN .91011.118

Divorce Durebe4111,t3
Ids idea vs

Dear Judge Crews

It has owe to ray attention that at a recenthewing held pertaining to the atom referenced matter.. your position relative to visitation being extended tothe Ilesp:mdant herein was affected by your impressionthat this Office hod deteceined not to pursue this owefret a =Waal standpoint.

Please be mere. that as a result of a recentre-eueluetion, combined with disoussicris with twiny peopleregarding the writs of this owe, a decision her beenmade to actively pursue it from a orissinal standpoint.
If I can be of any assistance to you, or providewry ablitimel infatuation, plows do not hesitate to=Wt. 11111.

IROspop

Vs7 yours.

(aSen S. Duckett, Jr.
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LADM N. MOLD (MADONION)

Plaintiff

deliallialarai
oeftniant

.1

IF

NOM

1101. abat".;IITIONI,
*MM. .0 1.11.

11411.10

IN IWO

CUM' COM
FON

MIN ANONINIL COMP

Divorces Mo. 33,843

POOVIOWS PON MOMS IWII*VIOW

144.06t, M v ditTEIL.
What is pear nano?

De yes have any brothers and sisters?

De they live at hens?

Now old are yea?

Whet school do you go to?

Do you Mow the difference between lying end telling the

truth? Will you tell ne the truth?

When you used to visit your father, did be yolk around

the house without any clothes on?

When you used to visit your father does he welt around with

his penis Imagine out of his underwear/

Did you ever see your father play lector with

When they wary playing doctor did you see your father pot

his hand down 111111111140 pants in her privat eras?

When your father sew you watching ham, did he stop?

Did your !other tell you that if you told anyone about

his playing doctor with(1111111111thet yea weld be pm

Wiwi?

When you and your sister take a bath doss your Daddy coot

into the bothroas and sit and watch you, and Is you close

the certain when he wants to watch you?
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Does your lather go to the bathroom in fleet of you?

De you tell your Dad that running stemma the basso Without

your clothes isn't very nice, does he punish you, send you

to your mom tell you to shut up?

Do you ever sleep in the same bed with your father?

Were those times when year Dad would punish you, pet yes I

in your roan and push fureiture
up *satinet the door se

you osulda't get out?

00 you like going to your 0,4's hoseel(Why net?)

Savo you talked to Stephanie about your Dad playing doctor

with ber?(What eta she tell you?)

las your Did"s wife, gamy, imon4111110610sytni
doctor?

(Nude you fool about your father? (Afraid?) (Why?)

19.1111111111111111111M

1:
I.

3.

4.

S.

G.

What is your name?

Do you have any brothers and sisters?

Do they live at hams?

Now old are you?

What school do you go to?

Do you haw the difference between lying
sad te1ling the

truth? Will you teller the truth?

I understand that you seed to play doctor with your

father. Can you tell me hew you play the game?

Do you take your father's temperature and heart beat?

Does your father emu examine you?

Did be over *maims your priVate area (100tty)7

when you asked your father what he was doing, did he stop/

Did your Dad ever say 'if you tell, I'll get you'?
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Mee your father walk around the house thout any clothe.

oat

Mee your father walk around the house with his penis

hanging out of hie undezweer7

De ylu over sleep in the wan bed with your father?

.,hen you di., does he ele.p with nie grails hanging out of

his underwear7

Do you like vieitia, your father?

Now do you feel about your fether7 (Afraid?) (Mhy7)

Vh0DININNWPwae punished by your Dad, did you over sac

bia push immature against the door in hie house so

o euldn't get out?

Senator SPECTER. I commend you for your persistence. I think it
is indispensable. I know it is not easy. But the quotation you read
was my comment, that you can manage your own affairs, you can
select the attorneys, and you do have remedies, although it is very `
difficult to achieve them. And it may be that these hearings and
the attendant focus of attention on child molestation cases will
result in having that trial judge take a closer look at this matter.

You have achieved a significant victory in having the matter re-
versed and remanded to the lower court for further proceedings.

I would suggest to you further that you not abandon the criminal
process as well. How long ago did these acts occur? Has the statute
of limitations expired, is the thrust of my question.

Mr. ARNOLD. No; it has not. The last would be April 1982.
Senator SPECTER. Well, there are an entire range of remedies

which a person has when a prosecuting attorney refuses to act.
When the district attorney refuses to act, and you have run it
through his own office, you then have recourse in most States to
the State attorney general, who has powers to supervene if there is
failure to act. And there are a number of States where you have
the power, if the attorney general refuses to act, to petition the
court to direct the prosecution or to appoint private counsel to rep-
resent the State in a case if there is dereliction of duty and a will-
ful refusal to prosecute.

There has been some notoriety recently on the issue of the spe-
cial prosecutor, where a Federal judge ordered the Attorney Gener-
al to proceed, which is part of judicial supervision over prosecuto-
rial discretion, a field that I have had substantial experience in.
And there are ways to proceed if the statute of limitations has not
expired.

I know it is time consuming, and I know it is expensive, and I
know it is difficult. But the kind of tenacity you have shown, I
think, will produce results. But it is not easy. It is a tough area,
but your very major interests are involved here, and I certainly
think through eight hearings and $33,000 in the appellate process,
et cetera, you have shown your toughness. Just keep at it.

Senator Hawkins.
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Sisnattor IIAwrt1Ns. I commend you, also, and I do not know how
many average families could afford 33,000. They probably wouldhave given up by now, I would urge you also to continue to perse-vere and to stay in touch with this committee. I believe this is yourbest friend.

Mr. ARNOLD. Thank you.
Senator SPF:CTER. Thank you very much.
I would like to call now Mr. Gary Melton, representing theAmerican Psy,.;iological Association and the Association for theAdvancement of Psychology, and director of the law and psycholo-gy program, University of Nebraska-Lincoln.
I regret the delay. This hearing was not supposed to have takenso much time. Many hearings are not, but there is very importanttestimony here, and we have had some interruptions which wecould not avoid.
I very much appreciate your being here, Mr. Melton. Your fulltestimony will be made a part of the record, and to the extent thatyou could summarize it, we would appreciate it.

STATEMENT OF GARY B, MELTON, ON BEHALF OF THE AMERI-
CAN PSYCHOLOGICAL ASSOCIATION AND THE ASSOCIATIONFOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY, AND DIRECTOR,LAW AND PSYCHOLOGY PROGRAM, UNIVERSITY OF NEBRAS-
KA-LINCOLN

Mr. MF:i..roN. Thank you, Senator.
I am pleased to testify today on behalf of the American Psycho-logical Association and the Association for the Advancement ofPsychology. I am an associate professor of psychology and law atthe University of Nebraska-Lincoln, and I specialize on scholarshipon issues in terms of children's participation in legal proceedingsand legal decisionmaking. I have submitted three articles to yourstaff to be included in the record as an appendix.
What I would like to do is to talk very briefly about two psycho-legal issues that bear on child sexual abuse vi.:tims' participationin the courtroom processfirst, with respect to children's compe-tency to testify, and second, with respec* to several procedural and

evidentiary refbrm proposals which have been made and indeed, aswe have heard, have been adopted by some States.
With respect to children's competency to testify, my own rer.dingof the literature is that with proper preparation, even very ti ;ingchildrenchildren aged, :i and 4can handle the demands of testi-mony. A review of psychological research on children's cognitiveabilities reveals that first, with respect to memory, the recognitionability of children at age 4 is analogous to that of adults, even forrelatively long periods of time. The longest period that I am awareof in terms of study is about I month, which may not be directlyrelevant to some situations.
Second. in terms of moral development, there is a very low corre-lation. if any, between age and honesty. Where there is an observ-able relationship, it has to do with children's reasons for moral be-haviorfor telling the truth, for examplewhich may not be rele-vant to the question of the probative value of their testimony. Yet,it may be relevant with respect to a third point, that is, suggestibil-
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ity, in that young children tend to perceive the morality of acts in
terms of whether they are going to be punished for them and what
authority figures think about whether something should or should
not be done. Even the suggestibility effects, though, I would argue
are weaker and more complex than most people assume. First of
ail, for some forms of suggestibility, young children are actually
less suggestible than adults are; for example, with respect to verbal
nuances that are communicated in leading questions. And there is
at least one study suggesting that children in kindergarten and
first grade children are no more vulnerable to leading questions
than are adult witnesses. The caveat to that, obviously, as we have
heard today, is that young children may be asked more leading
questions over the course of their testimony because they have less
spontaneous recall and need some prompting to remember.

Fourth, with respect to cognitive development, it is well known
that young children have difficulty understanding complex situa-
tions. However, in the case of sexual abuse, we are talking about
what ultimately may be very concrete descriptions of events. And
to the extent that questioning uses vocabulary familiar to the child
and may include nonverbal means, like the use of dolls, then we
would expect even young children to be able to testify in court
about sexual abuse.

So I would conclude that, as Dean Wigmore suggested, there
would be little risk from the point of view of enhancement of jus-
tic.. in permitting children to testify without the process of qualify-
ing them by voir dire, which tends to be lengthy and probably is
invalid, and leave to the fact-finder the job of assessing the child's
credibility.

I have two qualifications to this proposition, though, both of
which have to do with an assumption that children's competency to
testify should be seen as an interactive construct, not something
that is inside the child. One is that we are talking as much about
the competency of the factfinder as we are about the competency of
the child. And even if children do use childish logic, it is of little
concern within this context provided that the factfinder can make
proper inferences from the child's testimony.

The second is that my previous discussion about the developmen-
tal psychology literature is for the most part based on laboratory
studies. Subsequently, the question arises as to the effect of various
situation factors on children's cognitive and social competence. So
that we would expect, for example, verbal fluency and recall to be
reduced when the child is very anxious in a given situation. This
factor is related to the second broad area addressed in my testimo-
ny with respect to the proposed modifications of procedure and
rules of evidence to permit, for example, special heat3ay ex:ep-
t ions, as do Washington State and Kansas; videotape depositions, in
camera testimony, and so forth.

As has already been noted, such proposed modifications of legal
procedure raise substantial constitutional issues with respect to the
defendant's sixth bmendment right to confrontation and to a public
trial, and to the public's first amendment right, through the press,
to access to the trial process.

The Supreme Court's 1982 decision in Globe Newspaper Co. v. Su-
perior Onirl suggests that mandatory aberrations in procedure and
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evidentiary roles, or at least, those that rise to the constitutional
level, are unlikely to withstand strict scrutiny. On the other hand,
case-by-case closure to the pressfor example, where there is evi-dence that a particular child may be especially vulnerablemay
withstand constitutional scrutiny, provided that a compelling Stateinterest has been demonstrated and is narrowly drawn.

A number of psychological considerations also lead me to believethat further broad procedural reform may be premature. First ofall, while the process of testimony may be traumatic for some chil-dren, for other children who have been properly prepared, it can infact be a more positive experience. There are certainly case reportsin the literature of children who experience the possibility of testi-mony as being both a vindication, sort of putting things to an end,and even a cathartic experience.
The second argument I would make is that we really do notknow enough about children's understanding of the courtroomprocess, much less of the effects of the various proposed reforms, tomake a very informed judgment about what sorts of procedural

modifications are necessary, and for which children, and in whichkinds of cases. We do not know, for example, how even childrenwho are not involved in the legal process understand what an at-torney does, understand what the courtroom process is, and soforth. While there has been a burgeoning literature in recent yearson children's competence as legal decisionmakers, there is a realvacuum in terms of knowledge about the effects of various proce-dures on the legal system and child participants. That is true notjust with respect to sexually abused children, but with respect tochildren in the legal system generally. We do not know, for exam-ple, what the experience of children in custody disputes is regard-ing their own testimony--
Senator SPECTER. But you think that there may be, or you aretestifying that in your judgment, there is some value to having thechild testify as drawing the curtain on the matter and having abeneficial effect for the child.
Mr. MELTON. For some children, it seems to--
Senator SPECTER. But you cannot generalize?
Mr. MELTON. Right.
Senator SPECTER. When you talked about competency, leaving it

to the factfinder, as Dean Wigmore says, where do you draw theline on age?
Mr. MEI.ToN. Well, obviously, at some point, children are suffi-ciently nonverbal that it becomes a moot point.
Senator SPECTER. If the child is verbal, is that child sufficiently

competent in your judgment to testify?
Mr. MEI.TON. From what I understand of the literature, childrenaged :3 or 4. for example, for the most part are able to give relative-ly good descriptions.
Senator SPECTER. What is the earliest age that you know ofwhere a child has been verbal?
Mr. MF:I.ToN. Well, children typically are able to speak in sen-tences by about age :3. I am aware of cases where children havebeen qualified as witnesses at age 4.
Senator SPECTER. Will you venture the judgment, opinion, that atage :3, a child should be competent to testify?
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Mr. MEI:roN. I would say that if the jury or the judge, as the case
may be, can judge children's testimony--

Senator SPECTER. So as long as they are verbal, you would say let
them testify.

Mr. MELTON. Yes, and leave it to the factfinder. The qualifier to
that is that we really do not have much evidence about how jurors
interpret children's testimony.

Senator SPECTER. We have some evidence about how judges do.
Mr. MELTON. Right.
Senator SPECTER. And hearsay, your sense is let the hearsay in

all the way in; no direct evidence'? I do not know why I am asking
legal questions to you, sir.

Mr. MELTON. Well, I do teach law classes, but I am not a lawyer.
Senator SPECTER. You teach law classes, but you are not a

lawyer?
Mr. MELTON. Right.
With respect to the hearsay exception, several issues arise. One

has to do with the issue of psychological unavailability, which-- -
Senator SPECTER. Well, the real issue on hearsay is reliability.

That is the real issue. The hearsay is admitted without the declar-
ant under oath or subject to cross-examination. Are you represent-
ing, based on your experience as a psychologist, contrasted with
your being a legal instructor, that there is sufficient reliability so
that it ought to be admissible, hearsay declarations, without the
safeguards of the oath or cross-examination?

Mr. MELTON. OK. There are obviously different policy issues at
stake. With respect to reliability itself, the reliability of children's
accounts, given outside of the courtroom where they have been in-
formed about the seriousness of the matter may well be as. great or
better than in the courtroom situation itself.

What I was starting to say with respect to the admissibility of
hearsay is that at least in the Kansas and Washington statutes
and I am aware of some other States without special exceptions
where there have been attempts to rely on traditional hearsay ex-
ceptions on the grounds of the chilo being unavailable to testify as
well as the testimony being very reliablethe understanding of
what psi chological unavailability is seems to me not very ad-
vanced.

The oiler issue I would raise is, assuming that in general we
prefer to have live testimony for policy reasons, that there needs to
be an evaluation of the effects of special hearsay exceptions for ex-
ample, as provided by the Kansas and Washington statutes. Does,
in fact, the availability of special hearsay exception increase the
number of reports, as some have argued that it might? What, in
fact, is children's experience in terms of this argument that they
are psychologically unavailable? As I have already indicated, there
is some evidence that at least some children find the testimony ex-
perience to be perhaps stressful, but not inordinately so.

Senator SPECTER. Do you have anything further that you would
like to say. Mr. Melton?

Mr. MEI.ToN. I had one more point that I wanted to make, and
that is that under the Federal Victim and Witness Protection Act
and under analogous laws at the State level, there is the opportuni-
ty 14 what might be thought of as moderate reforms in terms of,
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for example, separate waiting rooms for children, special provisions
l'or interviewing, and so forth, that could be attempted. And it
seems to me that given the vacuum that currently exists in how we
understand children's abilities in the legal process, or their compre-hension of the legal process, or response to it generally, that therereally is a need For a major research initiative here. This may be aplacefor example, the Office of Juvenile Justice and DelinquencyPrevent ion--

Senator SPECTER. HOW would you formulate that project?
Mr. MELTON. Well, one obvious possibility would be in terms ofidentifying some specific questions in the general area--- -
Senator SPECTER. Would you do this for usthe time is running

very latewould you write to me about that?
Mr. MELTON. I would be happy to.
Senator SPECTER. I am very much interested, and we do not havetime to explore it now, on the scope of a research project that youthink would be useful in furtherance of what you have testified to.Mr. MELTON. I would be pleased to do that, Senator.
Senator SPECTER. We would be very appreciative.
Is there anything else you would care to add?
Mr. MF:I.ToN. That was my last point.
Senator SPECTER. OK. Well, thank you very much, Dr. Melton,

For coming and For providing the very helpful written testimony
and For your statement orally, as well.

Mr. MELTON. Thank you.
Senator SPECTER. The hearing is adjourned.
!Whereupon, at 12:37 pin., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
The prepared statement of Mr. Melton and additional materialfollow:
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PREPARED STATEMENT OP GARY B. MELTON

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, it is indeed an honor and a

pleasure to be here today to testify on behalf of the American Psychological

Association on the subject of child sexual abuse victims in the courtroom.

I am Dr. Gary Melton, Associate Professor of Psychology and Law and

Director of the Law/Psychology Program at the University of Nebraska-Lincoln.

I have conducted extensive research in the area of children's competence to

participate in legal proceedings and would like to submit three relevant

articles for inclusion in the hearing record. While I am speaking on behalf

of the American Psychological Association in my capacity as Chairman of the

Task Force on Legal Issues of the Division of Child, Youth, and Family

Services, I would like to state that the views presented hero do not represent

any formal position of the Association.

In my testimony, I will present the psychological issues and research

knowledge underlying two broad questions of legal policy relevant to the

participation of sexually abused children in the legal system. First, I will

discuss children's competency to testify in court. Second, attention will be

given to the several proposals for reform of criminal procedures and

evidentiary rules to protect child victims from the trauma which the trial

process is presumed to engender.

Children's Competency to Testify

Although there is usually a rebuttable presumption of children's

incompetence to testify in court, it is well established in Anglo-Americar

jurisprudence that the question of whether children's testimony is

sufficiently reliable to enhance justice is to be decided on a case-by-case

basis. The 'traditional view is reflected in the Supreme Court's 1895 decision

in Wheeler v. United States.
1 In that case, the Court held that tc*

five-year-old son of a murder victim wee properly qualified as a witness.

Rather than invoking a per ae rule that young children are, by reason of their

immaturity, incompetent to testify, the Court held that the admissibility of a

child's testimony is dependent upon the trial judge's determination of the

capacity and intelligence of the child, his appreciation of the difference

between truth and falsehood, as well as of his duty to tell the former.
.2
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Concretely, children's competency to testify is usually assessed through a

wide-ranging voir dire focused on a variety of moral, cognitive, and social

skills: the child's ability to differentiate truth from falsehood, to

comprehend the duty to tell the truth, and to understand the consequences of

not fulfilling this duty; the child's cognitive capacity to form a "just

impression of the facts" at the time of the alleged offense and to communicate

memories of the event in response to questions at trial; the child's ability

to organise the event cognitively and to differentiate it from his or her

other thoughts and fantasies; the child's ability to withstand suggestions by

parents, attorneys, and other adult authority figures. In cases of sexual

abuse, the child is also required in some courts to demonstrate an

understanding of the meaning of sexual terms and behavior.

41though there are some qualifiers, the available research generally

supports the potential of children as young as age 4 to present testimony

which is reliable, or at least as reliable as that produced by adult

eyewitnesses.
3

Research on children's memory is illustrative. In general,

laboratory studies, including simulations of eyewitness tasks,
4
suggest that

four-year-old children's recognition memory is comparable to that of adults.

There is, however, a developmental trend in the amount of information produced

on free recall. Nonetheless, that information which is elicited on free

recall is especially likely to be accurate, perhaps as a result of the

relative lack of interpolation into memory by young children of what they

think they should have seen, heard, or experienced in a given situation. In

sum, then, the available data suggest that even young children generally have

sufficient memory skills to respond to the recall demands of testimony.

However, their lack of productivity on free recall may mean that more

extensive questioning is needed to elicit their memories than would be true of

adult witnesses.

Young children's cognitive abilities are more problematic. Young children

typically have difficulty in conceptualising complex events and ordering them

in time and space. In particular, they tend to center their attention on one

aspect of a stimulus rather than on multi le factors in conceptualisation and

reasoning. However, this difficulty may not be very relevant to the nature of

the testimony which a child may be required to give in cases of sexual abuse.
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That is, the child may be able to give a concrete description of what

happened, provided that questiona are direct and in language familiar to the

child. In such an instance, the child's difficulty in conceptualising the

e vent say not be very important. The significance of such akills is

e specially likely to be minimised if the child is able to use concrete means

of communication (e.g., pointing to parts of an anatomically correct doll) so

that verbal fluency is less important.

even if children can adequately relate their experiences, there atill may

be concerns about whether they will do so truthfully. in fact, however, there

is little correlation between age and honesty. Where there is a pronounced

developmental trend is in the reasons children give for moral decisions, a

trend which is arguably irrelevant to the probative value of children's

testimony. However, young children's immaturity of moral and social reasoning

may sake them more vulnerable to adult suggestions.

Young children tend to conceptualise the morality of an act in terra of

the probability of punishment by adult authorities. Hence, they may perceive

little actual freedom in decision- making. The directly relevant research is

achittedly scant and removed from the problem of "telling on" parents or other

adults important to the child. However, at least one study3 found that

children in kindergarten and first grade were no sore swayed by the

suggestions embedded in a leading question than were adult witnesses.

In actuality, childrenmay be less easily influenced than adults by

suggestions implicit in subtle changes of wording. On the other hand, when

children lack the cognitive skills or experience to organise a perception,

they may be especially vulnerable to
adults' explanations of what may have

occurred. The child say be dependent upon adults to clarify the meaning of an

event foreign to the child's previous experience. Thus, there may be reason

to be concerned about children's vulnerability to suggestion, but even here

the age trends may be weaker, or at least more complex, than might be

expected. That is, a blanket statement that children are sore suggestible

than adults is not justified by the available research.

Given the amount of time consumed by voir dire of child witnesses, there

say be reason, as Dean Wlesore argued,
6 to admit children's testimony

without establishing their competency.
In most cases where there is a real

question of the child's competency to
testify, the validity of the inquiry on
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voir dire is questionable. 7
Especially given the relatively minor effects

which developmental factors are likely to have on the veracity of children's

testimony, a reasonable policy might be simply to allow the trier of fact to

judge the credibility of the child in the same way that any witness's

testimony must be evaluated.

Two qualifiers must be made to this conclusion, however. Both are caveats

about misconceptualising the question of children's competency to testify as

an internal attribute of the child. In fact, children's competency to testify

might be better understood as an interactive construct. !Usti the issue of

competency to testify is as much an issue of judges' and jurors'
capacities as

that of the child. Even if children's testimony ware influenced by childish

logic, the admission of such testimony would still enhance justice if the

trier of fact could validly interpret
the reality underlying the child's

at...munt of the event. Second, the level of competency of the child is likely

to vary with the situation. Sigh levels of anxiety adversely affect recall

and cognitive functioning. Thus, interventions designed to reduce ambiguity

about the situation (e.g., visiting
the courtroom prior to testimony) and the

scariness of testimony itself (e.g., a friendly word from the judge) may

improve the quality of children's testimony.

Procedural and Evidentiary Reforms

Concern with the level of stress engendered (or alleviated) by legal

procedures is not, of course, simply a matter of increasing children's

productivity as witnesses. There is also a need to minimise stress for the

child' own sake. Child advocates wish to ensure that the child victim of

sexual abuse is not victimised again by the legal process itself. With that

goal in mind, there have been a number of proposals for procedural and

evidentiary reforms intended to reduce the risk of children being traumatised

by the legal process, while also permitting alleged child molestors to be

brought to justice. In general, these proposals provide for limiting the

audience during child victims' testimony and/or preventing direct face-to-face

confrontation by the defendant. Among the procedurel reforms suggested are

permitting the child to testify in front of a one-way mirror
(outside the

physical presence of the defendant)9 and admitting videotaped depositions in

lieu of testimony at trial."
Alternatively, some have argued that the

127,



124

courtroom testimony of child victims of sexual abuse should not be necessary._

In that vein, Kansas
11

and Washington State
12

have recently enacted

statute. permitting admission of hearsay about child victims' statements.

These proposals all ralee serious constitutional issues. Each arguably

invades one or more of the following fundamental rights: the defendant's

sixth amendment rights to a public trial and to confrontation of witnesses and

the public's first amendment right, through the press, to access to the trial

process. Although most of these issues have yet to be litigated, the Supreme

Court's decision in Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court13 gives a clear

message that mandatory procedural aberrations in cases involving child sexual

abuse are unlikely to withstand strict scrutiny. In Globe, the Court struck

down as violative of the first amendment a Massachusetts statute providing for

mandatory closure of the courtroom to the press (and others not having

direct interest in the case) during testimony by a minor victim of a sex

offense. Writing for the majority, Justice Brennan acknowledged that

protection of minor victims is a compelling state interest, but he found the

Massachusetts statute to be insufficiently narrow in its scope. Justice

Brennan argued that some minor victims might want publicity of the trial so

that they could expose the heinous behavior of the defendant; others might

simply not be bothered by presence of the media. Moreover, the incremental

protection of witnesses' privacy offered by the statute was minimal in that

Massachusetts already permitted publication of the victims' names in the court

record.

The Globe majority was also unpersuaded that mandatory closure would

increase reporting of sex offenses against children. Even if empirical

evidence to that effect were available -- as it is not -- it is hard to

imagine research which would be so overwhelming as to permit mandatory

closure. Justice Brennan argued that a mandatory-closure statute would be

justified on the ground of enhancing the frequency and quality of children's

testimony only if it could be shown that "closure would improve the quality of

testimony of all minor victims,
.14

an impossible task.

Globe indicates that broad procedural reforms to protect child witnesses

are unlikely to pass constitutional scrutiny. Regardless, such reforms are

premature. Both the need for substantial modifications of procedure and the
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effectiveness of such procedures in reducing courtroom trauma are undocumented

and indeed unstudied. The assumption by the Globe dissenters akd others that

"certainly the (traumatic) impact (of trial procedures) on children must be

greater
.15

than on adult victims of sexual offenses is plausible. Children

are less likely than adults to have the cognitive and emotional resources for

understanding the experience, and legal authorities not used to communicating

with children may find it difficult to allay their concerns. However,

particularly for young children, it is equally plausible that children's

responses are less severe on average than those of adults. Provided that

parents and others do not overreact and that they are supportive of the child

during the legal process, it may well be that the trial experience will cause

little trauma. At least for some child victims, the experience may be

cathartic;
16

it provides an opportunity for taking control of the situation,

achieving vindication, and symbolically putting an end to the episode.

Even assuming that the legal process is psychologically harmful for some

child victim., there is essentially no research literature on which to base

interventions to prevent such harm or, as Globe permits,17 to identify

particularly vulnerable child victims so that trial procedures (e.g., access

of the press) may be modified to protect them. At present, the literature is

virtually barren on these points," as it is to large extent with respect

to children's involvement in the legal system generally. Although there is a

rapidly burgeoning literature about children's competence as legal

decision-makers,
19

basic research is lacking on their understanding of the

legal process. We do not know, for example, how young children understand the

role of an attorney and the nature of the adversary process.

Although research on sexually abused children's responses to testimony in

criminal trials is hampered by the small flusher of children who actually

testify in such cases, it would be useful to "debrief" children after

testimony to obtain at least a subjective appraisal of the experience and the

thoughts it provoked. Such data-gathering seems to be a first step in

developing techniques of allaying children's anxiety while at the same time

meeting the needs of the legal system. Research of this sort would most

likely be useful to police
investigators, prosecutors, and mental health and

social service professionals who work with sexually abused children, as well

-."1q - - q
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as policy makers. Moreover, such knowledge would be helpful in preparing

sexually abused children and others, especially those involved in emotionally

charged disputes (e.g., contested custody), to testify in court.

There is also a need to test the efficacy of particular procedural

reforms. At least until such time as the constitutionality of state statutes

providing, for example, a special hearsay exception is successfully

challenged, there is the opportunity for direct study of the effectiveness of

such reforms in increasing the frequency of reports of sexual abuse, enhancing

the quality of testimony, and diminishing whatever trauma is engendered by the

trial process. Such state reforms might legitimately be viewed as "natural

experiments" enabling us to learn ways of ensuring humane treatment of child

victims by the legal system.

In addition, the Federal Victim and Witness. Protection Act of 1982 and

analogous State victim - protection statutes provide opportunities to test the

efficacy of special procedures to protect child victims which are supplements

to, rather than fundamental changes of, existing criminal procedure. Some of

these interventions designed to provide assistance to victims and their

families (e.g., special efforts to explain the process) are intuitively

helpful and require little alteration of typical procedures. Other possible

interventions (e.g., modification of the physical layout of the courtroom;

involvement of the child or the family in prosecutorial decision-leaking) are

less clearly desirable, although they may be very useful for sass children.

Careful development and evaluation of such interventions is needed, with

particular attention to the appropriateness of various procedures for the

specific case involved. Research would also be useful to determine the most

effective methods of training for police, prosecutors, and judges and

counseling for parents in preparing sexually abused children for participation

in the legal process end identifying and alleviating any psychological ill

effects which may arise.

In conclusion, the developmental psychology literature gives little reason

to be especially concerned about the reliability of children's testimony.

Accordingly, a sound policy might be to admit children's testimony without

respect to their competency to testify. Attention needs to be given, however,

to factfinderal comprehension of children's testimony and to the interaction
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between children's developmental level and the courtroom context in

determining the quality of their testimony. Legal procedures also need to be

examined with respect to their effect upon the child's 'motional well-being.

At the present time, however, there
is insufficient evidence to justify

substantial modificationd of criminal procedure on psychological grounds.

There is a need for a substantial
research initiative to examine the effects

of legal procedures on children, both to ensure.that sexual abuse victims are

not doubly victimised and, more generally, to provide the information needed

to assist children in staking use of, and adjusting to, legal procedures. The

Federal government could play a waxy useful role in facilitating an assessment

of the effects of various
State procedural innovations to facilitate the

participation of children as witnesses in courtroom proceedings.

I an very pleased to be able to testify on behalf of the American

Psychological Association on the critical issue of child sexual abuse victims

as witnesses in the courtroom. If I can be of any further assistance to the

Subcommittee, please feel free to call upon me. Thank you.

Footnotes
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Children's Competency To Testify

Gary B. Melton*

Case law and relesant psychological research
on children's competency to testify arc reviewed. Memory inyoung children is not problematic if direct, simplequestions are used. Children's difficulty in free recall,however, may make them more subject to leading questions. There is no pronounced developmental trendin honesty, and attempts on voir dire to assess honesty are probably invalid. Of most concern is youngchildren's ability to form "just impression of the facts." Even children's limited conceptual skills may notbe problematic, however, if jurorscan discern the objective reality from the child's description, a point as

yet unrese.arched. Research is also needed on the ways in which the courtroom setting affects a child'sbehavior.

While the age at which the presumption is set varies across jurisdictions,' there is
generally a rebuttable presumption that children are incompetent to testify. Although
recognizing that children may be less likely than adults to give reliable testimony, the
courts have been reluctant to hold that, because of age, children below the designated
age are per se incompetent to testify. Rather, the competency of child witnesses of any
age must be established on a case-by-case determination of whether the child's
testimony will enhance justice.'

'Institute of Law, Psychiatry, and Public Policy, University of Virginia.
'In the majority of states, the rule for assessing competency of a child witness is established by case lawalone. In those states where there is a statutory guideline, children under age 10are presumed incompetent,and children above age 10 are presumed competent. Even in these states, however, with the exception of
Arkansas, these presumptions are rebuttable (Siegel A Hurley, 1977). Courts have held children competentas young as 4 years old (Stafford, 1962).
'This principle is well established in case law. For reviews of the scores of supporting cases, see Collins &Bond (1934). Note (1953), Siegel it Hurley (1977), Stafford (1962), and Thomas (1936). See e.g., UnitedStates v. Peru, 326 F.2d 839(3th Cir. 1976);

United States v. Schoefield, 465 F.2d 560 (D.C. Cir. 1975),(err. denied. 409 U.S. 881 (1972).
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CASE LAW

This principle has been established in Anglo-American law since the 18th
century.' The traditional view is reflected in the United States Supreme Court's 1895

decision in Wheeler v. United States.' In that case the Court held that the 5-year-old

son of a murder victim was properly qualified as a witness:
That the boy was not by reason of his youth, as a matter of law, absolutely disqualified as a

witness, is clear. While no one would think of calling as a witness an infant only two or three

years old, there is no precise age which determines the question of competency. This depends

on the capacity and intelligence of the child, his appreciation of the difference between truth

and falsehood, as well as of his duly to tell the former. The decision of this question rests

primarily with the trial judge, who sees the proposed witness, notices his manner, his ap-

parent possessiun or lack of intelligence, and may resort to any examination which will tend

to disclose his capacity and intelligence as well as his understanding of the obligation of an

oath.'
In determining a child's competency to testify, the courts have tended to place

primary emphasis on the child's ability to differentiate truth from falsehood, to com-

prehend the duty to tell the truth, and to understand the consequences of not fulfilling
this duty,' This inquiry has often followed a line of questions on voir dire directed

toward ascertaining a child's religious and moral beliefs.' The child need not,
however, understand the legal and religious nature of an oath,' Rather, it is sufficient

'Rex v Brasier, I Leach 199, 168 Eng. Rep. 202 (1770). ".. That an infant, though under age of seven

years, may be sworn in a criminal prosecution, provided such infant appears, on strict examination by the

Court, to possess a sufficient knowledge of the nature and consequences of an oath . . for there is no

precise or fixed rule as to the time within which infants are excluded from giving evidence; but their ad-

missibility depends upon the sense and reason they entertain of the danger and impiety of falsehood, which

is to he collected from their answers to questions propounded to them by the court, but if they are found in-

competent to take an oath, their testimony cannot be received . " I Leach 199, 200, 168 Eng, Rep. 202.

203
.159 U S 523 (1895).
' id at 524-525
' the your dire in Wheeler was exemplary. "The boy . . said among other things that he knew the difference

between the truth and a lie; that if he told a lie the bad man would get him, and that he was going to tell the

truth. When further asked what they would do with him in court if he told a lie, he replied they would put

him in jail. He also said that his mother had told him that morning to 'tell no lie.' and in response to a ques

lion as to what the clerk said to him, when he held up hishand, he answered, 'don't you tell no story.' "Id.

at 524.
'One commentator (Note. 1953) suggested a "typical group of questions": "What is your name? How old

are you? Where do you live? Do you go to school? Do you go to Sunday School? Do you know what

happens to anyone telling a he? Do you know why you are here today? Would you tell a true story or a

wrong story today? Suppose you told a wrong story, do you know what would happen? Do you know what

an oath is" Did you ever hear of God?" (p. 362). A somewhat more recent commentator (Stafford, 1962)

also suggested that an assessment of a child's competency should include "questions about his attendance

at church or Sunday School, including his frequency of attendance, names of his teachers, pastor and loca-

tion of his church" (p 316). Besides raising a constitutional issue, these questions are probably of little

probative value today in view of changing norms of church attendance. Regardless. from a cognitive-

developmental perspective, such questions would shed little light on the child's ability to apply moral prin-

ciples Questions ahout church attendance are nonetheless still commonly used (Siegel & Hurley, 1977).

See. e g , Brown v United States, 388 A.2d 451. 458 (D.C. Mun. Ct. App. 1978).

'See, e g , State in Interest of R.R.. 79 N.J. 97, 398 A.2d 76 (1979); State v. Manlove, 441 P.2d 229(1'1.M

19681. Posey v United States, 41 A 2d 300 (D.C. Mun. Ct. App. 1945); State v. Collier, 23 Wn. 2d 678,

16: P 2d 267 (1945, People v Delaney, 52 Cal. App. 765, 199 Pac. 896 (1921). Given that part of the
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that the child have a general understanding of the moral obligation to tell the truth.
While necessary, adherence to the truth is not sufficient to establish competency.

There is also a necessity that the child have cognitive skills adequate to comprehend
the event he or she witnessed and to communicate memories of the event in response
to questions at trial, If a child's view of the truth bears little resemblance to reality, it
will also have little value to the trier of fact. Thus, competency to testify implies some
measure of competency at the time of the event witnessed as well as at the time of the
trial.° The child must be able to organize the experience cognitively and to differen-
tiate it from his or her other thoughts and fantasies." Furthermore, the child must be
able to maintain these skills under psychological stress and under pressure, real or
perceived, from adult authority figures to shape his or her responses in a particular
way. Thus, level of suggestibility is an important factor." Particular kinds of
testimony may require further specific competencies. Most notably, testimony by
children on sexual abuse may require verification of the child's comprehension of the
meaning of sexual terms and behavior."

The implication of the discussion thus far is that assessment of a child's com-
petency to testify may require a rather extensive and formal assessment of the child's
cognitive, moral, and emotional capacities on voir dire. Given that time will be con-
sumed in any event and that there is no litmus test for competency, Wigmore (1940,

reason an oath is administered is to subject the witness to penalties of perjury if he or she lies, there has
been some question whether young children (usually under age 7) could ever be competent because of their
lack of potential criminal liability under common law and, in some states, by statute. Such a view seems
overly narrow, particularly given that the oath itself (and the threat of punishment, whether divine or
secular, fur lack of adherence to it) probably has little effect on behavior. In fact, the argument ofa
necessity of potential liability for perjury has generally not been sustained (Stafford, 1962).
"A child is competent to testify if it possesses the capacity to observe events, to recollect and communicate
them, and has the ability to understand questions and to frame and make intelligent answers, with a con-
sciousness of the duty to speak the truth." Cross v. Commonwealth, 193 Va. 62, 64, 77 S.E. 2d 447, 449
(1953).

"The standard for competency as a witness at the event itself may be lower than the standard for competen-
cy to testify. Courts have occasionally ruled children competent who were found to be incompetent at
earlier trials. Apparently the courts assumed the earlier deficit was in their capacity to recollect and com-
municate their impressions rather than in their capacity to observe, encode, and conceptualize their ex-
periences. Cross v. Commonwealth, supra: Burnham v. Chicago G.W.R.R., 340 Mo. 23, 100 S.W.2d 858
(1937) (child found incompetent in prior trial allowed to testify after dream supposedly refreshed
memory). It is noteworthy that these courts apparently assumed a sequence of psychological development
which is reversed in reality. See discussions of memory and cognitive development Infra.

"The child must have been able to form "just impression of the facts." "There is the danger that a child will
intermingle imagination with memory and thus have incorrect statements irretrievably engraved on the
record by a guileless witness with no conception that they are incorrect or that the words shoald not have
been spoken." (Stafford, 1962, p. 309)

"People v. Delaney, supra; Macale v. Lynch, 110 Wash. 444, 188 Pac. 517 (1920). Suggestibility isa par-
ticularly important issue when the defendants are parents or other significant adults in the child's life. See
Gelhaar v. State, 41 Wisc. 2d 230, 163 N.W. 2d 609 (1969); State v. Hunt, 2 Ariz. App. 6, 406 P.2d 208
(1965); Benedek & Benedek (1979); Siegel & Hurley (1977).

"Riggs v. State. 233 Ind. 499, 135 N.E.2d 247 (1956). In that cue, the trialcourt erred in not seeking such
validation of testimony of a 12-year-old girl who was asked simply "Did you have sexual intercourse with
Hiram Riggs?" She answered affirmatively without any additional details. No evidence was presented of
the girl's understanding of "sexual intercourse." See also Fitzgerald v. United States, 412 A.2d I (D.C.,
1980) (jury instruction on corroboration of minors' allegations required in sex-offense cues).
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§509) has recommended abolition of the requirement that a child's competency be es-
tahlished before he or she can testify. He would have the trier of fact simply evaluate a
child's testimony in context, just as any witness's testimony must be examined for its
credibility:

rational view of the peculiarities of childnature, and of the daily course of justice in our
courts, most lead to the conclusion that the effort to measure a priori the degrees of trust-
worthiness in children's siatements, and to distinguish the point at which they cease to be
totally incredible and acquire some degree of credibility, is futile and unprofitable ....
Recognizing on the one hand the childish disposition to weave romances and to treat im-
agination for verity, and on the other the rooted ingenuousness of children and their tendency
to speak straightforwardly what is in their minds, it must be concluded that the sensible way
is to put the child upon the stand and let the story come out for what it may be worth. (p. 601)

Wigmore's view has not been adopted by any American jurisdiction.
Consequently, it is useful to examine psychological research which may be helpful to
courts faced with assessing the value of children's testimony.

PSYCHOLOGICAL RESEARCH

Memory

There has been little research directly related to children's behavior on tasks like
courtroom testimony. The most germane study was a recent investigation comparing
children's and adults' performance on eyewitness tasks (Marin, Holmes, Guth, &
Kovac, 1979). In that study, students aged 5 to 22 were placed in a situation in which a
confederate of the experimenter interrupted a session to complain angrily about the
experimenter's using a room supposedly already scheduled. Subjects were questioned
about the incident after a brief interval (10-30 minutes) and after two weeks. Memory
was assessed using free recall, objective questions (including one leading question),
and photo identification. Older subjects were superior only on the free narrative task.
Older subjects produced much more material on free recall (mean number of descrip-
tive statements: kindergarten and first grade, 1.42; third and fourth grades, 3.75;
seventh and eighth grades, 6.50; college students, 8.25). However, the youngest sub-
jects were significantly more likely to recall correctly those items which they did
produce (only 3% incorrect). Marin et al. suggested that the results supported the use
even of young children as witnesses in court, particularly given that the objective
questions task most closely paralleled the trial situation:

This additional finding (of accuracy on free recall) lends . . . further support to the conclusion
that even very young children can he credible eyewitnesses. particularly when combined with
the other findings that children are as capable as adults of answering direct obiectise
questions and are no more easily swayed into incorrect answers by leading questions It
appears that children are no more likely than are adults to fabricate incorrect responses, and
that when their testimony is elicited through the use of appropriate cues, it is no less credible
than that of adults. (p

Marin et al.'s findings were consistent with earlier laboratory studies suggesting
that children as young as age 4 or 5 perform as well as adults on recognition memory
tasks I Brown, 1973; Brown & Campione, 1972; Brown & Scott, 1971; Corsini,
lacohus, & Leonard, 1969; Nelson, 1971; Perlmutter & Myers, 1974, 1975, 1976;

136



133

COMPETENCY 10 [ISIIFY
77

Standing, Conezio, & Haher, 1970) but that there are marked developmental trends infree recall ability. The latter trends appear related to developmental differences inretrieval strategy. That is, young children require direct cues, such as specific, directquestions, to stimulate recall (Emmerich & Ackerman, 1978; Kobasigawa, 1974;Perlmutter & Ricks, 1979; Ritter, Kaprove, Fitch, & Flavell, 1973).In sum, the available data suggest that, given simple, supportive questions, evenyoung children generally have sufficient memory skills to respond to the recalldemands of testimony. However, two qualifiers must be added to this conclusion.First, while some studies used lengthy recall intervals (e.g., 28 days in Brown & Scott,1971), available research has not tested possible developmental differences in recallover periods of months, as is a common demand in the legal system. Second, availablestudies have not involved recall under stress or in situations of great personal involve-ment.

Cognitive Development

Even if children have sufficient recall ability to testify, such testimony would beof dubious value if the memories were based on erroneous impressions. Consequently,a child's 'ability to conceptualize complex events and to order them in space and timeare of importance. It is a truism of Piagetian theory that "preoperational"" children,often up to age 7, are unable to "decenter" from the most obvious attribute of astimulus so that they can make use of all of the relevant information. To cite a classicexample, young children who observe a clay string rolled into a ball and then rolledback into a string believe that there is more clay present when it is in a ball, whichlooks more massive. This inability to deal with multiple stimulus characteristics andrelationships may affect the child's ability to recite facts accurately.For example, young children have difficulty in understanding time independentof distance !Ind speed and may have difficulty in describing the chronology of events.Piaget (1927/1969) observed three stages in development of concepts of time. In stageI, common among 4- and 5-year-olds, time is defined in terms of spatial stoppingpoints of objects. The object that stops further ahead is perceived as having traveledfaster, longer, and further. In stage 2, the child begins to consider other factors, suchas starting points. In stage 3, achieved by age 7 or 8, the child masters the concept oftime. Later investigations (Berndt & Wood, 1974; Levin, 1977; Siegler & Richards,1979; Weinreb & Brainerd, l975) have indicated that acquisition of the concept oftime distinguished from speed and distance typically comes even later than Piagetthought, perhaps near age 10 on the average.
However, some recent critics of Piagetian theory (cf. Sieget & Brainerd, 1978)have suggested that, on many tasks, preschoolers may be less egocentric and illogicalin their thinking than Piaget believed. Borke (1971, 1973, 1975, 1978) has found thatchildren 3 to 4 years old have the capacity to take the perspective of another,"provided that the specific task is a simple one and involves little use of language."

"See Havel! (1963 for a comprehensive review of Piageitan terminology, theory, and research."The classical Piagetian assessment of this ability invokes a task of reproducing the view of a particularscene (i e , a model of three mountains)
from different vantage points (Piaget L Inhelder, 1956)."But tee ("handler & Greenspan (1972) ( Borke's tasks actually

involved taking perspective of oneself ratherthan of others. For a reply. see Borke (1972.
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Siegel (1978) has argued that the classical finding of young children's inability to pass

"conservation" tasks (like the ball of clay example cited at the beginning of this exam-

ple) is often a manifestation of linguistic deficits. That is, young children may not un-

derstand the words "more," "bigger," etc., but they may be able to demonstrate un-

derstanding of the concepts nonverbally. Furthermore, there is considerable evidence

that preschoolers can be trained in conservation skills (Brainerd, 1978), contrary to

the Piagetian hypothesis of the necessity of cognitive structures which would not be

expected to be developed adequately. In some instances, apparent failures on Piage-

tian tasks may also be the result of recency effects and organizational difficulties in

recall rather than failures in conceptualization (Austin, Ruble, & Trabasso, 1977;

Bryant & Trabasso, 1971.)
While these studies have considerable significance in understanding the nature of

child development generally, they do not moot the point here that young children are

likely to have difficulty in conceptualizing complex events and possibly therefore in

describing them reliably." Borke (1978), for example, interpreted previous findings of

egocentrism on perspective role-taking tasks as resulting from "children's inability to

perform on tasks which were cognitively too difficult for them, rather than any in-
herently egocentric orientation on the part of young children" (p. 38). Borke also

noted that the cognitive changes in middle childhood do result in significant transfor-

mations in the child's capacity for empathy and reciprocal social interaction. Further-

more, while the work of Brainerd, Siegel, Trabasso, et al. indicates that children's
capacities may be greater than frequently assumed, there is aL.. little evidence that

these abilities will be demonstrated without special training or assessment. Conse-

quently, given the realities of the courtroom situation, cognitive-developmental fac-

tors remain a problem for evaluating children's testimony."
Nonetheless, young children's immaturity of conceptualizaion may have less im-

port for the reliability of their testimony than appears at first glance. First, the ques-

tion at hand is whether children's testimony is so unreliable that jurors would be un-

duly influenced by it. Thus, the question is one of jurors' behavior as well as children's

competency. Specifically, in the present context, can jurors accurately perceive what

the objective reality was from an account of the subjective reality of the child? If so,

the child's cognitive immaturity would be of less significance.

Second, children's lack of ability to comprehend a situation fully may not be so

severe as to render them incapable of the level of observation required by the law. For

"There are other criticisms of Piagetian theory. Information-processingtheorists (Klausmeier et al., 1979)

and learning theorists (Brainerd, 19111; Cornell, 1978; Overton & Reese. 1973) have argued that men-

talistic explanation of broad cognitive structures are unnecessary and less parsimonious than traditional

leaning principles. The assumption of universal developmental processes has also been brought into ques-

tion by cross-cultural research on Piagetian tasks (Ashton. 1975; Hollos, in press). However, as noted in

the accompanying test, while these criticisms have considerable import for theory development, they do

not moot the basic point presented here that young children tend to have difficulty in conceptualizing com-

plex events For the purposes of formulating policy on children's competency to testify, reasons why there

are deselopmental factors in conceptual skills are less important than descriptions of their existence.

"In a largely critical essay on the philosophical assumptions of Piagetian theory. Hall and Kaye (1978)

made d similar point "If psychologists are interested indescribing the normal course of cognitive develop.

ment. much of Piaget's theory may be of use. If. on the other hand, the theorist is interested in determining

the child's ultimate capacity at .y oven time, he would use the approach exemplified by Trahasso" (pp.

165-16h)
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example, understanding of sexiinlity and reproduction requires an understanding ofphysical causality and social identity. An accurate concept of the origin of babies is
not reached typically until about age 12 (Bernstein & Cowan, 1975). On the otherhand, there is evidence that by age 4 most children are quite aware of sex differences
and willing to speak freely about them (Kreitler & Kreitler, 1966). Thus, in cases of
sexual abuse, children can be expected to give an accurate description of what
happened, provided that questions are direct and in language familiar to the child.Children will appear incompetent if the examiner uses technical vocabulary ratherthan slang or dolls or drawings. Monge, Dusek, and Lawless (1977) found that evenninth graders are often unfamiliar with "proper" terms for sexual anatomy andphysiology:

lOinly 38.4% of the students knew the meaning of the word menstruation; 13.1% knewthe definition of scrotum; 14.1% knew what coitus means; 30.3% knew that fallopian tubeswere part of the female reproductive system. and 54.5% knew that seminal vesicles were partof the male reproductive system: the meaning of menopause was known by 27.3% of thestudents. (p. 179)

Moral Development

If in fact children can relate their experiences adequately, then the principal con-
cern is whether they will do so truthfully. While the courts have been particularly con-cerned with this problem in assessing competency to testify, the concern here seemsmisplaced. There is in fact little correlation between age and honesty (Burton, 1976),
Indeed, police experience with child victims confirms the research experience in other
settings. From 1969 to 1974, Michigan police referred to a polygraph examiner 147
children whose veracity about allegations of sexual abuse was questioned. Only onechild was judged to be ly (Groth, Note 1).

Where there is a developmental trend, though, is in the reasons which children
give to justify behavior. As children grow older, they become increasingly more socio-centric and oriented toward respect for persons (see reviews in Lickona, 1976a).Several points are noteworthy in this context.

First, the law is less interested in the witness's attitude toward the truth and con-ceptualization of the truth than in his behavior. Justice will be served if the witness
tells the truth regardless of his reason for doing so. Therefore, such inquiry probably issuperfluous."

Second, even if there is some reason to ascertain a child's conceptualization ofduty to tell the truth, the yes/no and definition questions commonly used on voir dire
are inadequate measures. One of the philosophical underpinnings of current cognitive-
developmental theories of moral development is that a given behavior may bemotivated by vastly different levels of moral reasoning (Kohlberg, 1969,1971,1976)."Similarly, asking a child to tell the meaning of "truth," "oath," or "God" probablytells more about his or her intellectual development than about the child" oropensityto tell the truth."

"The correlation between moral judgments and moral behavior is in fact rather modest (Mischel &Mischel, 1976).
101or critiques of kohlherg's theory, see Kurtines and Greif (1974); Mischel and Mischel (1976); Simpson(1974)

"Adherents to social-learning theory (Mischel & Mischel, 1976), the major competing theory of moral
development, would agree. From their point of view, children's behavior would be influenced primarily by
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Third, understanding of the oath is probably unimportant. Indeed, it probably

has little effect on adult behavior. To the extent to which the oath does have an effect,

it would be on a primitive level of moral development common among young children:

reification of rules (Piaget, 1932/1965) and avoidance of punishment (Kohlberg, 1969,

1976).
Where immature moral development may be a factor is in suggestibility. Young

children tend to perceive rules as "morally absolute," unchangeable, and bestowed by

authority (Piaget, 1932/1965). Therefore, they may confuse the suggestions of an

adult authority figure with the truth. This hypothesis will be considered next.

Suggestibility

One of the problems which has been noted generally in eyewitness testimony is

witnesses' frequent vulnerability to suggestion by opposing attorneys in leading
question3 (Loftus, 1979). That is, even in average adults, suggestibility is a real

problem in credibility and competence of witnesses. Given the greater suggestibility

which is frequently assumed to occur in children," children's testimony might be so

unreliable that in those instances the courts would not want to take the risk of un-

reliability which inheres in any testimony. In addition to the cognitive-developmental

factors described in the preceding section, it might be expected on the basis of simple

learning theory that children's behavior would be shaped by their perceptions of

adults' expectations for their testimony (and hence the kind of testimony which will be

rewarded or punished), particularly given young children's essentially dependent

status.
One of the more reassuring findings of Marin et al.'s (1979) investigation was

that young children were no less affected by a leading question than were adults. This

finding needs to be further investigated, however. There was only one leading question

used in Marin et al.'s study, and the interviewer probably had less authority in the eyes

of a child than would an attorney asking what seem to be threatening, challenging

questions in the imposing setting of a anirt-oom."
There is some experimental evidence fordevelopmental changes in suggestibility,

although the changes are complex ones. In one frequently cited study involving con-

formity to suggestions by peers (Hoving, Hamm, & Galvin, 1969) it was found that

task difficulty interacted with age in the degree of conformity to peer judgments.

Children in grades 2, 5, and 8 were asked to determine which of two drawings shown

briefly by a slide projector contained moredots. In the most difficult condition, both

drawings contained 15 dots. In a medium difficulty condition, one drawing contained

15 dots and the other 16. One drawing contained 15 and the other 17 in the third and

easiest condition. Before giving their answer, the children heard two other children

respond Hoving et al. found increasing conformity by age on the most difficult task.

In the medium-difficulty condition, there was increasing conformity from second to

the rewards, punishments, and models available in a given situation (in interaction with the child's

i:ogniti%e competencies)
"tire note 12 copra
"Developmental change in perceived authority of court officials is an empirical assumption which is still

largely untested, however.
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fifth grade but decreasing conformity from fifth to eighth grade. Conformitydecreased by age in the least ambiguous situation. Thus, in relatively straightforward
situations, older children and early adolescents are willing to withstand peer pressureand make independent judgments. On the other hand, in situations requiring carefuljudgment, young children were actually less vulnerable to suggestion than were olderones, who presumably wanted some verification of an uncertain judgment. This find-ing is consistent with Marin et al.'s (1979) finding that young children were par-ticularly unlikely to fabricate or distort memories in response to direct questions.

Perhaps more directly germane to the legal situation is research on adult in-fluence on children. \gain, though, there is not a simple relationship between age andconformity. In research involving first, fourth, seventh, and tenth graders, Allen andNewtson (1972) observed adult influence on children's judgments to decrease sharplyfrom first to fourth grade and then to increase slightly in tenth grade. This result wasconsistent across several forms of judgments: "visual" (judgment of length of line),"opinion" (e.g., "kittens make good pets"), and "delay of gratification" (e.g., "Iwould rather have 500 today than SI tomorrow"). Such a finding is consistent with themural development and legal socialization literature in terms of young children's in-flated perception of the power of authority." There is the obvious related problem ofcoaching or threat (real or perceived) of punishment for unfavorable testimony whenparents or other adults important to the child are involved in the legal action.Most directly on point, Fodor (1971) found that children who yielded to thesuggestions of an adult interviewer tended to score lower on assessments of level ofmoral judgment (according to Kohlberg's criteria) than children who resisted suchsuggestions. Given the prevalence of low-level moral judgment among youngchildren," there is some confirmation of the cognitive-developmental prediction ofhigh vulnerability to adult influence among young children.
It should also be noted that young children's need for cues to stimulate recollec-tion may exacerbate the problem of suggestibility in testimony." Even if (as Marin etal.'s data suggest) children arc no more swayed by leading questions than adults, thatthey are exposed to more of them means that their testimony may be less credible. Inshort, while more research is needed, there is some reason to be concerned about thesuggestibility of young children (perhaps up to age 7). This might be evaluated on voirdire through the use of leading questions on matters not related to the case.

CONCLI

While there are some gaps in the relevant literature, the available research in sumsuggests that liberal use of children's testimony is well founded, to the extent that the
"tire discussion infra of moral development; see also Melton (1980),
"there t% some evidence that young children may be able to consider intention and other social ethical fac-tors Netter than Piaget argued that they could (Austin, Ruble, & Trahasso, 1977; barley, Klosson, & Lati-na. 14791 However. there is nonetheless the weight of empirical evidence which clearly indicates thatmoral judgment is "indisputably developmental" (Lickona, 1976b, p. 239). Young children's moralJudgments. while subject to social influence. are strongly affected by their cognitive limitations.Ht mots do in fact often allow

attorneys great freedom in posing leading questions to children so that theymight give more complete answers (Stafford, 1962)
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primary consideration is the child's competency to testify." Memory appears to be no

more of a problem than in adult eyewitnesses when recollection is stimulated with
direct questions. Children also are no more prone to lying than adults. Data on
suggestibility arc less clear but seem to indicate fewer age differences than might be

suspected, a finding which needs to be further investigated. Young children's ability to
conceptualize complex events is more problematic, although it is possible that, with

skillful examination, jurors can follow children's line of inference sufficiently to

evaluate their testimony. That hypothesis is worthy of investigation, particularly given

that the task of weighing children's competency is currently strictly the province of the

judge.
The conclusions described here could be made more confidently if they were

based on children's functioning outside the laboratory. Only Marin et al.'s (1979) in-
vestigation involved a courtroomlike task. Even that investigation involved interroga-

tion under low stress. There are obvious ethical problems in inducing such stress. As

an alternative, recall, conceptual skills, etc. might be evaluated in situations of
naturally occurring stress, such as hospitalization. Experimentation might also be

attempted in simulations of trials in courtrooms or simulated courtrooms.
Research is also needed on children's perception of the trial setting. No such data

are available for young children (Grisso, in press; Wald, 1976). In the present context,

such research would help to define the psychological demands of courtroom en-
vironments and possible effects on children's competency to testify. Such research

might also be useful in preparing children for testimony, both to enhance the quality
and probative value of their testimony and to reduce the stress which the legal process

may induce in child witnesses.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Acknowledgment is due to Richard J. Bonnie for his helpful comments on an
earlier version of this manuscript.

REFERENCE NOTES

1 Grath. N. The psrchology of the sexual offender.. Rape. Incest. and child molestation. Workshop

presented by Psychological Associates of the Albemarle in Charlotte, North Carolina, March 1980.

2 I WO. D Medical-legal aspecis of sexual abuse. Paper presented at the meeting of the American

Ps)chological Association. Montreal, September 1980.
3. Melton. 0. B. Psychulegal issues in childwictims' interaction with the legal system. Paper presented at

the First World Congress of Victimology, Washington. D. C., August 1980.

REFERENCES

Allen. V. L . & Newtson, D. Development of conformity and independence. Journal of Personality and

.Sacra! Psychology. 1972. 22, 18-30.

"1 here are concerns about whether testimony is unduly stressful for children, particularly when they have

to confront defendants who have assaulted or sexually abused them (Libel, 1969; Lloyd, Note 2; Melton,

Nate 3) To the extent to which these concerns are well founded. the state's parent patriot interest in

protecting children may conflict with its interest in punishing and incapacitating child molesters.

142



139

COMPE TENCY 10 TESTIFY
83

Ashton. P. T. Crosscultural Piagetian research: An experimental perspective. Harvard EducationalReview. 1975, 459 475-506.
Auston, V. D., Ruble, D. N., & Trabasso, T. Recall and order effects as factors in children's moral

Judgments. Child Development. 1977, 48, 470-474.
Benedek, R. S.. & Benedek, E. P. The child's preference in Michigan custody disputes. American Journalof Family Therapy. 1979, 7, 37-43.
Berndt. T J., & Wood, D. J. The development of time concepts through conflict based on a primitive

duration capacity. Child Development. 1974, 45, 825-828.
Bernstein, A. C., & Cowan. P. A. Children's concepts of how people get babies. Child Development, 1975,

44, 77-91.
Burke, 1-1. Interpersonal perception of young children: Egocentrism or empathy? DevelopmentalPc ycholog v. 1971, S. 263-269.
Rorke, H Chandler and Greenspan's"ersatz egocentrism": A rejoinder. Developmental Psychology, 1972.7, 107-109.
Burke, H. The development of empathy in Chinese and American children between 3 and 6 years of age: Acrosscultural study. Developmental Pscychology, 1973, 9. 102-108.
Burke. H. Piaget's mountains revisited: Changes in the egocentric landscape. Developmental Psychology.1975, 11. 240-243.
Hui ::e. II. Piase's view of social interaction

and the theoretical construct of empathy, In L. S. Siegel & C.J. Brainerd Eds.). Alternatives to Piaget: Critical essays on the theory. New York: Academic Press.197R.

Brainerd. C.1 !gaming research and Piagetian theory. In L. S. Siegel as C.J. Brainerd (Eds.).Alternative'to Piaget. Critical essays on the theory. New York: Academic Press, 1978.
Brown, A. 1.. Judgments of recency for long sequences of pictures: The absence of a developmental trend.Journal of Experimental Child Psychology, 1973, IS, 473-481.
Brown, A L., & ampione, J. C. Recognition

memory for perceptually similar pictures in preschool
children. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology. 1972.15, 55-62.

Brown, A. L., & Scott. M. S. Recognition memory for pictures in preschool children. Journal ofExperimental Child Psychology, 1971, II. 401-402.
Bryant. P E., & Trabasso, T. Transitive inferences and memory in young children. Nature, 1971, 232,456-45M.

Burton, R. V. Honesty and dishonesty. In T. Lickona (Ed.), Moral development and behavior: Theory,
research. and social issues. New York: Holt. Rinehart & Winston, 1976,

Chandler. .1. J., & Greenspan, S. Ersatz egocentrism: A reply to H. Borke. Developmental Psychology.1972, 7. 104-106.
Collins, (i. & Bond. E. C.. Jr. Youth as a bar to testimonial competence. Arkansas Law Review.

1953-54, 8, 100-107.
Cornell. E. H. Learning to find things: A reinterpretation of object permanence studies. In L. S. Siegel & C.J. Brainerd (Eds.), Alternatives to Piaget: Critical essays on the theory. New York: Academic Press,1978.

('omm, D. A.. Jacobus. K. A., & Leonard, D. S. Recognition memory of preschool children for pictures
and words. Psychonomic Science. 1969, *1, 192-193.

Dade!, .1 1st , Klosson, F C., & /alma. M. P. Intentions and their contexts in the moral judgments ofchildren and adults. Child Development. 1978. N. 66-74.
Emmerich. H. J., & Ackerman, B. P. Developmental differences in recall: Encoding or retrieval?Journalof

Experimental Child Psychology. 1978, 25. 514-525
Havel!. 1 H. The developmental psychology of Jean Piave. New York: Van Nostrand. 1963.
1 odor. I fl Resistance to social influence among adolescents as a function of moral development. Journal8ort;i1 Pt tehohurc. 1971, IS, 121 -126.
imso, 1 I awyers and child clients: A call for research. In J. S. Henning (Ed.), The rights of children:Legal and psychological perspectives. Springfield. Illinois: Charles C Thomas, in press.Hall. V C'.. & Kaye, D. B. The necessity of logical necessity in Piaget's theory. In L. S. Siegel & C. J.Brainerd 1 File ). .4/lemons's to Plage: Critical essays on the theory. New York: Academic Press,lo

t. ross-cultural research in psychological development in rural communities. In A. W. Childs&ii H Melton 1 Eds I. Rural psychology New York: Plenum, in press.

143



140

M4 MELTON

Having, K L., Hamm, J., & Galvin, P. Social influence as a function of stimulus ambiguity at three age
levels. Developmental Psychology. 1969, I, 631-636.

Klausmeler, H. J., et al. Cognitive learning and development: Information-processing and Piagetlan
perspeeives Cambridge, Massachusetts. Ballinger, 1979.

Kobasigawa, A. Utilization of retrieval cues by children in recall. Chit Development. 1974,45,127-134.
Kohlberg, L. Stage and sequence: The cognitive-developmental approach to socialization. In D. A. Goslin

(Ed.). Handbook of socialization theory and research. New York: Rand McNally, 1969.
Kohlberg, L. From is to ought: How to commit the naturalistic fallacy and get away with it. In T. Mischel

(Ed.), Cognitive development and epistemology. New York: Academic Press, 1971.
Kohlberg. L. Moral stages and socialization: The cognitive-developmental approach. Ire T. Lickona (Ed.),

Moral development and behavior: Theory, research, and social issues. New York: Holt, Rinehart
Winston, 1976.

Kreider, H., & Kreitler, S. Children's concepts of sexuality and birth. Child Development, 1966, 37:
363-378

Kurtines, W., & Greif, E. B. The development of moral thought: Review and evaluation of Kohlberg 's
approach. Psychological Bulletin, 1974, 51, 453-470.

I cm, I. The development of time concepts in young children: Reasoning about duration. Child
Development. 1977, 41, 435-444.

Lihai. D The protection of the child victim of a sexual offense in the criminal justice system. Wayne Law
Review. 1969, 15, 977-1032.

Lickona. T. Moral development and behavior: Theory, research, and social issues. New York: Holt,
Rinehart A Winston, 1976 (a).

Lickona, T. Research on Piaget's theory of moral development. In T. Lickona (Ed.), Moral development
and behavior Theory, research, and social issues. New York: Holt, Rinehart A Winston, 1976 (b).

I.oft us. E. Evewitness testimony. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press, 1979.
Mann, B. V., Holmes, D. L., Guth, M.. A Kovac, P. The potential of children as eyewitnesses: A

comparison of children and adults on eyewitness tasks. Law and Human Behavior, 1979, 3, 295-306.
Melton. G. B. Children's concepts of their rights. Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 1980, 9, 186-190.
Mischel. W., & Mischel. H. N. A cognitive social-learning approach to morality and self-regulation. In T.

Lickona (Ed..), Moral development and behavior: Theory, research, and social issues. New York:
Holt. Rinehart & Winston, 1976.

Menge, R H., Dusek. J. H., & Lawless, J. An evaluation of the acquisition of sexual ormation through a
sex education class. Journal of Sex Research. 1977, 13, 170-184.

Nelson. K. E. Memory development in children: Evidence from nonverbal tasks. Psychonomic Science.
1971, 25, 346-348

Note The competency of children as witnesses. Virginia Law Review. 1953,39, 358-370.
Overton. W & Reese, H. W. Models of development: Methodological implications. In J. R.

Nesselroade & H W. Reese (Eds.), Life-span developmental psychology: Methodological issues.
New York: Academic Press, 1973.

Perlmutter. M & Myers, N. A. Recognition memory development in 2- to 4-year-olds. Developmental
Pwhology. 1974, 10, 447-450.

Perlmutter. M.. & Myers. N. A. Young children's coding and storage of visual and verbal material. Child
Detelopment. 1975, 46, 215-219.

Perlmutter. M , & Myers, N.A. Recognition memory in preschool children. Developmental Psychology,
1976. 12, 271-272.

Perlmutter. M., & Ricks. M. Recall in preschool children. Journal of Experimental Child Psychology,
1979, 27, 423-436.

Piaget..1 The conception Otiose New York: Basic Books, 1969. (Originally published 1927).
Plaget. J I he moral ludgment of she child New York: Free Press, 1965. (Originally published 1932).
Plaget. J & Inhelder, B. The child's conception of space London: Routledge & Kegan Paul, 1956.
Ritter. K Kaprive, B. H.. Fitch, .1 P., & nava, J. The development of retrieval strategies in young

children Cognitive Psychology, 1973. 5, 310-321.
Siegel. I) M , & Hurley. S. The role of the child's preference in custody proceedings. Family Law

()mote*, 1977. II. 1-58
Siegel, I S 1 he relationship of lanpage and thought in the preoperational child: A reconsideration of

144



141

(Ivin fLNCY IY1 IISIII.Y 85

nonverbal alternatives to Piagelian tasks. In L. S. Siegel & C. J. Brainerd (Eds.). Alternatives to
Ptaget Critical essays on the theory. New York: Academic Press, 1978.

Siegel, L. S., & Brainerd. C. J. (Eds.) Alternatives to Piaget: Critical essays on the theory. New York:
Academic Press, 1978.

Siegler. R. S , & Richards, D. D. Development of time, speed, and distance concepts. Developmental
Psvcholog. 1979, 10, 288-298.

Stafford, C F. The child as a witness. Washington Law Review. 1962, 37, 303-324.
Standing, L., Comm, J., & Haber, R. Perception and memory for pictures; Singletrial learning of 2500

visual stimuli. Pcichonomic Science, 1970, If, 73-74.
("bonus, R. Y. The problem of the child witness. Wyoming Law Journal. 1956, 10. 214-222.
Wald, M S. Legal policies affecting children: A lawyer's request for aid. Child Development. 1976, 47,1-5.
Weinreb, N., & Brainerd, C. J. A developmental study of Piaget's groupement model of speed and time

concepts. Child Development, 1975, 44, 176-185.
Wiginore, J II On evidence t Vol. 2, 3rd ed.). Boston: Little, Brown, 1940.

145



142

In J. Bulk ley (Ed.) (1980). Child Sexual Abuse and the law. Washington, DC:
American Bar Association)

Chapter In

PROCCOURAL REFORMS TO PROTECT MILD VICT1M/WITNESSES IN SEX OFFENSE PROCEEDINGS"

Gary B. Melton

I. The Case for Reform

In recent years, attention has been given to the conflict
between the rights of defendants and the needs and rights of victims in
criminal sex offense cases. The entire process of investigation and
trial may result in psychological trauma and embarrassment to victims,
with especially distressing effects if the defendant rigorously exercises
his Sixth Amendment right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against
him. In so doing, defense counsel often puts the victim on the defensive
by suggesting complicity or seduction by him or her.1 The continued
victimization may be exacerbated by the constitutional requirements of
open trials.

These conflicts are particularly stark wnen the victim is a

child. Children presumably are more vulnerable to psychological trauma

than adults, and police interrogation, repeated interviews, and the trial
itself may he particularly confusing and stressful for them.2 Even young

children, sometimes as young as age four, are often competent to testify,3

and questions of potential trauma become particularly acute. In short,

society's interest in punishing child molesters may come into conflict with

its obligation as parens patriae to protect dependent minors.

Consequently, there have been essentially two proposals to
introduce procedural reforms which would reduce the need for the child-
victim to recapitulate the event at trial. The first involves removing

or reducirw the site of the audience to diminish the scariness and
emkrrassment of testifying in open court. The second proposal involves
preventing the child from having to testify while facing the offender.
When the offender is the child's parent, this issue becomes even more salient.

the purpose of this article is to review the legal and practical
1:sues invoked in such proposals, primarily in criminal cases, although
juvenile proceedings will also he touched upon. Can trauma to the child
he minimized without sacrificing either due process or state aims of bringing
offenders against children to justice?

'Ihe original ver,ion of this paper was presented at the First. florid Cungruss

of Vietimology and was published in 5 (nes. 3-4) Vietimology: Ata Int'l. J.

(1980), Copyright 1981, Visage Press Inc.
Acknowledgment is due Richard J. Bonnie for his helpful comments on an

earlier vernion of this manuscript.

11. PrppT;a1,, for Reform

A. Reforms in Other Nations

there have been no systematic studies which have evaluated
pr,posal!; for procedural reform to protect child victims. There have,

hi wever, been extensive changes in handling child victims of sex offenses

in Israel and, to a les..ier extent, in Scandinavia. Anecdotal data have

hen reported on the effects of there reforms, and they are worthy of
some attention.

The most radical modification of standard criminal procedure
has been in Israel. A statutory revision enacted in 19554 provides for
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vesting authority In youth examiners, who are usually "professional workers
who are connected in their daily work with aspects of dyramie behavior of
the human mind, such as psychiatric social workers, clinical psychologists,
psychiatrists, probation officers and child care workers...." In any sexoffense case involving a child under 14, no interrogation or testimony
by the child may take place without permission of the youth examiner.

litfact, the child testifies in only 1191 of the cases.6 In most instances, the
youth examiner talks with the child, and statements made by the child to
the youth examiner are admissible into evidence. Normally, the child does
not testify and only the youth-examiner appears in court. In the United
States, however, as is discussed later, the child's unavailability ror
corroboration and cross-examination

would violate the defendant's constitutionalrights. Moreover, the youth examiner's testimony regarding the child's state-
ments would he considered hearsay

in this country unless it fell into oneof the exceptions to the hearsay rule. Iteifen reported an impression,
without supporting data, that the Israeli statute has resulted in more
reports of sexual abuse hecause of fewer fears of harm to the child.7

While the Scandinavian countries have preserved defendants'rights to confrontation,
they have attempted to make police procedures less

stressful for the child through use of specially trained investigators.8
Unlike the Iscaeli system, tho Scandinavian investigators are policewomen.However, these police officers

are given advanced training in psychology,
and in fact in Stockholm, the special police officers are nurses. All ofthe child's statements to the investigators are tape-recorded with the goal
of reducing the need for the child to repeat his or her story.

B. Constitutional Limitations Upon the Child's Private Tostimony

In the United States, the
principal procedural device used

to protect child witnesses has been some variation of in camera proceedings.This has primarily occurred in civil child custody pratOnallrr
in which the child's interests arguably are paramount. It has been hold
permissihle in a majority of states in custody proceedings to have some form
of in camera testimony in which the child is privately interviewed by the
judge fiaWiermine the child's preference. Such interviews usually arc
conducted in the judge's chambers without the parents present. Special
procedures to safeguard the parents' due process rights normally are imposed,
one such protection is recording the child's testimony. Some jurisdictionsrequire consent of the parties for in camera testimony; others leave thodecision to the absolute discretion ofACjudge, at least when the
testimony is recorded so that the transcript is available for appellatereview.8

However, in criminal proceedings in which the defendant's
liberty interest Is at stake, testimony in chambers would clearly violate
constitutional guarantees of due process if the defendant insisted oninvoking his or her right

to confront witnesses and to be present at trial,In juvenile court hearings based
on parental abuse, in camera testimony mayalso be held to vio'-tte the acceeed parent's due process rights, even withthe parties' attorneys

present.'" However, as discussed later, psychologicaltrauma to the child is a factor more likely to he considered in allowingin camera testimony in child protection cases.

Moreover, jp eaTera testimony may also conflict with the
fundamental constitutional principle of open trials. The general issue
therefore is the degree to which the courtroom can be closed without
violating either the defendant's or the public's constitutional rights.
There are three constitutional

doctrines bearing on this inquiry whichmust he balanced with the ems patriae concern for protecting the childwitness: (I) the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation of
witnes,es, (2) the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a public trial;aikl (ii the fir,,t. Amendment rignt of the press and the public to access tothe judicial process. The scope of etch of these rights and their implication,:
for special procedures in cases involving child witnesses are issues not yet,ottIed In law. hroadly, two questions will he addressed in the followingiectionl. First, is there a way in which the child can avoid direct,inifrontation with tie. defendant without abridging the defendant's rights?
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Second. is it constitutionally permissible to hear the child's testimony

while the public and/or press is excluded?

Before considering these issues in turn, it is important to
note that there is considerable precedent for taking the interests of child

witnesses Into account.I1 In order to protect the child and to allow the

child to feel more comfortable (and presumably to he more productive) in
testimony, clearing the courtroom except for those persons having a direct

interest in the case has been held permissible in criminal proceedings by

at least two federal appeals courts.12 Indeed, courts holding that the

audience cannot be limited in criminal trials on occasion have distinguished

in the dicta circumstances vi those cases from cases in which children are

%Itness7.T.13 Nonetheless, the relative weight to he given to the child

witness' interests in a balancing test is far from clear.

(1) The Defendant's Right to Confrontation

a. Criminal Proceedings

In criminal prosecutions, the defendant's Sixth
Amendment right to be present at his trial and to confront and cross-examine
witnesses has been he,../ to be inherent in fundamental fairnessI4 and applicable
to the states under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.IS

In an opinion for the Supreme Court in California v. Green,I6

Justice White identified three principles underlying the right to

confrontatio . the need to subject the witness to the oath; the
usefulness of cross-examination in sorting out the truth, and the

need for the jury to observe the witness' demeanor in order for the
jury to evaluate his or her veracity.17 Arguably, it is the need to

crtri4-examine which is most basic to the defendant's right of confrontation.
Only then can he or she challenge testimony which is misleadiel and damaging.
Although this right is not absolute,I8 it 15 so basic to due process that
there are few conceivable ways In which confrontation can be preserved in
criminal cases without subjecting the child victim to the stress of facing
the defendant.

The simplest means would he the defendant's waiver of

hi, rights to be present and confront the prosecuting witness. While this
right is potentially waivable,l it requires an intentional and knowing
waiver by the defendant,a, and there are prohably few circumstances in
which it would be in his best interests to agree to a waiver. Consequently,

this option is seldom available.

t
Family Court Proceedings

In family cont proceedings in lvth, :
al.1,v or neglect, the accused parent:* due process rip, T.; to av present:

it trial an,: to cimfront witne%,,es against them il:o are . .mally recognized.
liNt,ver this right is not absolute, In a New. York case, the court stated

that exclusion uf a party may he necessary in limited circumstances, indicating

Who process varies with the subject
matter and necessities of the situation.
The sociollgal nature of the problems
with which Family Court judges deal
requires the exercise of considerable-
di5cretion....Tender years, mental health
behavior in the courtroom, the need to
shield some chi:dren from the emotional
trauma some disclosures would he likely
to produce, these are not the kind of
considerations which Family Court judges
must ur should ignoce....21

However, a more recent New York case held that unless
the potential for harm to the child from testifying Is clearly established,
the accused parents' due process right to confront witnesses must prevail.1l
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As stated vailier, in camera interviews by the judge
outsidti,the parents' presence represent theMaio.rity rule custody
eaws.-3 It is arguable that child protection cases are similar to

custody proceedings, since the best interest of the child is equally
paramount. On the other hand, it may be that parents in an abuse ar
neglect case have greater due process rights at stake; not only can
they lose custody, but they risk a stigmatizing label of being an
unfit parent and the potential of having their parental rights terminated.
itus, in camera testimony in child abuse proceedings at least require
evidence that the child is likely to stiffer emotional harm in order to
outweigh the accused parents' due process rights.

c. A Special Child-Courtroom and the Right to Face-to-Face
(:onfrontation

I.ihai has suggested a way in criminal prosecutions
of eliminating the audience, including the defendant, which he believes
would preserve the defendant's right to confrontation and cross-examination
without causing great stress to the child victim.24 He advocates development
of a "child - courtroom." This would be an informal courtroom with a one-way
mirror behind which would be the defendant, his friends and family, and
representatives of the public. The defendant could communicate with his
lainewl in the interview room through a "bug in the ear."

L'bai's proposal obviously raises questions about the
practicality of buildinK child-courtrooms. Beyond this pragmatic question,

the proposed procedural modifications raise an interesting constitutional
question concerning the scope of the right to confrontation.

Assuming Justice Whit's analysis in the California
Gruen ,...ase is accurate, it is arguable that the Libai proposal adequately

-ifeguards the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights. The defendant would be
able to observe and challenge testimony, and the lack of immediate physical

proAlmity could be viewed as a minor inconvenience to the defendant
balanced by meeting the needs of the child victim.

However, this analysis would not hold if the defendant's
right to he pre vent at this trial includes a right to he physically present.
Own. Is not much direct precedent on this point, but the available case
law ..uggests that the right to confrontation under the Sixth-Amendment may
include face-to-face meetings. Early cases which developed the principle
of ,onfrontation as a fundamental due process right frequently used language
mentioning the inducement to telling the truth which was provided by meeting
the defendant in face-to-face confrontation.2:' However, this language was
in general support of the necessity of cross-examination rather than of
physical confrontation per se and may be weak precedent, in view of the
in.ihility of nineteenth-century judges to foresee technological developments
permitting cross-examination and confrontation without physical presence.

There is only one reported case which by analogy is
relevant to the Issue raised by Libai's proposal. In a recent Eightll Circuit
case involving an alleged accessory to kidnapping (United States v. Benfielda),
an adult victim had suffered extreme post-trauma emotional distress to the
extent that she had been unable to work and had required hospitalization.

Her psychiatr.t recommended that she not be required to testify or that
"circumstance.. less stressful than a trial courtroom he arranged."27 The
trill court then granted the pro.eLution's request for a videotaped
deposition of the prosecuting witness and ordered that the defendant
could he "present at the deposition but not within the vision" of the
witnes.28

In accordance with the trial court's order, the victim's
testimony was taln in a videotaped deposition pith defense counsel having
opportunity for cross-examination. Hie defendant watched the proceedings
on a monitor and was able to halt the testimony with a bu...zer so that he
could confer with counsel. Fhe was aware of the defendant's presence
in the building.
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The appellate court held that this procedure violated thedefendant's right to confrontation.

The right of cross - examination reinforces
the importance of physical confrontation.

Most believe that in some undefined but
real way recollection, veracity, and

communication are influenced by face-to-face
challenge. This feature is a part of the
Sixth-Amendment right additional to the
right of cold, logical cross-examination by
one's counsel. Nhile a deposition necessarily
eliminates a face-to-face meeting between
witnesses and jury, we find no justification
for further abridgement of the defendant's
rights. A videotaped deposition supplies an
environment substantially comparable to a trial,
but where the defendant was not permitted to be
an active participant in :le video deposition,

this procedural substitute is constitutionally
infirm.29

The appellate court in Benfield also noted that exclusion of the defendant
from a deposition potentially conflicts with his right to self-presentation.30

It should be noted that it is plausible that face-to-face
confrontation by particularly vulnerable

victims (like chi...iren) may actually
diminish reliability of their testimony rather than enhance it, as the Benfield
appellate court implied. While an empirical question, this assumption is not
easily testable because of ethical concerns about subjecting research participants
to undue stress. Nonetheless, the well-established "inverted-U relationship"
between arousal and performance suggests that placing witnesses in great
emotional distress would result in testimony of less probative value.31

(Abet has made an additional proposal which raisesSixth Amendment problems. In order to minimize the time during which
the child and his or her family are in limbo, Libel would require special
pre-trial hearings.32 The child would testify in the child-courtroom soon
after charges were brought, with the defendant's counsel present for
cross-examination. The defendant, however, would not be present. The
testimony would be videotaped and shown to the trier of fact at tria1.33
In the rare circumstance in which the defense could demonstrate that new
evidence had been uncovered thereafter which made the pro-trial cross-
examination ineffective, the child could be asked to testify at trial.
However, because the right to confrontation is so fundamental, a requirement
for early depositions probably would be unconstitutional if it could be
shown in any way to diminish the quality of cross-examination (presumably
through lack of time for the defense to prepare adequately). Accordingly,
pre-trial videotape depoSition taken without the defendant's presence
would probably require the defense's stipulation to the procedure.34
In short. while the issue is not settled, the Sixth Amendment may require
face-to-face confrontation at the time of trial, particulary in criminal
proceedings. If so, innovative proposals reducing the stress of
confrontation will probably be held impermissible.

(2) Public Trial Rights

a. Defendant's Right to a Public Trial

Even if the defendant's presence is required, there
may be advantages to the child of limiting the audience so that he or she
is not compelled to recount embarrassing or traumatic events in front of
numerous strangers. The law is in fact more settled gn the scope of the
defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a public trial.i5 As noted earlier
in this article, there is considerable precedent for limiting the audience
in trials involving child-witnesses. The right to a public trial is a
fundamental right designed to prevent judicial misconduct and use of the
legal system as an instrument of persecution.36 Public trials also allow
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witilve,. to bring forth evidence unknown to the parties. However, these
interests are met by having present, at a minimum, the defendant, counsel,
and the.. defendant's family and friends.37 Thus, prosecutors may avoid
child-witnesses heing forced to discuss embarrassing and emotion-laden
material in front of large audiences. Furthermore, if Mhai's child-courtroom
were held not to he violative of the defendant's right to confrontation, there
would not appear to he any reason that even this small audience could not be
behind a one-way mirror.

h. Public's Right to Access to Trials

In addition to the defendant's right to a public
trial under the Sixth Amendment, the public has a First Amendment right to
access to criminal trials (at least through the press) "absent an overriding
interest articulated in findings."38 This principle was just affirmed by
the Supreme Court for the first time in a highly publicized case, Richmond
Newspapers,_Inc!v. Virginia.39 in the opinion for the Court, Chief
Justice Burger noted the long tradition in Anglo-American law of open
vials as a mcars of monitoring the Judicial process. He relied heavily
on common law precedent dating to be:ore the Norman conquest: "What is
significant is that throug4out its evolution, the trial has been open to
all who cared to observe."8 Essentially, Burger argued, open trials
are basic to Anglo-American justice, and it has always been that way.
Consequently, it was held that defendants could not compel trials to be
closed because of the public's right to access. It is noteworthy that
the concurring opinions of lustice Brennan, Stewart, and Blackmun also
relied heavily on cotmun law precedent.

(3) Closed Trials During Testimony of Child Sex
Offense Victims

a. Criminal Proceedings

The import of Richmond Newspapers for attempts
to protect the privacy of child victim/witnesses-by closing the courtroom
to the puE'ic in criminal cases is unclear. Given the Court's reliance on
historical precedent, it may he that such efforts are constitutionally

acceptable because courts have frequently viewed such efforts in the past
as necessary to protect the witness. The Supreme Court itself recently
noted in Gannett v. De Pasipple th frequency of such limited closures in
deciding that the defendant did not have a constitutional right to open
pre-trial hearings. 41

In the Gannett case, the Supreme Court stated
that "the tradition of publicity has not been universal. "'t2 The Court
cited cases in which some members of the gen"ral public were excluded
in cases involving violent crimes against children. Further, a number of
state court decisions and state statutes in about halt the states allow
exclusion of the public in a variety of circumstances, including rape
ca,.es, child sex offense cases: vises where embarrassment could prevent
effective testimony; where evidence is vulgar; or, where the presence of
certain persons would "impair the conduct of a fair trial."43 In Richmond
Newspapers, the Supreme Court explicitly reiterated that the "First Amendment
rights of the puhlic and the press are (not) absolute."44 In support of
this statement, the Court cited Wigmore on Eviden,e, which lists the
statutes and court decisions permitting limits upon public proceedings.
the court made clear that a "trial judge (may), in the interest of the
fair adminiptration of justice impose reasonable limitations on access
to trial."

Such a limitation was recently upheld by the South
Carolina Supreme C or. in 4 case decided after Richmond Newspapers.

State v. Sinclair lb held that the trial judge did not abuse his discretion
in excluding the public during the testimony of a nine year old victim of
sexual battery. However, it is important to note that in Sinclair, the
trial judge allowed reporters access to the child's recorded testimony.

At least four states, Arizona, Florida, Montana, and New /*Lie°,
have statutes specifically allowing videotaped depositions in lieu
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of trial testimony of a child victim of sexual abuse.47 The depositionsmust be taken in the presence of the defendant, defendant's couseland the prosecutor.
In Florida, unlike the other three states, thevideotaped testimony may be taken only if there is a "substantial

likelihood such child will suffer severs emotional or mental strainif required to testify in open court."" Moreover, a statute inNew Hampshire provides that in sex crime cases involving a victimunder 16, his or her testimony
shall be taken in camera unless thedefendant shows good cause.4i

On the other hand,
some rulings indicate that thelimits of closure may be quite narrow. A stark example was a case decideda week before Richmond Newspapers

in which the Kentucky Supreme Courtreversed a trial judge's decision
to close the courtroom to both the

public and OI_ . press, and instead
to release n transcript at the end

of the trial. sO In that case, the 10 prosecuting witnesses, all under
age 12, were the alleged victims of sodomy. The appellate court held
as follows:

We do not quarrel with the trial

judge's concern over the embarrassment
and emotional trauma that could be
suffered by the witnesses were they to
testify in an open courtroom concerning
delicate and distasteful matters. The
problem, is however, that by the very
nature of certain trials, civil as well
as criminal, this embarrassment and
emotional strain commonly occur. One
can think of instances in trials involving
rape, incest, paternity, child abuse,
divorce, etc., when the witnesses, child
and adult alike, will be greatly embarrassed
and traumatized by testifying publicly.
Yet this embarrassment and trauma has not
been deemed sufficient to bar the public
from these proceedings. Embarrassment and
emotional trauma to witnesses simply do
not permit a trial judge tg close his court-
room to the entire public.51

The language of the Kentucky Supreme Court is
.triling. An oien clearer message from the United States Supreme Court
concerning the potential constraints of the First Amendment on attempts
to clo,e trials to the press in order to protect child sex offense
victim. In a recent per curiamopininn in Globe New.cpapw. Co.
/,tioperior_A;oprtS2, the Supreme Court summarily vacated a decision
by the Mat.:achusetts Supreme Judicial Court upholdieL exclusion of
the pre-, during the testimony of three teenaged rape victims,
and reminded it for reconsideration in light of Richmond Newspapers.
the !las4chwetts court had held specifically that the press should
be excluded under a state statute closing trials for sex offense
crimes against minors to all except those having a 'direct interest
to the trial." In upholding the statute, the court cited
Psychological authority regarding the trauma suffered by a child victim
who is, in effect, victimi.:ed again by the criminal justice system:-.0
the aaort construed the purpose of the statute as four-fold: to

,ticaurav ibild ;ex offense victims to come forward; to preserve their
ability to testify by protecting them from undue psychological harm
at trial; to uphold the State's interest in sound and orderly administration
,f wti(e; iva, to facilitate obtaining just convictions for crimes that
pipetratar tr,nuently have gum. free.'

while it lemins to he wen how the Massachusetts
latnr.: will he construed on remand, it seems probable that, at a minimum,
hlanitt cx,iii.ions of the press from testimony by child-victims in criminal
.ex offense -,icvs will he held to he violative of the public's right of
a,ce,.s on tad other hand, courts may be more willing to exclude the
4eneral puhlii than the press in criminal cages, However, the holdings
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of the Kentucky and 'south laiulina 'llipreme courts regarding release .f
the transcript of the child's testimony after trial reflect conflict
regarding the scope of the press' right of access. Allowing thepress access, either at trial or by say of a transcript, provides thevehicle for informing the public; this should satisfy the public's FirstAmendment right to hive information regarding the judicial process.

h. Family Court Proceedings

Unlike a criminal trial, an abuse or neglect hearing
in the family court seeks to protect the child and does not lead to
criminal penalties for the accused parent. This factor in part explains
why such hearings traditionally have been allowed to be closed to the
general public. However, many states allow persons with a "proper,"
"legitimate," or "direct," interest to attend juvenile hearings, usually
at the discretion of the judge.58 The press normally has been considered
to possess such an interest, although the

judge usually exercises reasonable
discretion in regard to their presence in court.:17 thus, family court
hearings are not "secret"; the fact that they are private does not deprive
the public of its right to be informed sArice the press serves this function."58

Conclusions: Makillg the Present System More Responsive

While the issues are certainly not settled, there seems tobe ample reason to doubt the constitutionality of attempts to alter standardcriminal procedure in order to protect child victims. Renfield59 suggeststhat there is little room for tampering with the defendant's right to confrontwitnesses. While there Is considerable precedent
for limiting the audiencein trials involving offenses against children, developing law on the public'sright of access to trials suggests that there may be little way, other thanby voluntary measures, of shielding child victim/witnesses from the eye oflit press.

These legal issues aside, however, there may be a more
fundamental question of whether substantial procedural changes to protectchildren are in fact desirable in all cases. Arguably, any attempts toinstitute such reforms arc premature. At this point, the behavioral scienceliterature is bereft of research testing assumptions about ways in which thelegal system induces and enhances trauma in child victims. Research mightinitially best be centered on evaluation of carefully designed

demonstrationprojects involving, for example, special youth examiners. It may be that
;sumptions that reducing the audience in trials, using special examinersfor interrogation, etc. will alleviate stress are invalid. Indeed it isconceivable that for some youngsters

the opportunity to "have their day incourt" would he cathartic and
symbolically put an end to the episode intheir minds.

Furthermore, there is a need for basic research on children's
unticrtaiiding of the legal process. At present, no such data exists foryounro children. 60 We do not know, for example,

how young children understandth ruler. of an attorney and the nature of the adversary process. By examiningsuch concepts, information might be gathered which would he useful in respondingdirectly to children's
concerns and fantasies in preparation for interrog t. Inand testimony. It would also be useful

to "debrief" children after testi
t" obtain at least a subjective

o!praisal of the experience and the thoughtsei p roo.h.1. h 11 t Ig3t tiering ..veme to he a first step in developingtthilitine of allaying Children's anxiety while at the same time meeting theof the legal system. In short, we simply do not have data available
to use In shaping ways of making

the system, even as it is presently structured,lore effe,:ttve and humane. Particularly in view of constitutional requirementswhich may nullify any proposal which in any way compromises the defendant's
tight to ,oilfuntation, such effort s to make the present system more responsive
to tl liocd. of the child are clearly desirable.
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Child Witnesses and the First Amendment:

A Psycholegal Dilemma

Gary B. Melton

University of Nebraska-Lincoln

Abstract

There have been a number of recent proposals for

procedural reforms to protect child victims in their role as

witnesses. The Supreme Court's decision in Make BeW2121int Q.

Y& SLUMEi2L CULL suggests both the constitutional limits of

these reforms and some circumstances in which social-science

evidence is unlikely to be given weight by the judiciary.

GIAIDO is particularly interesting with respect to the latter

issue, because its judgment appeared to turn on perceptions of

empirical data. The Court's use of these data is analyzed, and

suggestions are made for future research about children's

involvement as witnesses. It is argued that attention might be

better paid to making the present system more responsive to the

needs of child witnesses than to attempting major procedural

changes.

In recent years incrcasing attention has been paid to the

problem of victims' being placed on trial," especially in

sex-offense cases. It is typically argued that the process of

investigation and trial results in an exacerbation of

psychological trauma and embarrassment. The victim often must

describe and in a sense relive the traumatic event

repetitively, and defense counsel may suggest that the victim

stimulated or participated in the offense (Holmstrom & Burgess,

1975). This emotional fallout of the legal process may be

brightener] by the requirement of testimony in open court; the

victim may feel on display as he or she is forced to recall

painful memories, to defend against suggestions of having

stimulated the offense, and to confront the defendant. This
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feeling of public humiliation may be exacerbated by the

presence of the press in the courtroom and the spectre of

future publicity.

These untoward side effects of the legal process take on

particularly profound meaning when the victim is a child.

Although there is little direct evidence, the traumatic effects

of police interrogation and courtroom testimony would appear

especially severe for child victims. Children are less likely

than adults to have the cognitive skills necessary to organize

the experience. Prosecutors and police may have special

difficulty in communicating with child victims and offering

them emotional support and preparation for the various steps in

the legal process, including testimony. Also, to the extent

that delays in the legal process result in "marking time" for

the child and her family until the event can be put behind them

(Burgess 4 Holmstrom, 1978), the process may result in a

temporary plateau in the child!s development. However, there

may be reason to modify procedures for children's testimony

even if these hypotheses as to especially traumatic effects of

the legal system on child victims are invalid. The historic

duty of the state as parens patriae to protect children may

give special significance to whatever negative effects the

legal process has on victims generally. In short, the state's

interest in punishing and incapacitating child molestors may

come into conflict paradoxically with its interest in promoting

the healthy socialization of children and protecting them from

trauma.

Starting from such a premise, there have been a number of

proposals for special procedures in trials of defendants

charged with sex offenses against Laildren. Some proposals

involve procedures which are supplements to, rather than

fundamental changes of, existing criminal procedure. The

recently enacted Victim and Witness Protection Act (1982), for

example, requires the Department of Justice to develop specific
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procedures to make victims more comfortable and less subject to
fear or embarrassment during the legal process (e.g., separate

waiting rooms; victim counseling services; specially trained
law enforcement officers; involvement of tqe victim in

prosecutorial decision making). The provi:.ion of special

programs and materials (e.g., Lewis 4 Gree" od, 1979) to

prepare child witnesses for the legal proc is of a similar
genre. Such reforms make the present systt.%. more responsive to
the needs of child victims; they do not chhIlenge prevailing

criminal procedure.

Several proposals for substantial changes in procedure are
more troublesome. Generally, these proposals aim to make

criminal procedures less stressful for child witnesses by (a)

eliminating or reducing the size of the audience during the
child's testimony and/or (b) removing the defendant during the
child's testimony. Thus, for example, some states permit

videotaped depositions by child victims of sex offenses to
avoid the presumed trauma of testimony in open court (Arizona

Revised Statutes, 1978/1982; Florida Statutes, 1979/1983;

Montana Code, 1977/1981; New Mexico Statutes, 1978). At its

most extreme, Israel provides by statute (Law of Evidence,

1955) for the appointment of child mental health professionals
as special youth examiners whose report of the child's

discussion of the offense is admissible as evidence (see

Reifen, 1958, 1975, for a description of the implementation of

this statute). Under Israeli law, neither open testimony nor

confrontation by the defendant is required in cases of sex

offew:en against children.

Libai (1969) and Parker (1983) have proposed less radical
procedures, which they believe are consonant with the American

conaiitutional nyntem. To avoid thiochild's directly facing
the defendant or the public, the Libai-Parker proposal calls
fer the development of special courtrooms for children. These
courtroom; would be informal (e.g., without an imposing

judicial bench) and would be equipped with a one-way mirror,
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behind which could be the defendant, friends and family, and

representatives of the public. The defendant could communicate

with his or her attorney by means of a "bug-in-the-ear." To

minimize the amount of time that the child and the child's

family are in limbo, the judge could order a videotaped

pre-trial deposition, which would be shown to the trier of fact

when the cane finally went to trial. The deposition would be

taken in the children's courtroom. Parker's (1983)

modification of the Libai proposal also provides for

prohibition of publication of the child's name and address

(through use of Jane or John Doe appellations on public court

records) and for potential closure of the courtroom. Closure

would occur only if the trial judge found a compelling state

interest in doing so in the particular case.

The American proposals attempt to strike a balance between

tne interests of the child and the rights of the defendant and

the public. However, the privacy interests of the child victim

are likely to carry less weight in a balancing test than the

rights of the d Zendant, which are constitutionally protected

and therefore fundamental. Thus, even the "moderate" reforms

lise a number of constitutional issues, with respect to the

protection of the defendant's Sixth Amendment: right to

confrontation of witnesses, the defendant's Sixth Amendment

right to public trial, and the public's First Amendment right

( through the press) to access to the trial process (see Helton,

1980, 1981, for detailed discussion). For example, the

proposals for use of one-way mirrors or closed-circuit

telovi!;ion with electronic communication between the defendant

and counsel arguably preserve the defendant's right to

confrontation by providing the opportunity for his or her

indirect participation in cross-examination. However," such a

procedure would fail on constitutional grounds if the Sixth

Amendment requires fac.Q=L2IlacC confrontation iarby mL Vult0

1899, P. 55; Matto e v, Vnitgd aIt5'1e4 1895, pp.
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243 -244; SUYSICL Y. tlaaL.asthuagtta& 1934, p. 106; united SLAW/
Y. Braiuld& 1979). It is likely that the right to

confrontation applies as an element of due process even in

civil abuse proceedings because of the potential stigma and

loss of parental rights attached to a finding of abuse,

although the standard for attenuating the right to

confrontation in family court is likely to be lower than in a

criminal trial where the Sixth Amendment applies Liz Le a,.

Childwa& 1980).

Preservation of the defendant's right to a public trial is

somewhat less problematic. There is ample precedent for

limiting the size of the audience when child victims of sex
offenses are testifying iGein m& United States,. 1958; delilana
Y. wpagn, 1951). Similar authority exists for removing

spectators not having a direct interest in the case may be

removed to protect the dignity of testifying rape victims

i6lL211 Y. CADIMIA 1975; liarLia Y. VAtuRhana& 1966; United Staten

ex Lel& LatillIQL2 Y. Siclat& 1977). The interests of the

defendant in a public trial may be met by having present, at a

minimum, thP defendant, counsel, and the defendant's family and

friends iln Le (aim, 1948). This small audience could

presumably be removed from the courtroom itself and placed

behind a one-way mirror so that the child need not face them.

However, the circumstances in which actual closure of the

courtroom to spectators is permissible may be quite limited, as

illustrated by a recent Supreme Court case iaete NelifiVaVeL Cg&

Y. EUReCiai CQUELL ILL/Le Ills 1982) which considered the scope

of the Firnt Amendment right to a public trial. 11022 is

interesting not only because of its implications for

consideration of reforms in procedures governing testimony by

child victims; it is alno noteworthy because the holding in the

case turned at nuperfivially on the interpretation of

psychological evidence.
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Y. al/l2Caill. Curt

Qlotut involved the test of the constitutionality of a

Massachusetts statute barring anyone not "having a direct

interest in the case" from the courtroom during testimony by a

minor victim of a sex offense (Massachusetts General Laws,

1923/1972). The Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts had

twice considered the Globe's objection to being excluded from a

trial of a defendant who had been charged with the forcible

rape and forced unnatural rape of three girls who were minors

(ages 16, 16, 17) at the time of trial. Relying exclusively on

an analysis of the statute in the context of the common law,

the Supreme Judicial Court in UM= j (1980) held that the

interests supported by the closure statute LguiLed exclusion

of the press only during the testimony of the victims;

exclusion during the rest of the trial was a matter of the

trial judge's discretian. The court interpreted the statute as

intended "to encourage young victims of sexual offenses to come

forward; once they have come forward, the statute is designed

to preserve their ability to testify by protecting them from

undue psychological harm at trial" iaLata IA 1980, p. 369).

Beyond this general concern with the statute as facilitative of

the administration of justice, the court also identified a

legislative intent to shield minors from public degradation.

The Globe appealed to the United States Supreme Court,

which summarily vacated the judgment of the Massachusetts court

and remanded the case LGIWat remand, 1980) for reconsideration

in the light of Eichmud UM/RAMA:EA Ina Y. (1980),

which had made clear for the first time that public access to

criminal trials is guaranteed by the First Amendment. On

reconsideration, the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court

affirmed its earlier decision. Although acknowledging "a

temporary diminution" of "the public's knowledge about trials"

LcigLe II, 1981, p. 781), the court held that a case-by-case

determination of the propriety of closure would defeat the

state's legitimate interests:
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Ascertaining the susceptibility of an individual

victim might require expert testimony and would be a

cumbersome process at best. Only the most

exceptional minor would be sanguine about the

possibility that the details of an attack may become

public. An examiner would have to distinguish

between natural hesitancy and cases of particular

vulnerability. To the extent that such a hearing is

effective, requiring various psychological

examinations in some depth, the victim will be forced

to relive the experience. So, too, the families of

youthful victims will be uncertain whether the

reporting of a sexual assault will expose a child to

additional trauma caused by the preliminary hearing

as well as to public testimony at the trial Nlate

1981, pp. 779-780)

Globe again appealed to the U.S. Supreme Court =2122 III.
1982). The Supreme Court reversed the Massachusetts court,
6-3. Writing for the majority, Justice Brennan held the

Massachusetts statute to be violative of the First Amendment,

in that mandatory closure was broader than necessary to meet

compelling state interests. Justice O'Connor wrote separately

to emphasize her belief that the holdings in both gighmad
tigneginca and Qlebe applied only to criminal trials. Chief

Justice Burger, joined by Justice Rehnquist, dissented on the

merits of the case, and Justice Stevens dissented on the ground

that the issue was moot because the trial in the case at hand

had been completed.

Justice Brennan began the analysis of the merits of the

cane by reiterating the constitutional basis of the access of

the press and the general public to criminal trials, as

developed in Bichund MR12020116. Having emphasized the

constitutional values at stake, Justice Brennan argued that any
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attenuation of the access of the press must be based on a

"weighty" state interest: it must be shown that the denial

(of access is necessitated by a compelling government

interesand is narrowly tailored to serve that interest"

=ate IIIA 1982, p. 2620).

The majority analyzed the state interests purported to be

served by the closure statute to be "reducible to two: the

protection of minor victims of sex crimes from further trauma

and embarrassment; and the encouragement of such victims to

come forward and testify in a truthful and credible manner"

(pp. 2620-2621). Justice Brennan acknowledged the former

interest--protection of the minor victim--as compelling.

However, he also argued that the statute was insufficiently

narrow in its scope. While there might be justification for

closure of the courtroom during testimony by um minor

victims, there was insufficient justification for mandakm

closure. Citing Massachusetts Justice Wilkins's concurring

opinion in GloLe II (1981), Justice Brennan noted that some

minor victims might want publicity of the trial so that they

could expose the heinous behavior of the defendant; others

might simply not be bothered by presence of the press.

Moreover, the incremental protection gained by the victim might

be quite small. Massachusetts already permitted publication of

the victims' names in the court record, information available

to the press.

The majority found the second state justification --

facilitation of justice in cases of sexual crimes against

minors--to be without merit, in that "no empirical support" had

been produced to support the assertion that the closure statute

would inaease reporting of offenses. Indeed, in view of the

minimal shield against publicity offered by the closure

statute, Justice Brennan found the "claim speculative in

empirical terms, but ... also open to serious question as a
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matter of logic and common sense" NIQUQ Ili,, 1982, p. 2622).

Moreover, even if the assertion withstood empirical scrutiny,

the majority regarded it as insufficiently compelling to

overcome a constitutional interest, because such a claim "could

be relied on to support an array of mandatory-closure rules

designed to encourage victims to come forward: Surely it

cannot be suggested that manor victims of sex crimes are the

Qnly crime victims who, because of publicity attendant to

criminal trials, are reluctant to come forward and testify"

Wlatt Liis 1982, p. 2622). with respect to the assertion that

the closure statute would improve the quality of minor victims'

testimony, Justice Brennan noted that the Court has presumed

Quenne01 to improve testimony. Starting from such a

presumption, only a showing of improved testimony by All child

victims would justify mandatory closure in his view.

The Chief Justice, joined by Justice Rehnquist, quarreled

with the majority on a variety of points in Glatt ILI1. Most

basically, they criticized the majority's interpretaion of

Eichmaud UQW112A122L0 (1980) as overbroad. Perhaps getting to

the crux of the disagreement, the dissenters also expressed

their disgust at the rtsult of Glatt: specifically, that

while "states are permitted...to mandate the closure of all

proceedings in order to protect a 17-year-old charged with

rape, they are not permitted to require the closing of part of

criminal proceedings in order to protect an innocent child who

has be,n raped or otherwise sexually ahused" NU/la iii. 1982,

p. 2623).

Beyond these differences in analysis, about half of Chief

Justice Burger's opinion was devoted to an attack on the

majority's perception of the empirical realities. He regarded

the Maslachunetts statute as a rational expression of "the

Commonwealth's overriding interest in protecting the child from

the severe--possibI, permanent--psychological damage' of

testimonl. berore representatives of the press

165
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p. 2626). The Chief Justice claimed further that the reality

of such severe psychological damage was "not disputed" LGIsaut

1982, p. 2626) and cited six authorities that he claimed

supported such a view. with respect to the majority's

allegation of the lack of empirical evidence to support the

second interest alleged by the state--improvement of reporting

and prosecution of sex offenses against children--Chief Justice

Burger responded w;th a rather circular arguments only by

permitting experimentation by the states can such data be

generated. Such an argument carried to its logical conclusion

would justify any state intrusion into a constitutionally

protected zone if there might he a state interest of compelling

proportion. Regardless, the Chief Justice was convinced that

the "reality of human experience"--"cavalier(ly) disregard(ed)"

by the ma/ority--showed that the statute would "prevent the

risk of severe psychological damage caused by having to relate

the details of the crime in front of a crowd which inevitably

will include voyeuristic strangers," perhaps including "a live

television audience, with reruns on the evening news. That

ordeal could be difficult for an adult; to a child, the

experience can be devastating and leave permanent scars" LGIAti2t

LLL 1982, p. 2626). Rejecting case-by-case consideration of

closure, the Chief Justice asserted that the "mere possiblity"

of testimony before the press would be enough to deter many

parent:; dn4 children from reporting sex offenses iQlsahg III,

1982, p. 2626).

Tht P and ALUIT:.2 Qf thQ EQcial Sa=ell

Q1QkQ presents an interesting example of the use and

significance of social-science evidence in an appellate case.

Tndeed, if taken literally, had the majority found a

substantially stronger link between the closure statute and the

protection of child victims, the result in GISILS would have

been different, given the same analysis. (We shall see,
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however, that no empirical evidence could have met the

majority's standard.)

Moreover, the division of the Court on the interpretation

of the social-science evidence is surprising, at least on the

surface. The advocates of greater attention to the social

sciences in Gld/c are not the Court's liberals but instead

Chief Justice Burger and Justice Rehnquist, neither of whom has

expressed much affection for the social sciences in the past

(see, e.g., 11011QW y. G2C1L9iQA 1978; opinion of Justice Powell,

concurring in the judgment, joined by Chief Justice Burger

and Justice Rehnquist; cLaut.m& lama, 1976, opinion of Justice

Rehnquist, dissenting).

Close examination of the Burger-Rehnquist argument in

Q112122. III shows no new affinity for empiricism, however.

First, the Chief Justice apparently made no systematic

examination of the relevant social-science literature. The

extra-legal authorities he cited had all been previously cited

in QI(An L (1980) by the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court,

and these authorities were cited without critical analysis of

their findings. Specifically, Chief Justice Eftrger cited six

authorities in support of his assertions concerning the

"devastating" trauma for child victims of testimony in open

court. Two of these citations (Berger, 1977; Libai, 1969) were

of non-empirical law-journal articles, and a third citation

(nwhmer & Blomberg, 1975) was of an unsystematic,

impressionistic law-journal "study." (In that regard, social

scientists wishing to disseminate their work to legal

policymakurs are reminded of the need to publish their findings

in jounals accessible through the Ludca tia Legal EaLlgdlgalaL

see Tanke & Tanke, 1979.) One of the citations was of a

secondary sour,!e (Katz & flazur, 1979), and another citation was

of a report of a committee of the American Psychiatric

Associatien 1976), which made a series of

assertions about the problems of child victims in the legal

system without supporting data.
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The only one of the treatises actually presenting data was

Holmstrom and Burgess's (1978) volume on institutional

responses to rape victims. Burgess and Holmstrom, a

nurse/sociologist research team, pioneered in the study of

victims, including minor victims, of sexual assault. Combining

a counseling program with research purposes, they acted as

participant-observers, and they reported rich anecdotal data.

However, there are substantial methodological problems with

their work. The interviews were unstructured and presumably

affected by Burgess and Holmstrom's preconceptions and their

counseling motive. Where quantified data are reported, they

make no mention of the reliability of ratings, even though some

of the categories are quite subjective. Even if one assumes

that failure to recognize these limitations in Burgess and

Holmstrom's work was a lack of social-soience sophistication

rather than an uncritical eye, the Chief Justice still can be

criticized for citation of their findings as to aCiltal

responses to the legal system. He overlooked their book on

child victims of sexual assault (Burgess, Groth, Holmstrom, &

Sgrai, 1978), which includes a chapter by Burgess and Holmstrom

on the experiences of child victims and their families in the

legal system. Rather than examine these findings, the Chief

Justice assumed that "certainly the impact on children must be

greater" 111Qte ILIA 1982, p. 2626, footnote 7). Although, as

already noted, such a hypothesis is plausible, it does rot

stand on intuition alone. Indeed, particularly for young

children, there is al:o reason to believe that children's

responses might be less severe on average than are adults. The

typical ease of sexual abuse is nonviolent (Finkelhor, 1979).

Provided that parents and others do not overreact and that they

are supportive of the child during the legal process, it may

well be that the experience will :arry little trauma (see also

nerliner L Barbieri, 1984).

Second, the "empirical" evidence on which the Chief
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Justice tuned to support the state's assertion that the

closure statute increased reporting of sex offenses against

children was nothing more than his intuition: the reality of

human experience" tGlobe III, 1982, p. 2626). It is noteworthy

that the state admitted in oral argument before the Supreme

Court that no evidence existed to support its claim iGlota

argument, 1982). Despite the lack of data, Chief Justice

Burger drew a number of unequivocal psychological conclusions,

as he has in r-veral other cases involving ramortexl severe

harm to minors (e.g., H. y, =nom, 1981: mum m&

1979: see Melton, 1983b, in press-a, in press-b, for

commentary). in short, it is likely that the citation of

sucial-science authorities was in support of assumptions

already made. Put in such a light, the uncritical citation of

the extralegal authorities is unsurprising. Chief Justice

Burger prdl,ably began his analysis with an a priori concept of

minors as extremely vulnerable (and, therefore, properly

subject to adult authority), a view he has expressed in a

number of contexts (Melton, 1983a, in press -a).

Third, the use of empirical evidence which the Chief

Justice recommended in Cli212Q was fundamentally conservative in

that it was intended for the purpose of 111121212Ltilla the

rationality of state action. Particularly when coupled with

the lack of critical anz-dysis of this evidence, such use of

empirical evidence is reminiscent of the first "Brandeis

briefs" (appellat briefs citing extra-legal authority), which

were ir::ed to establish the eXiiitgUes not the validity, of

f;oial facts which might have served as the bases for

lvoiHative action (Posen, 1972). That is, the argument was

based on the existence of social-science authority which might

have been used by the legislature to provide a rational basis

fr poliy, even if the .isumptions did not withstand careful

Consequently, there was no real need for analysis of

the evidence by Chief Justice Burger and Justice Rehnquist,
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Jbecause the real analysis in their view concerned the

legitimacy of the state's purposes, not the validity of the

assumptions underlying these purposes.

Although the use of the social sciences by chief Justice

Burger appears half-hearted at best, the majority in G1121211

seems little more enthusiastic. On its face, Jutice Brennan's

analysis starts from a premise that state infringements on

constitutional rights must be justified by empirical evidence

indicating that the state purpose is indeed compelling and that

the statute narrowly serves this purpose (i.e., that the

purpose could not be served by a more narrowly drawn measure).

In this regard, the majority opinion is straightforward in

setting forth a strong presumption against reforms which

intrude upon constitutionally protected zones. Nonetheless, on

close reading of the opinion, it is difficult to imagine any

social-science evidence which would have supported the

existence of a compelling state interest served by a mandatory

closure statute. Noting that the lupreme Court had precedents

for the premise that open trials produce better testimony,

Justice Brennan argued that a mandatory-closure statute could

be justified only if it could be shown that "closure would

improve the quality of testimony of all minor victims" =Am

ILIA 1982, p. 2622, footnote 26), an impossible task. Rather

than raise a meaningless call for empirical evidence, the

majority would have been clearer if it had simply indicated

that open trials are supported by fundamental va:ues inherent

in American criminal justice and that broad attacks on this

tradition will not be sustained. Moreover, the citation to

earlier opinions in which the positive relationship between

openness and quality of testimony had been assumed also clouds

the issue. Because It is consistent with constitutional

values, this statement of "fact." has taken on pr,cedential

value of its own (cf. Perry & Melton, 1984). Reliance on

precedent' hardly establishes the truth-value of a proposition.
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Again, intellectual honesty demands reliance on the real value

bases of the opinion when in fact the empirical premise is

essentially unrebuttable.

In short, analysis of the debate in G1412R about the merit

of empirical evidence does little to promote faith that the

Supreme Court will make good use of social-science data to

examine assumptions about social fact which underlie Its

opinions. G112122 does suggest the kind of case in which

social-science evidence is likely to carry little probative

weight. Where fundamental legal values are at issue, empirical

arguments are likely to be overcome by a priori assumptions.

Such a conclusion does not abrogate the need for intellectual

honesty as to the real bass of judicial opinions: it does,

however, suggest to social scientists areas where their work is

unlikely to influence judicial decision making. There may be

some instances in which fundamental interests are in conflict

and the courts look to other factors to tip the balance.

However, it is important to note that suh attention to

empirical data is unlikely to occur in Gliga-style cases.

Although the right of the public to access to criminal trials

is fundamental, witnesses' interest in privacy is not

LELaaamEatganiug CsIs. ILL =eau =Et& 1984) . Moreover,

empirical evidence is irrelevant to the question of whether

such an interest merits constitutional protection, at least

within he current framework of the Constitution. Despite the

majority'scall for more data in gla/g& it seems clear that no

data could have been sufficiently compelling to overcome the

pubiic's interest if applied to all cases.

Imlicatima Ism Eosedulal Befsam

Having considered the nature of the GICIte analysis, it is

important to look at its result. Returning to the issue posed

initially in this article, what lesson does Q102g teach with

respect to the possibilities of procedural reform to protect
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child victims in the legal process? The answer is clear:

where the interests of child witnesses as a class conflict with

the constitutional rights of the defendant or the public, the

latter will generally prevail. This principle does not

preclude procedural modifications in apulLig cases where there

is compelling justification, however (cf. ELegaruteLLItiaa

aULICLISZL CQULL 1984). with respect to the access of the

press, for example, the Supreme Court had indicated in Riamand

mapapgui (1980) that the courtroom could be closed if the

trial judge determined "an overriding interest articulated in

findings" (p. 581). The Court did not specify the nature of

the findings required, however. This ambiguity was clarified

somewhat in Qliga& With respect to child victims, the Court

indicated that "the factors to be weighed are the minor

victim's age, psychological maturity, and understanding, the

nature of the crime, the desires of the victim, and the

interests of parents and relatives" Lama ILL, 1982, p. 2621).

The Court gave no further guidance as to the calculus to be

employed in deciding whether to curtail press access in

particular cases.

Presumably the Clign factors also would apply in other

instances in which an individual child victim/witness of a

crime other than a sexual offense seeks closure of the

courtroom. If there were reasons to expect particularly

profound trauma and embarrassment, closure might be justified,

at least in the case of children, regardless of the crime.

However, it is important to note that the existing statutory

provisions in some states for procedural aberrations (e.g.,

videotaped depositions) all apply exclusively to victims of sex

crimes. Also, the broader the class to which such procedures

are applied, the stronger the justification must be.

For the longer term, the G1gkg holding suggests some

directions for research relevant to protection of chili.,

victims. First, consistent with the case-by-case inquiry which
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GIOLQ permits, researchers might try to identify the individual

and situational factors determinative of, or at least

correlated with, psychological harm of open testimony. As an

initial step, regression studies of the factors accounting for

the reactions of child victims to the legal process at both

debriefing and long-term follow-up points might provide

information relevant to the decision about which cases merit

some procedural aberration. Such data might also suggest

situations of child victimization that particularly demand

preventive intervention.

Second, Glig22 indicates that broad procedural reforms to

protect child witnesses are unlikely to pass constitutional

scrutiny. Consequently, researchers might better spend their

energy studying ways in which the present system might be made

more responsive. At a minimum, research is needed to identify

children's perceptions of the nature of the criminal process,

the roles of the attorneys, and so forth. Such data are

lacking even for "normal" children without any special contact

with the legal system (Crisso & Lovinguth, 1982). In the

present context, systematic understanding of children's

experience would seem to be a prerequisite to preparing

children of various ages and backgrounds for the legal process.

Attention needs to be given to children's understanding of the

range of steps in investigation and pTocecution of alleged

offenders against children, not just the trial phase.

Irdeed, reports of child sexual abuse rarely reach a

criminal trial. Rogers (1980) tracked 261 cases over a

two-year period in the District of Columbia in which the police

had been called on a complaint of sexual abuse of a child.

Eighty-five percent (223) of the cases were referred for

prosecution. Warrants or custody orders were denied by the

proseculor in one-third (32 adult and 41 juvenile) of these

cases, most commonly because of a lack of corroborating

evidence. Of the canes which ultimately went to court during
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the period of the study, 28% (2 adult and 22 juvenile) were

dismissed, and a guilty plea was obtained in 62% (21 adult and

32 juvenile) of cases. Thus, only eight cases actually went to

trial, and five of these cases were in closed juvenile

delinquency proceedings. Although the data from a single

jurisdiction may be unrepresentative, there is reason to

believe that the national probability of sexual abuse cases

reaching a criminal trial is even lower. Plea bargaining is

ubiquitous in most jurisdictions (Department of Justice, 1983).

Moreover, authorities may choose to file civil child abuse

complaints instead of criminal charges, unlike the apparent

prattle': in the District of Columbia.

Roth the vacuum in relevant data (but see Burgess &

Holmtrom, 1978; DeFrancis, 1969) and the infrequency of open

testinony by child victims suggest finally that attempts at

substantial procedural reform are premature. As indicated

above, even basic descriptive information on children's

responses to attorneys--and vie-- versa--are lacking. Moreover,

the assumption that open, confrontational testimony is

traumatic for child victims of sexual offenses has yet to be

validated. At least for some child victims, the experience may

le cathartic (Berliner & Barbieri, 1984r Pynoos & Eth, 1984;

Rogers, 1q80); it provides an opportunity for taking control of

the situation (cf. Melton & Lind, 1982) and achieving

vindication, Particularly in view of the constitutional values

at stake, would-be reformers have an obligation to go beyond

conventional wisdom and to show that reforms are bath needed

and likely t( he beneficial.

The reasoning of the Suprme Court in QleLe would have

been rore elegant had it limited its analysis to the breadth of

the public' :: constitutional right of access to minimal trials.

Once that tght was found applicable, the evidence needed to

estahliril a comrelling state interest in closing trials

involving child vi?tim-witnr!s:xs was much weightier than the
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scant psychological research literature currently available on

the topic. That is not to say that psychologists have no role

in facilitating the protection of child witnesses. Rather, the

task should be viewed as one of illQrSULltal research and

reform, rather than broad attack upon constitutionally

protected interests.

The most effective strategy would be to identify special

vulnerabilities of child witnesses having particular

psychological or demographic characteristics and then to test

specific interventions or procedural changes to reduce trauma

or foster adaptation in those groups. The problem is an

one in the strictest sense (cf. Bronfenbrenner,

1914). It involves the interaction of the developing child's

psychological characteristics with various legal procedures and

other aspects of the situation (e.g., perceived parental

attitudes). For some children, it may be that minor

interventions (e.g., acquainting the child with the physical

layout of the courtroom; a friendly word from the judge) will

have significant effect on both the quality of the child's

testimony and the level of stress experienced by the child.

without attention to such specific relationships between

psychosocial variables and legal procedures, global assertions

of the harm of the latter are unlikely to provide information

probative for legal decision making or useful for clinical

prnvention.
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Footnotes

Chief Justice Burger may have overstated the limits of

privacy in delinquency proceedings. In states in which the

juvenile respondent has at least a conditional right to a

public trial, or the public has at least a conditional right of

access, open delinquency proceedings may still be possible

(ALA /fJA, 1980, SS 6.1-6.13; &La& v. state, 1971; Elate Su

Lei& 41.Q5(20411 r1,1121.1AlhiDu 44..4 1900). Where privacy of

delinquents has conflicted with the constitutional rights of

the press or of criminal defendants in criminal trials, the

privacy Interest has been outweighed iDAMill Y, lildlitiaL 1974;

Oklabgma 2utiliablna cg& Y& Qiatact Lout& 1977; smith y& DailY

Mail POILthinu 1979).

2 Tn that regard, care must be taken to ensure that the

reforms are not themselves stress-inducing. For example, the

federal Victin and Witness Protection Act (1982) and similar

victim-protection legislation in some states require the

preparation of a victim impact asstssment as part of the

pre-sentence investigation. The requiree scope of the

assessment -- psychological, medical, social, economic -- is

such that victims might ultimately be placed under greater

scrutiny than offenders, even though the purpose of the

assessment is to consider factors relevant to restitution and

ri!'rthutiOr for thr virt
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Senator Specter, and other members of the Juvenile Justice
Subcommittee, I want to thank you for the opportunity to testify
before you on the issue of children's testimony in child sexual
abuse and molestation cases. I am Joyce Thomas, Director of the
Division of Child Protection of Children's Hospital National
Medical Center, located here in Washington, D.C. Accompanying me
today are Dr. Carl Rogers, Associate Director of the Division and
David Lloyd, Division Legal Counsel. Children's is a private,
non-profit pediatric hospital and we serve as the hospital's
primary program addressing the health, mental health, and social
services needs of abused, neglected, and sexually-victimized
children.

Since 197(1, when we first began providing specialized services to
sexually-victimized children and their families we have provided
services to over 1200 children from the metropolitan area who have
presented with a suspicion of sexual victimization. We have
provided consultation on more than 1000 additional cases. The
children we have seen range in age from 3 months to 10 years,
one-fourth of our victims have been boys. Only about 1/4 of our
cases involve a parent or parental figure as the alleged offender

however, as in other settings, the vast majority of offenders
are found to be individuals well-known to the child and his or her
ismily, including extended family members, babysitters, neighbors,
and so forth.

In addition to our direct work with children and their families,
the Division strives to improve our collective abilities to both
prevent sexual victimization of children and effectively intervene
when so h abuse occurs. rn these ends the Division has
implemented a variety of programs, including* a
prevetion-oriented educational program for elementary school
children; an outpatient treatment program for Juveniles who
se:wally abuse children; three national conferences on child
%exual victimization (including the Third National Conference held
April 26-20 of this year); over 250 training workshops and

(1771

181



178

confer.ecee for prolveeionals from virtually ',titre discipline; and
cloee cooperative aereemente and rotations with element.; of the
law erdertement, Jestice and public child protective services
sgeteme. In OGI the sexual abuse intervention and treatment
preerem (then Known elf; the Child Sexual Abuse Victim Aseietance
Prlleet, wee de.. orbited an Eeemplerg Prnject by the National
Institutes of Jwolecse Department of Juetice.

Since our pregram began, we have had eetelAsive involvement with
both civil and criminol court proeecution of child sexual abute
L41.13 within the D.e. Superior Court . WA are acutely aware of the
impact thet butt, onveetigatory and Judicial procedures can have on
the emotional and psycholugical well-being of these children and
their fawlics. These Groceries often lace tremendous burden
on thu child victim. Issues relating to the child's credibility
and Competenco at a witness become paramount when judicial action,
partecutarlg uriminat prosecution, is contemplated. All too
often, tholdren are pece.ved as either locking credibility in
their teetomong or not meettne inimat standard's of competency to
testify --- the result is that ir ray cases no legal action
eneuee. In the remainder of our testimony we would like to
Address, the following 165144:M4 credltillitY and competency of child
witneeeee, impart of the court proceedOne on child victims, and,
epecific conferne ,n the Dintrict of Columbia.

CREDI15ILII1 AND I;OMPLVENCY OF CHILDREN ALLEGING SEXUAL ABUSE

Although :omploinant credibilite and competence of the child to
teetifq are eeperate ileuee, (f have chosen to treat them .jointly
here eceu.. in our experience, the probleme are similar. While
both creellbolitg and eompeteneg are legitimate area' of judiciaL
origulry, in our experience it i% during the process of screening
for prosecetorial merit that molt cases are rejected on these
erounds.

In our experience, verg few children (2.7X) fabricate allgations
of sexual ebuee or' moteetation; i.e., their complaint% are
credible. lho..e few instances we have enceuntered where the
eeracite of the chold'e complaint wee questionbce have peen in
eituetiore. either involving a custodial dispute where the child hen
been prompted to meke an alleation or sotuations involving an
oeiolscet who her. invented a story to excuee some other area of
mi ibehavonr, More ceemontg, it is either due to the biezarre
nature of the child's allegation, or a lack understanding of
normal developmental processee, that proeecutors deem the child's
complaint not credible. First, a child's elleeetion mal.{ be
reflected er deemed uetionable merelg becauee either the
curt mtence or the child's behevir are perceived
unbelievable. It is eneratlo the perception however, rather than
the ellegotIon, which is in Error. Menu cases cowrie to our
attention and the attentIon of othre incorporate trulg barre
and strang eiemente. For example, in one case the offender
plaged ame with the children of pretendone to bake them on the
ov,h (kw would put them in the mew before eneeeine
them on erel eee. le .1. ',cat, one cannot 441."f9i heed
upon r notion of p L.cut. i h I iti4 without ehtetv_ I ve tent

.lealtee with chef- Lwios.

It le eiro (odor tunatt that ell too often the child's credibility
1 , eeeetieried ee to a rapture to adequately underetand the

tiunt within the conle:t ol normel devetomehtel
ep.e tatieeo: the ohrld'e Imeetaint, and partoeularle the child's

i'VlOr ere ..en as Unilke4 to he true beceuse the individual
crrdibilitu 14 apploone adult etandards and adult

re-soning to the situetion. A child's cognitive, emotional, end
10C14. 4COVith 01.(.1Aq in eequentlal phase of incraeonelg complee
eiopent. irlitencepluot, teiecrete, and intuitive thinking in
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young children gradually develops toward comprehension of abstract
concepts. Time and ,.pace begin OA personalized notions and only
radually are identified as logical and ordered concepts. The
young child's behavior is spontaneous, outgoing, and occasionally
eeplosive with few Internet controls. As the child grus he/she
develops internal controls and establishes a sense of identity and
independence.

In our work we have found it to be of critical Importance to
attempt to understand the rhild's allegation eithin the context of
his/or her developmental level. In generel, we attempt to assess
credibility be looking at the following factarsi

I est, does the child describe acts or experiences to which he/she
would not have been normally exposed? For example, a
six year old is rat normall 1 familiar with adult
erection or ejaculation. Terminology is often a clue as
well, with must children needine to describe the
experience in terms consistent with their current
cognitive understanding for example, many children
describe ejaculation in terms of "wetting on me" or
of.. el will have difficulty differentioting between
vaginal and anal openin s. While the description of
circumstancee, means of inducing compliance, etc., which
are consistent with typical cases can help affirm
credibility, the obverse is not necessarily true.

5t1c.ond, It 1,4 important to understand the disclosure process.
Flow, and under what circumstances did the child tell
someone? Often the mcde of disclosure serves to enhance
the child's credibility for example the child who
initially confides in a ptamate who later discloses.
Are there any identifiable motives for lying? If so,
what area they?

fhird, how consistent are the basic elements of the child's
account? What pressures exist for the child to change
his/her allegation? Are inconsittencive legitimatele
attributahl to the child's developmental status or to
eetrnal pressures to recant, or do they reflect
untruth llneee?

if corroborative information or findings exist, are they
coneietnt with the child's report? While consistency
meg enhence comfort regeding the child's credibility,
it 14 important to recogni;e1 that failure to fied
corroboretion need riot mean that the eeeential elements
of the child's report are false. Children, particularly
yorj children, can have a great deal of difficulty
unoretandine and accurately reporting the details of
sexeal contacts with adults, leading to confusion over
such ieluee as whether penetration or ejaculation
occurred.

the- related to the issue of credibilit is the issue of
«Imp-ncq to teltife. Again, in our experience, the pimer)
impact of this concern Is in the screening of case, in terms of
prosecutorial merit rather than as an teue in an actual court
proceedi. The leue of competeece works primarily to the
detriment o tie very young complainant. While over AO% of C411
involvihe e child complement over the egt of five year's;
ultimAL11) r..-.ult in A i.onviition, this fteure is only 6% for
cosi.% involving children under the ego of six year. Most of
theee ;ages are ecrlened out at either the investigatory etaee or
et the pieeetng stage due t concerns regarding the child's
competence to testify. I ie eeietin preeumption places the burden
of ircwf of coo.petcn(9 to testify in cos;s., involving gothic)
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chil.t.en on ths prosecution, with the primary effect of making
prosecutors more reluctant to bring these tames to trial. The
additional general cautonarg instruction to trial juries
rgerdong the relian:r to be placed on testimony of children
further "stacks the deck" against the young complainant.

In our experience, we find that most children over the age of
three are competent to testify, by competency we mean the
ability to distinguish truth from falsehood, to understood the
meaning of the oath, and to be able to comprehend and give
intelligent answers to questions posed, provided that such
questions are phrased in aceordance with the child's general level
of cognitive and social development. It is primarily in this
latter area that concerns regard,ng the child's competency to
testify emerge. These concerns are for the most part based upon
our insistence that children be judged essentially according to
adult standards of comprehension, rather than upon any genuine
der:cit in th, child's abilities. In particular, given the
concrete nature of pre-operational cognitive processes in young
children, they have difficulty understanding questions based on
abstractions rather than actual behavior or events (e.g., "Did you
conent" versus, "Did you tell him to stop?"). Prosecutors, due
more to lack oi knowledge of normal child development and behavior
thin ti, any conscious bias, often erroneously presume the child to
be incomptitent m erely because the child has not yet attained the

of coynitive development which supports abstract reasoning.

We believe th,0 far too M10.14 cases of child sexual abuse and
molestation are not prir.ecoted due to concerns regarding the
child's credibility and/or competency. To address this problem we
would propose the rollowin recommendatioost

1) State and local jurisdictions should be encouraged to
establish vertical prosecution for all child seNual
abuse and molestation cases. Such vertical prosecution
would allow a greater level of contact with the child
victim over time to assess credibility and competency;
it would also reduce the likelihood of cases being
dropped due to differential assessment of ceedibility
and competncg by different prosecutors at different
ste.ls of the prosecutorial process.

2 Where feasible, state and local jurisdictions should be
encouraged to develop special prosecutorial units to
handle all child sexual abuse and molestation cases.
Such units would benefit from on-going experience In the
assessment of credibility and competency of child
complainants., leading to improved decision-making in
these areas. It rs unreanonable to expect the
prosecutor who has handled only one or two such cases to
be highly skilled in such assessments.

2;) Prosecutors should utilize the services of child mental
health professionals in assessing the credibility and
competency of child complainants. Idcallw, sch
prosinnals would function as an integral part of the
prosecutorial team, net as individuals or by the
court, to psychiatrically evaluate the complainant.

) formal training shoule be made available to prosecutors
which stresses normal child dev.11opmental 14%1.1% as they
relit' to both competency and ciedibility of child
.omplaulants.

Ihe general cautionary instruction to juries regarding
cnild witnesses should be abolished. This inetruction
is ,weiudicial to the child complainant and serves to
inhibit prosecution of child sexual abuse cases.
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6) The presumption of incompetency of young complainants
should be eliminated due to its chilling effect on
prosecutorial decision-oking.

1) ExPerimental approaches, consistent with constitutional
restraints, which enhance the child complainant's
ability to provide competent testimony, should be
encouraged. For example, the use of experts trained in
child development to actually rephrase and present
prosecution and (Wens* attorney questions to the child
witness miyht prove beneficial. Precedents established
in other areas where communication presents difficulty
(e.g., the use of sign language and foreign language
interpreters) would suggest that no insurmountable legal
barriers to ouch approaches exist.

THE IMPACT Of COURT PkOCEEDINDS ON CHILD VICTIMS

Both investigatory and judicial proceedings that a child victim
aunt participate in can have detrimental impact on the child's
mental health and emotional well-being. In fact, they may create
a "second victimization" of the child. In the following sections
we would like to briefly address some of the common practices and
procedures which heighten this detrimental effect.

First, the delay inherent in the stages of due process routinely
meons that the child cannot put the event out of mind and proceed
with normal developmental issues. Instead the child IS forced to
remember, in excruciating detail, the events surrounding his or
her sexual victimization as repeated interview and practice
sessions with the prosecutor continue. While some delays are
inherent to duce process, others are avoidable. Defense requests
for continuances ere routinely granted with no thought of the
child victim's interests in a speedy trial. Currently, in the
District of Columbia it takes one year for cos* to proceed to
trial --- for a six year old this represents waiting onesixth of
hit or he life. We have had one case where the trial occurred
over two we's after the initial report.

Second, the uncoordinated approach of the legal system to
investigation and preparttion exacerbates the child's problem
with delays. Typically the child must disclose initially to a
parent, physician, police officer or detective -- later the game
information may be required from the child by the prosecutor, a
grand jury, and at trial. In our experience it is not uncommon
for a child to have to repeat the initial account of his/her
victimization at least four or five times excluding actual trial
proceedings. The apparent necessity of all parties to receive
their Informatien "first hand" both increases stress for the child
and leads to additional delays.

A third problem has to do with pretrial appearances on the part of
the child victim. Some states require all crime victims to
testify at a preliminary hearing instead of using hearsay
testimony from the investigating officer. Met states require the
child victim to testify before the grand Jury; the Criminal
Juetice Somtion of the American Bar Association has proposed the
virtual elimination of hearsay testimony before grand juries. Yet
it is extremely stressful for a child to tell embarrassing and
painful details to two dozen adult stringers, especillq when the
child's parent% or other trusted individuals are not permitted to
accompong the. child.

Another problem has to do with the lack of consideration that the
Haiti) nch,lituts of ts9at proceedingn shown to children. Typically
the child is commanded by subpeona to appear at court at 0108.m.
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and muet sit and wait in a prosecutor's office or barren waiting
room until the testimony starts --- which wry not be until
afterneon. That is the time that most goung children are fatigued
and take naps or get recess breaks for physical activity.
Instead, the child victim must than marshall all of his or her
mental feculties to concentrate on the questions of the
proeeeutor, defense attorney, and judge.

The constitutionally required confrontation with the defendant
and crone-examination can be extremely stressful to child victims.
These children have been threatened with harm if they tell anyone.
The offender may have been deliberately visible to them during the
pretrial release period and frequently sends threatenine looks or
makes threatening getsures while seated at the defense table. We
have had a father interrupt his daughter's testimony to call her
profane names --- we have also had a defense attorney insinuate
that a 15 year old wanted to be upped becauee she was wearing a
red drew and smiled at the defendant, and that a 12 gear old
incest victim was promiscuous..

fhe dominant feature of criminal prosecutions is a lack of respect
fur the victim's privacy. We have had defense lawyers attempt to
sunpeona the childec couneeling records. Even if the defendant
pleads emeltg, the prosecutor usually recitee a flummery of the
potential testimony to all the spectators in the courtroom instead
of euhmitting it in writing or stating it at the bench. One can
rmr+cii. hick of privace that would result from the proposed
televised proceedings of trials involving child sexual abuse
victims.

lientencing practices also often have detrimental impacts on child
victims. Most luresdictions, including D.C., do not routinely
prepare victim impact statements as part of the sentencing
proceeding, so the child's concerns for justice are overlooked.
We have had cases where the child victim adamantly wanted the
defendant imprisoned, but the prosecutor had already
plea.bareeined away the right to sou anything at sentencing. We
have also had few cases where the child wanted the offender to
receive treatmet due to a family relationship but the prosecutor
ereued for incarceration. These practices do little to convince
the child that luetice has resulted.

fn lirjht of the above, we would propose the following:

1) Feoeecutions involving child victims should he given
pioite in echeduling and limits should he placed upon
the numhe and length of continuences granted.

Approaehe; relging upon videotaping ie. audiotaping of
children'e recounting of incidents should he used more
frequently to reduce the frequency with which children
must repeat the details of their victimisation.

1, In rand lure proceedings an exception to the preference
'fir direct testimony should he granted, or children
should he allowed to he accompanied by trusted adults to
the proceeding. In pretrial hearings, hearsay evidence:
ehould he admissible in order to exempt the child freed
t..telgine in these proceedings.

4) A teetimunill privilege ehould be granted to eeeual
eeseult coure.elors and other (mental health care
providers treating child victiml, and t,1.4v149d
proce,Aings: Oiould he hvnned.
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PROBLEM; atccro; 10 MC DISARM vi COLUOBIA

In cloing, we would like to briefly address some particular
problwms in the District --- these problem% may or may not affect
other ourosdoctions. Forst, we still have the requirement in the
District that the child's testimony be corroborated. The City
Council has oust Introduced legislation to revoke this requirement
imposed by th9 D.C. court of Appeals. The corroboration
requirement is the reason for GSX of the prosecutors' refusals to
procend in both criminal and delinquency 4:W0;1S.

Second, there is confusion in the District as to whether the
federal "Victim and Witnnits Protection Act of l9H2" applies to
proceedings in D.C. Superior Court. An particular, that Act's,
"Federal Duidelines for Fair Treatment of Crime Victims and
Witnesses on the Criminal Justice System" have not yet been fully
implemented. Wn would recommend that the confusion about the
applicability c.1 the Act he ended through either D.C. City Council
or Congress,onal legislation.

ionclu.ion we would tike to on again thank, members of the
aublommoten for aftordirp, us this opportunity to testify on this
importcat timely issue. We recognize that much more could,
and shauld be said regarding the specific impacts of court and
invet'oc:afory proceedingt on child victims and their families.
Ingo 'imitattons have however precluded a more thorough
ltscussion. Jot.Ling together we can all ultimately ensure that
children who are victims of sexual crimes receive compassionate
and h.olsom? treat'ent within the law enforcement and judicial
istems, and perhwps more importantly that they are afforded equal
protectotoi and PC7(ellb to Justice wader the laws of our nation.
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CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE
AND THE COURTS:

PRELIMINARY FINDINGS

Carl M. Rogers. PhD

Sexual victimization of children, including incest, rape, and other
forms of sexual molestation, constitutes a social problem of major
proportions in the United States. Estimates regarding the incidence
of such sexual victimization vary greatly depending upon the study
setting, the definitional criteria, and the methodology used for col-
lecting such information. Most studies however would suggest that
perhaps 200,000 to 400,000 children are sexually victimized every
year in the United States (American Humane Association, 196k;
Chancles, 1967; Gagnon, 1965). Some retrospective studies would
suggest that the incidence is higher still with one of every five girls
and one of every ten boys (Finkelhor, 1979) or one of every three
children (Landis, 1956) being sexually victimized at least once dur-
ing their childhood.

Sexual victimization of children constitutes a major social prob-
lem not only due to its high frequency of occurrence but also due to
its overall impact on the child victim and her or his family. Studies
suggest that sexual victimization as a child may be related to later
difficulties in psychosocial adjustment including drug abuse (Ben-
ward & Densen-Gerber, 1976), juvenile delinquency (Halleck,
1962), juvenile prostitution (James & Meyerding, 1977), adult clini-
cal depression (Summit & Kryso, 1978), arid similar difficulties. In
addition, numerous reports attest to the immediate deleterious psy-
cho-social effects of such victimization on children (e.g., Forward &
Thick, 1978; Bach & Anderson, Note 1; Burgess & Holstrom. 1978:
Greenberg, 1979; Peters, 1976; etc.).

In addition to the trauma of victimization itself, mental health
professionals have become incrc. 4.singly concerned about the r Oen
tial for "secondary victimization" of these children as the result of
societal intervention efforts. Particular concerti has been focused

4) 1982 by The Haworth Press. Inc. All rights res.rved. 145
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146 SOCIAL WORK AND CHILD SEXUAL ABUSE

upon the possible negative impact of criminal justice procedures
which have been frequently seen as both increasing the degree of
emotional distress experienced by the child victim and decreasing
the likelihood 01 either offender conviction or other successful reso-
lution of the problem (cf., Burgess & Ilolstrom, 1978; Davidson &
Bulk ley, 1980; Kirkwood & Mihaila, 1979; Stevens & Berliner,
1980). Although original concerns focused primarily on police and
prosecutorial sensitivity in handling of these cases, recent attention
has focused upon deficiencies or problems inherent in the adversary
nature and constitutional structure of the American criminal justice
process, particularly the rights to open confrontation and cross ex-
amination of witnesses or complianants in a public hearing (e.g.,
Davidson and Bulk ley, 1980; Libai, 1969). The perceived degree of
trauma visited upon the child victim by the court system and consti-
tutional harriers to substantial change of this system have led some
legal experts to conclude that, at least in intrafamily cases, court
action should he only taken when it can be agreed that the child will
emerge from the process better than she entered it and when it is
the least detrimental alternative available (Davidson & Bulk ley,
1980).

Such a standard for proceeding with court action seems ill-
advised. First, it is difficult, if not impossible to predict with any
reasonable certainty the impact of the court process on the child
victim. Too many factors are beyond the control of the prosecution
and unknowable until court action has actually commenced, such as
behavior of the defendant during the proceedings, number of de-
fense-requested continuances which will be granted, the style of
cross-examination, and so forth. Second, this approach requires
consensus between prosecutor, social worker, and other involved
professionalssuch consensus is difficult to achieve on such a con-
jectural issue. Third. the standard would suggest that court action
would not proceed even when court action would neither help nor
hurt the child. Finally, and perhaps most importantly, the approach
recommended by Davidson and Bulk ley allows little consideration
to the wishes of the victim regarding whether to proceed with court
action.

Examination of court processing of child sexual abuse cases in the
District of Columbia, however, would suggest that while limitations
and procedural harriers do exist, the reaiitiesof criminal justice hand-
ling of these cases are not nearly as bleak or detrimental as often
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portrayed (Conic & Berliner, in press). Cases handled by the Spe-
cial Unit of the Child Protection Center (CPC-SU) of Children's
Hospital National Medical Center (Washington, D. C.) since early
1978 have been followed as they progress within the legal/judicial
system. Preliminary results would indicate that while criminal justice
involvement may ultimately result in exposure of the child victim to
the full impact of an adversary judicial system, such exposure is in
fact rare and not necessarily excessively traumatic in nature. Paren-
thetically, these findings are somewhat depressing in terms of the
relative infrequency with which prosecutorial actions result in of-
fender conviction.

Child victims seen by CPC-SU (based on 1978 and 1979 cases)
range in age from 6 months through 17 and one-half years, with a
mean age of 8 years and 8 months. Twenty-nine percent of these
children are boys. Slightly over 60 percent of these cases involve
what we consider a more serious form of sexual abuse (i.e., vaginal
or anal intercourse; oral sodomy). Forty-seven percent involve mul-
tiple offenses over time. Alleged offenders arc almost invariably
male (97%); forty-one percent are members of the child's immedi-
ate or extended family (23% arc parents or parent surrogates).

Of 261 police cases tracked through the criminal justice system,
223 (85%) were forwarded to prosecutors; the remainder were
either considered unfounded cases (N = 8) or cases with continuing
investigation (N = 25) or cases closed through arrest on a different
charge (N = 5). Ninety-six of the forwarded cases (43%) involved
adult suspects; the remainder were cases with juvenile offenders.

01 the 223 cases forwarded for prosecution, four percent (N = 7
adult and 3 juvenile) were dropped because the family (i.e., par-
ents) refused to press charges; most of these were cases involving
extended family members as the abusers. Thirty-three percent (N =
32 adult and 41 juvenile) exited from the system because the arrest
warrant or custody order (juvenile offenders) applications were de-
nied by prosecutors. An offender was arrested in 63% of the cases
forwarded for prosecution (N = 57 adult and 83 juvenile). In over
fifty percent of those cases where a warrant or custody order appli-
cation was denied the stated reason was lack of corroborative evi-
dence. The second most common reason for prosecutors denying
arrest applications was a lack of consistency in the victim's story
over time (12%).

Twelve percent (N = 3 adult and 14 juvenile) of all cases where
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an arrest was made (N = 140) were "no papered" (i.e., not formally
charged). An additional eleven percent (N = 15 adult) of these
cases were not indicted by the grand jury. At the time of this analy-
sis, three cases were still awaiting a grand jury hearing, and nine-
teen (9 adult a. id 10 juvenile ) were awaiting trial; eighty-five cases
(N = 26 adult and 59 juvenile) had "gone to court."

Twenty-eight percent (N = 2 adult and 22 juvenile) of those cases
going to court were dismissed, usually at the request of prosecution.
Sixty-two percent of all cases going to court resulted in a guilty plea
(N = 21 adult and 32 juvenile, including 5 consent decrees). A total
of eight cases (9%; N = 3 adult and 5 juvenile) actually went to
trial; of these, all but one (an adult offender) resulted in a convic-
tion. Based upon the results presented above, if you are a victim of
sexual abuse whose case has been forwarded for prosecution in the
District of Columbia, the odds are:

two to one that the offender will be arrested
slightly less than one in three that the offender will be con-

victed
less than one in eight that you will have to face a grand jury

less than one in twenty that you will have to testify at trial
less than two in one hundred that you will have to testify in

open (i.e., adult) criminal trial

These findings, although somewhat discouraging regarding likeli-
hood of conviction, are encouraging in other respects. They clearly
suggest that having to face the potential trauma of having to testify
in open court and undergo cross - examination is the rare exception
rather than the rule. Second, the conviction rates themselves, al-
though substantially less than the two-thirds of all felony arrests
resulting in conviction in the District of Columbia in 1978 (Joint
Committee on Judicial Administration in the District of Columbia.
Note 2), are substantially higher than the 22% of am sts leading to
conviction for sexual offenses against children (excludi ig exhibition-
ism) in the District of Columbia from 1971 to 1975 reported by
Williams (Note 3).

In addition to the data presented on processing 9f adult and
juvenile criminal proceedings, data are recorded on forty-four cases
forwarded for family court action under the District of Columbia's
Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect Act (these were primarily
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cases involving parent or caretaker abusers). Of these forty-four
cases, 10 (23%) were not petitioned (i.e., "no papered") by pro-
secutors. Of the thirty-four petitioned cases, six(18%) were dis-
missed. At the time of analyses. five cases were still awaiting court
action. The remaining 23 cases were all resolved through parental
stipulation of the facts rather than an adversuy hearing. Two-thirds
of these cases (i.e., those resolved) resultet. a the placement of the
child in foster care with the remaining one-third remaining in the
home under protective supervision.

Discussion

The findings presented here would suggest that, at least in re-
gard to District of Columbia cases, concerns expressed by others
regarding the impact of adversarial court proceedings on child vie-
*.iins are somewhat misplaced primarily because so few children
actually have to testify in court. Of those that must testify, most
testify in juvenile court without the publicity attendant with an
adult criminal proceeding.

That a relatively large proportion of forwarded complaints are
dropped due to lack of corroboration is not particularly surprising in
that the District of Columbia, through judicial precedent, remains
one of the few jurisdictions in the U.S. which maintains a special

corroboration requirement for minor (i.e., juvenile) complainants in

rape and other sexual victimization cases. It is interesting to note
that while ether federal courts have held that no special corrobora-
tion requirement is necessary with minor complainants (e.g., United

States v. Bear Runner, 1978), the District of Columbia Court of
Appeals (part of the federal court system) has ruled otherwise. Cur-
rently 29 states have abolished the corroboration requirement in all
sexual assault cases, while lour retain it for all child victims; the

remaining states impose corroboration requirements under special

circumstances (Davidson and Bulk ley. 1980). Although Leahy
(1979) has urged the retention of a special corroboration require-

ment in intrafamily cases, in general it appears that the trend of the
last decade is to remove this special condition from child complain-

am cases as it has already been removed from adult complaint (i.e.,

adult rape) cases.
The remaining jurisdictions still requiring special corroboration of

the child victim's complaint highlight the somewhat schizoid view of
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child victims generally held by the legal community. On the one
hand, special procedures or protections for the child victim ir. the
court process are resisted on the grounds that child victims of sexual
offenses do not constitute a special class apart from other victims. On
the other hand, many jurisdictions impose specific procedural bar-
riers to treatment of the child victim as if he or she were an adult. Ia
addition to special corroboration requirements, these barriers in-
clude; the use of lie detectors and psychiatric examinations as means
of assessing complainant credibility in some jurisdictions (Legrand &
Chappell, Note 4); permitting introduction of the defense that the
child victim was of "unchaste" character in at least six states (al-
though prior victim sexual behavior is no longer considered pertinent
for adult victims except to the extent it sheds light on the issue of
consent with a particular defendant; Children's Rights Report, Note
5); and, the almost universal prosecutorial practice of declining com-
plaints initiated by minors unless the minor's parents are also in favor
of prosecution (or the alleged offender is the parent).

Although our experience is that few child victims actually end up
having to testify in court, it is true that for those who do the experi-
ence can be traumaticwe have also found, however, that the court
proceeding can have beneficial outcomes for the child. Children,
like adults, often have strong feelings regarding their victimization
and want the offender to be punished for his wrongdoing. Court
proceedings are the only way that the victim can legally seek retri-
bution against the perpetrator. Older children in particular often
have a strong sense of social responsibility and will choose to pro-
ceed with prosecution eve1i though it may be stressful in the belief
that they are helping to protect other children from being victim-
ized. In many instances, court proceedings also serve to enhance the
child's sense of personal vindication--others are treating the child's
victimization as a serious matter; are tangibly expressing their trust
and faith in the child's story. Bohmer (1974) in a survey of judicial.
°Onions found that while 84% of judges responding felt that it was
traumatic for child rape victims to testify, fully one-half of these
judges also believed that procedural changes could be made to help
reduce this trauma. Specific recommendations included private
hearings, greater reliance on depositions, and clearing the court-
room of all but involved parties. Currently, three states (Arizona,
New Mexico, and Montana) allow videotaping of the child victim's
testimony (including cross-examination) with the defendant and his
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attorney present for later replaying in the court and at least two
other states (Minnesota and Massachusetts) allow exclusion of the
public in child sexual assault cases. Similar procedures, if adopted
elsewhere woull substantially reduce the possibly traumatic impact
of the courtroom proceeding on these children.

Finally, two additional constitutionally acceptable modifications
of the court process could substantially reduce the portential for
traum to child victims participating in the court process. First, it
should he established as routine procedure that either the parents of
child victims. or other supportive persons of the child's choice be
allowed as a matter of course to he present in juvenile court pro-
ceedings when the child must testify. It is somewhat ironic that the
juvenile court in the interest of minimizing the deleterious impact of
its proceedings on the juvenile offender often enhances the stress
placed on the child victim by barring all but witnesses from the
proceeding.

Second, there appear to be no constitutional barriers to greater
reliance upon hearsay evidence rather than actual testimony at
stages prior to trial. In the District of Columbia, hearsay evidence is
routinely allowed in these cases in lieu of testimony at the prelimi-
nary hearing but not in the Grand Jury proceeding. In some juris-
dictions the child victim is routinely expected to testify at all three
proceedings (i.e., preliminary hearing, grand jury, and trial). Ac-
ceptance of hearsay evidence in place of formal testimony for all
stages prior to actual trial would further limit the number of times a
child victim is required to give formal testimony. In addition, given
the propensity for cases to either be dismissed or resolved through
pleas, use of hearsay evidence might totally obviate the need for the
vast majority of child victims to publicly and formally testify.

Well-intentioned yet misguided concerns for the safety and well-
being of child victims of sexual assault have led many to conclude
that initiation of court proceedings in cases of child sexual victimiza-
tion pose too great a risk of psychological trauma for the child
victim. The alternative view, presented here and elsewhere (e.g.,

Berliner, in press) is that these risks have been over - stated,
aikt.: Ili.' in !v event there exist practical and effective procedures
which, if ad ), J, will minimize the likelihood that any child will be
harmed by Kat experience. Our goal should not he to retreat
from involvement with the prosecutorial systems but rather to exert
our efforts and influence to make law enforcement and judicial
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systems responsive to the needs of these children. To do otherwise
is to both deny the legitimate demands of many victimized children
for justice, and to tacitly decriminalize acts of molestation, sodomy,
and rape when perpetrated upon children.
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BETSY
LC AUCOIN
'''6 RLDG.
1220 So 3rd
:oRTLAND, oR ')7204

I would like this to be entered into the hearing record as testimony

for the May 15,1984 hearing on sexual child abuse. I understand an

oversight hearing is in progress.

Betsy, Here is your copy. Could you please foreward the other
copies on to Sen. Edward Keunedy and to Arlen Specter.

I do not have Arlen Spectlr's address.

Thank-you,

viii
INCIDENTS IN TUS CASE OF

HOMOSEXUAL INCEST

1, their mother, discovered my sons were being homosexually

molested by their biological father. They were 3 and 4 years of age.

The incest had apparently occurred intermittently prior to this

discovery.

sexal acts included:

digital anal penetration

oral sodomy performed on them by their father

forcing of one son to perform oral sodomy on hid father -

the force used was a homemade rifle strap wrapped around the child's

nark causing a ahotening of breath, thenthe father used the

rifle to pull the child's head down to the father's penis.

seeking on the boys breast nipples

a gun was held to one chil's head forcing him to perform
oral sodomy on his brother

Before my sons were to eee the psychiatrist their father had a weekend

visitation granted by the court. They later told me that their father,

while taking them camping, had forced them to cross a railroad bridge

over a river. He would not assist when they cried for help- even

2 01
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when the fell. They remember the bridge as being terribly high.

To this day when they talk about it they say it terrified them.

After the trial was over my eons revealed a little more of the

story:

Their father had placed them naked in a large bureau drawer.
The drawer contained some toys in it that poked into the back of
the younger child. The drawer was left open a crack. The older
son could see his father yet one of his guns and do something
with it.

while shopping for a Christamu tree to cut (probably somewhere
in the mountains) one son- the oldest- chose a tree. He held

onto one ^f its branches. His father shot the branch, or the one

ahr.ve it.

WHAT TIR: COURT DID

Irtereasef viriiation privileges slightly for the father

t)rdered me to not leave the western part to the state without giving
tPir father a five day written notice and getting his approval.
since I das an avid backpacker, this meant to tacia, my 'own sons
bcapacking he - the criminal offender, but not convi.lted- had the
rignt rod to say yes or no to recreational activities I normally
shared with my sons. 1 had committed no crime, with the exception
of being totally lived with their fathers behavior.

my lawyer said my story was believed - at least part of it. - so the
urt did rot remove custody and give it to the father. This had

en consieerod.

Thr most friqhtroing aspect of our case of sexual abuse is - had

mean, ether than myself. charg.'d my ex-husband of the crimes I

'!urged him with, I would have gone to the witness stand in his defense.

'-xual Abuse can he /ery difficult to pinpoint since:

There rarely arc witnesses

Unless rape occIrs, theremay be no physical symptoms

Emotional symptoms vary and may be exhibited only around
those closet to th Aild. To a stranger these may
appear to he the way many children behave. As parents
wr .an detect a champe zn nehavior typical to each particular

child.

Many children are aftAid to tell for long periods of time
bncluse they feel they cooperated and were therefore bad.

The abuser in cases of incest does not always fit the norm.

de may have llways had steady employment

He may have always maintained the same job

tie may be very well liked socially
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THE JUVENILE VICTIM

have laws to protect juvenile
delinquents, but no laws to protect juven

:o.tenile victims - at least juvenile victims of sexual abuse.

hildren have to tell their story several times. Sometimes the

;.eetioneers are not sympathetic - even cruel. Social workers

..ii pathetic to the father may drill the child unmercifully ,or, accuse
him of lying

: oft for video tapes of the child's story Questions may be entered

rem lawyes, judges, social workers, sex offender specialists, etc.

r:reate a standard set of questions that need to be answered in a

utt of law t) have a -unviction.
These questions need not be asked

.rEatim, nor in order. They should be answered at some point during

tte course It the teoo.

.:tnze inforration sometimes Qomes in segments from the child additional

taps should be allowed as evidence and added to the first tape.

';ueations should be asked by a friendly, intelligent, sensitive person
t:r whom this is their job. This person should be educated on child

abuse and should be aware that each child emotionally handles

'Kat abuse in his own %,ay.

WHEN V1l7TTION SHOULD BE REMOVED

',NY FORM OF SRXUAL ABUSE - if the mother so desires. Frequently

the whole story won't be told until after the trial is over. I only

was told abcy all the inst.mees where guns were used the day before
'he trial. In fact, sum, instances weren't told to me until after the

trial.

THREATS WITHKNIVES OR GUNS uR ANY OTHER WEAPON- even if these be

toward the mother or toward the child. We shouldn't have to live

-.r lives in f.'ar for one prsoqs privileges to see (and abuse) his
-hildrer

ANT TIME A CHILD RSOUESTS NOT T9 GO VISIT HIS PARENT BECAUSE OF THINGS

THE OTHER PARliNT Do ES oN VITTATION.

HANITUAI CRIMINAL ACTIVITY

'.E OF HEROINE

VTolENCE TOWARD THE MOTHER

IASI COPY AVAILABLE
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FAIR SENTENCES

In any of the situaltions listed on the page entitled"when visitation

should be removed" the mother should be given complete control over

vimitation. In name cases mhe alone can determine if it is better

for the child to visit occansionally, and when those times are.

Remember, the mother did not commit a crime - the father did.

' .pervised visitations can be very difficult. Satisfactory people

ran not always be found. His family frequently believes the offenders

rztory. dobody wants to agree to give up week-ends for fifteen years

.e supervise a convicted child molester with his children.

The offender should have to undergo extensive therapy supervised

t a Isecialist on sexual offenders. This should be for as many

yearses he may need this therapy - minimum of 2 pers.

The therapist should determine whether he should be committed to a

detention center in the evenings after work, be in a center for

sexual offenderu 24 hours a day, or if just coming in for therapy

sessions is safe for society.

Sex offenders ar very good mind players - it can be very difficult

3s a parent to combat these mind games. I repeat, The victim along

with the wishes of the non-offending parent should be given control

-ver visitation with the option to remove that visitation when necessary.

It is difficult at times to raise children under the best of circumstances.

Ivaling with emotional diffimaties from sexual abuse compounds the job

-.f raising children beyond what should be expected of a single parent.

After sexual abuse has been discovered as occuring on visitation*

gives us the right to go on with our lives. Give us the right to do

this without the constant upheaval an offender can create. Let us do

this legally. There may not be so many "missing children".

To flJe and to hide is a terrible thing to live with. But , it is

not es terrible as to live with a child emotionally devasted for

the rest of his life possibly because visitation continued after the

child reported his father was sexually abusing him.

**.
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